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Statement of compliance
Hon C Christian Porter MLA

Minister for Corrective Services

In accordance with the Financial Management Act 
2006, I hereby submit for your information and 
presentation to the Parliament of Western Australia, 
the Annual Report for the Department of Corrective 
Services for the financial year ending 30 June 2010.

This report has been prepared in accordance with 
the provisions of the Financial Management Act 
2006.

Ian Johnson
Commissioner
Department of Corrective Services

12  September 2010

This report was produced in-house by the 

Department of Corrective Services
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ABOUT US

The Department of Corrective Services (DCS) began operating in February 2006 after separating 
from the then Department of Justice. DCS is the fourth largest Government department in 
Western Australia, employing more than 4,000 staff under more than 20 different industrial 
awards. These staff members include prison officers, probation and parole officers, teachers, 
nurses, doctors, psychologists and administrative staff.

Staff manage and supervise offenders in the State’s 14 prisons, six work 
camps and two juvenile detention centres as well as people on probation, 
parole and other community orders throughout the State. Our facilities 
are spread throughout Western Australia, from Wyndham in the north to 
Albany in the south.

We are committed to making a positive difference in the lives of offenders, 
their families and the community and do this by providing a range of 
services including:

�� employment
�� a structured day
�� education and vocational training
�� health care
�� offence-specific programs
�� supervision and reporting
�� counselling
�� re-settlement services
�� life skills
�� cognitive skills. 

Our Mission
Contribute to a safer Western Australian community
Our key focus is to contribute to community safety by upholding the 
integrity of custodial and non-custodial sentences and by positively 
influencing offender behaviour to reduce re-offending.

The outcome we aspire to achieve is:

A safe, secure and decent corrective services which contributes to 
community safety and reduces offenders’ involvement in the justice 
system. 

This objective is behind all the work we do. It also aligns with our business 
outcomes which are:

�� contributing to community safety
�� reducing re-offending
�� contributing to community wellbeing through our service activities
�� fulfilling our obligations as a government agency through 

operational compliance and enhanced capability.
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Our Values
Teamwork

�� Working positively together with unity of purpose.
�� Supporting, trusting and respecting each other.
�� Recognising positive outcomes require a collaborative approach.

Achievement
�� Doing what we say we are going to do.
�� Recognising and celebrating our achievements.
�� Delivering innovative and effective services.

Professionalism
�� We have a clear understanding of, and focus on, our business 

outcomes.
�� We are honest, open and accountable.
�� We value our integrity.
�� We make socially-responsible decisions.

People
�� Recognising the importance of staff and their wellbeing.
�� Recognising and valuing differences.
�� Treating all people with understanding and empathy.
�� Providing a workplace that is free from bullying, harassment, 

discrimination and a blame culture.

Partnerships
�� Across departmental divisions.
�� With the community.
�� With State and Federal agencies.
�� With non-government organisations.

ABOUT US
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The Western Australian Department of Corrective Services provides round-the-clock critical 
services, 365 days a year, in what is the single biggest correctional jurisdiction in the world, 
covering 2.5 million square kilometres. With the skills of more than 4,000 full-time staff, we 
manage and supervise some 4,700 people in 14 prisons and six work camps, 6,000 offenders 
in the community and 150 young people in custody. This is a hard task as no offender is easy 
to manage. 
We prepare in excess of 400,000 meals in adult facilities each month and coordinate more than 50,000 prisoner 
movements totalling more than two million kilometres a year – that’s 52 round-the-world trips or five return trips 
to the moon.

We organise 120,000 internal medical appointments, administering 60,000 prescriptions per year. Adult 
prisons alone service more than 20,000 visits per month.

This is just a small sample of the work we do and much of it involves managing people who present with a 
range of difficulties and risks. The management of risk is a daily business for our staff and when something 
goes wrong it can have extremely serious consequences.

A correctional service is a service that evokes much discussion, emotion and opinion about what we do and 
also demands significant scrutiny by a range of independent bodies.  I speak with a wide range of people 
in the public and private sector and their views on 
corrections are normally sourced from the media or 
movies. My staff provide me with a constant source 

COMMISSIONER’S MESSAGE

of pride and admiration for the fact that they don’t just 
talk or write about what should be done, they are the 
quiet achievers who get on with their job, regardless 
of the challenges they face, and in my opinion do a 
tremendous job that provides a critical service to the 
Western Australian community.

Corrections in WA is an ever-changing landscape 
in which we need to respond to a wide range of 
influences, many outside of our control, such as a 
rapid rise in offender numbers.  Offenders come under 
our management and supervision for many reasons 
and with many complex factors that cause them to 
offend. 

We cannot put up the ‘no vacancy’ sign, we cannot 
refuse to take someone because they present too 
great a risk and we cannot display emotions about 
the serious crimes they commit. My staff respond as a 
team, in a professional manner and display a ‘can do’ 
attitude as they go about making a positive difference 
in the lives of offenders while they are under the 
management of the Department.

In 2009/2010 we set about achieving our mission 
through three areas of particular focus – sustainability, 
acknowledging our corporate social responsibility 
and a corporate statement about making a positive 
difference in whatever we do.

I am proud to say we have made many inroads and 
although we have experienced the inevitable lows 
throughout the past 12 months, we have celebrated 
some significant achievements and milestones in our 
focus areas.
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Sustainability
During the year, we made every effort to use the skills and experiences of staff and offenders to meet the 
growing needs of the Department.

This has resulted in a range of work practices, including food production, clothing production, manufacturing, 
construction and caring for the environment, that provide many services to the Department and the community.  
This work has benefitted communities throughout the State and has resulted in millions of dollars saved by the 
Department and the taxpayer.

By way of example, in July last year, offenders on community work orders began renovating the disused 
Riverbank facility in Caversham, transforming it into the Department’s new Community Work Management 
Unit. The offenders completed a significant amount of work including the removal of 240 cubic metres of 
unrecyclable furniture and rubbish, as well as the refurbishment of classrooms, workshops and office blocks.

The project allowed them to comply with community work orders while achieving professional training and 
certification and providing infrastructure for ongoing accreditation and training for offenders.

Corporate Social Responsibility
Our Department’s approach to our corporate social responsibility has been to achieve an enduring benefit to 
the community while allowing offenders to repay their debt to society through meaningful work that teaches 
valuable job skills. 

A major example of our push for corporate social responsibility during the year was when offenders helped 
with the clean-up after the Toodyay bushfires in late December. Within days of the fire, Wooroloo Prison Farm 
and the Department as a whole responded to the need for help. Supervised minimum-security prisoners and 
offenders on community work orders were dispatched to the town to help clear debris and repair and remove 
damaged infrastructure. The town was extremely grateful for the offenders’ efforts and we were happy to help. 
Not only does this benefit the community but it provides a great opportunity for offenders to ‘give back’ and feel 
good about doing something positive for those in need. 

Making a Positive Difference
Our key focus is to positively influence offender behaviour to reduce re-offending. We have many interventions, 
and the people to deliver them, that make a positive difference in some form.

For example, the Department works to prevent young people from entering the formal justice system through 
diversion. This is the most effective way of improving life opportunities for young people, preventing criminal 
behaviour and delivering efficiencies in the criminal justice system.

Through our Regional Youth Justice Services in Geraldton and Kalgoorlie, we are now able to provide outreach 
support for young people and their families, emergency bail accommodation, community work programs 
and Juvenile Justice Teams to divert young people from the justice system. These services also provide 
opportunities for young people at risk of becoming offenders to access early intervention programs, aimed at 
turning them away from a lifetime of criminal behaviour.

The Regional Youth Justice Services have been so successful they will soon be expanded to other regional 
areas and have been shortlisted for the 2010 Premier’s Awards in the Strengthening Families and Communities 
category.

In 2009/2010 staff once again proved they could thrive in an often very challenging environment and showed a 
never-ending commitment to helping the Department positively influence offenders and the community.

On a personal note I have had tremendous support from my executive and thank them for their professionalism, 
commitment and loyalty and the fact that they never, ever give up.

Ian Johnson
Commissioner

 

COMMISSIONER’S MESSAGE
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OUR LOCATIONS
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Commissioner  Ian Johnson (a)

Commissioner Ian Johnson has had a long and varied career in the justice system. Before joining the Department 
in April 2005, he worked for WA Police for 29 years and reached the rank of Assistant Commissioner. During 
his career he was involved in operations, training, major projects and strategic and corporate development.

He is a graduate of the FBI National Academy (Quantico 1995), the Police Executive Leadership Program 
(Manly 2002) and holds a Graduate Diploma in Business (Management).

Ian is committed to improving public awareness and an understanding of the challenges and complexities of 
the corrective services environment. He strives to promote the professionalism and dedication of correctional 
staff in making a positive difference to the Western Australian community.

ADULT CUSTODIAL
Deputy Commissioner  Ian Giles (b)

Ian Giles was appointed to the position of Deputy Commissioner Adult Custodial in June 2008. Since then 
he has led the Adult Custodial Division through an historic period of profound growth within the prisoner 
population. 

Ian has introduced substantial reform to operational and administrative functions, with a focus on head office 
services, security and prisons’ performance reporting. A comprehensive review into offender employment 
levels and the impending appointment of six new superintendents to public prisons across the State are among 
his latest achievements. 

Ian joined the Department in 2006 to take up the position as the inaugural Assistant Commissioner Professional 
Standards wherein he established the Division’s structure and reformed its policy base. 

Before coming to the Department of Corrective Services, Ian served 27 years in the Western Australia Police 
where he performed a wide range of operational and non-operational functions. Ian has a Bachelor of Business 
(Accounting).

OUR EXECUTIVE TEAM
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COMMUNITY AND YOUTH JUSTICE
Deputy Commissioner  Heather Harker (c)

Heather Harker spent 30 years working in the criminal justice system in England before migrating to Western 
Australia in 2006.

She started her professional career as a probation officer in the late 1970s and developed a wide ranging 
background in the justice system which resulted in her appointment as Chief Probation Officer for the National 
Probation Service for England and Wales in 2001. 

Heather was the inaugural Chair of both the Criminal Justice Board for South Yorkshire and the Strategic 
Management Board for the Multi-Agency Public Protection Arrangements (MAPPA). She also held a Public 
Office Appointment as a member of the Lord Chancellors Sentencing Advisory Panel for England and Wales.

Heather was appointed Deputy Commissioner for Community and Juvenile Justice in October 2006 and has led 
significant strategic and organisational changes for the division, the latest of which has been the realignment 
of the division into two distinct business areas which focus on youth justice and adult community corrections.

Heather holds a BA (Hons) Economic and Social History, a Diploma and Certificate of Qualification in Social 
Work and a Diploma in Strategic Management Studies.

OFFENDER MANAGEMENT AND PROFESSIONAL DEVELOPMENT
Deputy Commissioner Jackie Tang (d)

Jackie Tang began working with the Department of Corrective Services in 1986 and has held many different 
positions at an operational and strategic level within the prison system and community justice services.  

She has held positions such as Assistant Director Prisoner Management, Director Operational Services and 
Sentence Management, and Director Community and Juvenile Justice.

In her current position, Jackie has Statewide responsibility for the provision of services to Adult Custodial 
Services and Community Youth Justice which includes education, rehabilitative programs, counselling, health 
services, sentence management and prisoner classification. Her portfolio also extends to the management 
of the Aboriginal Visitors Scheme and the delivery of Statewide, whole of Department staff training and 
development.

Jackie has a Bachelor of Social Work from Curtin University, Western Australia, and completed a Graduate 
Management Qualification (AGSM) during 1999. She has recently enrolled in a Masters of Public Administration 
at the University of Western Australia.

CORPORATE SUPPORT
Assistant Commissioner  Graeme Doyle (e)

Graeme Doyle is a career public servant, currently in his 31st year of continuous employment in the WA Public 
Sector.  

For eight years, Graeme moved across departments in various accounting and financial management roles 
before receiving a promotion to the budgeting section of Treasury in November 1987.  

After 17 years in Treasury, Graeme began with the Department of Justice as Financial Management Director, 
until a year later when it was separated into two departments – the Department of Corrective Services and the 
Department of the Attorney General.

Graeme acted in the position of the Executive Director Corporate Services for the Department of the Attorney 
General where it was his role to direct the provision of corporate services to both departments while overseeing 
the creation of two new corporate structures. 

In July 2007, on completion of the new structures, Graeme moved across to the Department of Corrective 
Services to take up his current position as the Assistant Commissioner Corporate Support. 

It is Graeme’s role to provide the Department with corporate support in the areas of human resources, strategic 
asset services, financial management, business systems, contracted services, public private partnerships and 
knowledge management.

Graeme is an accountant by profession and holds CPA accreditation.

OUR EXECUTIVE TEAM
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YOUTH JUSTICE SERVICES
Assistant Commissioner  Lex McCulloch (f)

Lex McCulloch has been in the Western Australian Public Sector since 1978 when he joined the Department 
for Community Welfare in Moora. He has worked in a variety of locations across the State including Derby, 
Kalgoorlie, Port Hedland and Perth.

Lex’s various roles have provided him with a range of experiences such as leading restructuring processes 
and delivering on significant projects, all of which have been aimed at improving the wellbeing of people in 
Western Australia. 

In his current position as the Youth Justice Services Assistant Commissioner, Lex is responsible for refocussing 
and reinvigorating the division, with a priority on addressing the over-representation of Aboriginal people in the 
youth justice system. 

Lex has a Social Work Degree from Curtin University.

CUSTODIAL OPERATIONS
Assistant Commissioner  Jon Peach (g)

Jon Peach served as an officer in the United Kingdom armed forces before discharging to begin his corrective 
services career 15 years ago.

He worked in Her Majesty’s Prison Service for 12 years, advancing from a prison officer to the position of 
Governor.

Jon worked at various prisons, with all categories of prisoners, in the United Kingdom including Highdown, 
Full Sutton, Leeds, Stafford, New Hall, Moorlands, Birmingham and Shrewsbury. The majority of Jon’s career 
has been in the security and prisoner management arenas but he has also worked within through-care and 
offender management.

Jon migrated to Western Australia in 2008 to take up post as the inaugural substantive Director of Security 
Services before his current appointment as the Department’s Assistant Commissioner Custodial Operations in 
November 2008. He is responsible for the operational management of all of the State’s prisons. 

His formal qualifications include a Master of Arts in Social Policy and Criminology, a Postgraduate Diploma 
in Criminal Justice, Postgraduate Certificate in Social Sciences, Professional Certificate in Management, 
Bachelor of Arts (Honours) in Social Sciences with Social Policy and Diploma in Applied Social Sciences.

Jon is currently studying for the Executive Masters in Public Administration through the Australia and New 
Zealand School of Government.

PROFESSIONAL STANDARDS
Assistant Commissioner Terry Buckingham (h)

Terry Buckingham began a 22-year career with the Australian Federal Police in 1980 as a federal agent, before 
advancing to Officer in Charge of Criminal Assets Investigations, Drug Intelligence Unit team leader and later 
a senior liaison officer based in Kuala Lumpur.

Terry was then seconded to the National Crime Authority as a Chief Investigator/Manager Investigations for a 
brief period before returning to the Australian Federal Police as the WA Director of Operations. He next took 
on the London-based role of Regional Coordinator for Europe and the Middle East.

On his return to Western Australia in July 2002, Terry was appointed the Director of Operations with the Anti-
Corruption Commission.

After holding several other positions in various agencies in WA, and undertaking a contract with the United 
Nations in New York, he joined the Department of Corrective Services in April 2009 as Assistant Commissioner 
Professional Standards. He is responsible for standards and compliance, risk management, corruption 
prevention, proactive compliance and integrity testing, quality assurance, complaints management and 
investigations.

Terry has a graduate certificate in Criminal Justice Education from the University of Virginia (USA) and a 

OUR EXECUTIVE TEAM
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Bachelor of Arts (Social Sciences) from the WA Institute of Technology.

He belongs to the Institute of Public Administration Australia, the Industrial Relations Society of Western 
Australia and the FBI National Academy Associates.

COMMUNITY OPERATIONS 
Assistant Commissioner Steve Robins (i)

Having laid the foundations of his career with a Bachelor of Social Work degree in 1983, Steve Robins has 
devoted the past 27 years of his working life to a career in social work.

During his career, Steve has been instrumental in the development of numerous domestic violence groups 
and initiatives throughout the State. His work has had a strong focus on social justice and a commitment to 
vulnerable groups.

He has worked for various government agencies including the departments for Community Services and 
Community Development and Family and Children’s Services before joining Corrective Services in 2005 as 
the Director North Community Justice Services.

Steve was appointed to his current position as the Assistant Commissioner for Community Operations in 2008 
and is responsible for the delivery of community justice services across the State as well as development of 
strategies to integrate correctional services within the regions.

In this position, Steve led a review and re-structure of service provision in adult community corrections and 
provided strategic direction and leadership to State community corrections to ensure these services supported 
offender rehabilitation and re-integration into the community. 

He has also developed policy to help address the over-representation of Aboriginal offenders in corrective 
services. 

As well as his Bachelor of Social Work, Steve also has an Advanced Diploma of Correctional Management.

STRATEGIC AND EXECUTIVE SERVICES
Director  Angie Dominish (j)

Angie Dominish joined the Department of Corrective Services in her current role in 2008. She is responsible 
for directing integrated strategic and executive services to improve the efficiency and effectiveness of the 
Department’s core organisational services.  

Before joining DCS, Angie was seconded by the Department to implement a framework for managing the 
overall coordination, control and integration of projects within the reform program.

Angie has extensive experience in public and private Western Australian organisations. During her career 
she has held executive, managerial, senior and operative positions in the fields of program and project 
management, human resources, application management, workplace change, policy, planning, curriculum 
research and design in the public sector and market research, policy and property management in the private 
sector.

She has a Graduate Diploma in Social Sciences and a Bachelor of Applied Science.

OUR EXECUTIVE TEAM



Department of Corrective Services

ANNUAL REPORT
2009/2010

13

Securing the Future – Making a Positive Difference
Securing the Future 2008-2011 is the second of two phases in the establishment of the Department of Corrective 
Services as an organisation under a new management structure and governance framework.

As we reflect on the past two years and approach the final year of our three year plan, we will remain focused 
on continuing to improve the quality and effectiveness of service delivery and to make a positive difference in 
the lives of offenders and the Western Australian community.

Working collaboratively across Government agencies is, and will continue to be, prominent in the development 
of services and in particular those services in regional areas and for Aboriginal people.

Empowering offenders to develop skills and a work ethic that enhances their employability in the general 
community has a dual benefit of fulfilling the corporate social responsibility of the Department and making a 
positive difference to community safety and wellbeing by giving offenders a sense that they are a valuable part 
of community life rather than being estranged from it.

As such our key result areas and strategies are:
�� Contributing to a safer community through the effective management of offenders in accordance with 

assessed risk and need.
�� Reducing re-offending through a positive change in offender behaviour.
�� Enhancing business capability through our people.
�� Enhancing business capability through the way we work.

STRATEGIC PLAN

Department Outcomes
The Department remains committed to achieving our outcomes:

�� Improved community safety through:

effective use of sentencing options

managing offenders safely, securely and humanely

upholding the integrity of sentences 

supporting victims of crime.
�� Reduce re-offending by:

addressing offenders’ rehabilitation needs 

allowing offenders to acquire employment skills and  
 qualifications

addressing offenders’ re-integrative needs 

delivering preventative programs and services to those at risk   
 of reoffending.

�� Fulfil the Department’s obligations as a Government agency:

Achieve operational compliance and enhanced capability  
 through the implementation, maintenance and review of  
 rigorous:

 »professional compliance standards

 »program and service effectiveness and efficiency 

 »strategic planning and review processes

 »compliance with government policy, programs and initiatives.
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Government Goal: Outcomes based service delivery Result
Extent of 
Variance from Target Page Ref

Service 1: Adult Offender Services

Escape Rate  (3 Escapes; Target 0)
0.06 
Per 100 prisoners

Imprisonment Rate
281.1
Per 100,000 Adult Population

Rate of Return
39.75%

Successful Completion of Community Corrections Orders
61.86%

Average Out of Cell Hours
12.17
Hours per prisoner per day

Serious Assault Rate
0.08
Per 100 prisoners

Community Corrections Rate
309.2
Per 100,000 Adult Population

Cost Per Day - Offender in Custody
$262.82
Per prisoner per day

Cost Per Day - Offender in Community
$35.48
Per offender per day

Service 2: Youth Offender Services

Rate of Return to Detention
59.9%

Escape Rate
0
Per 100 prisoners

Successful Completion of Community Corrections Orders
66.65%

Cost per Day - Young Person in Detention
$622.38
Per detainee per day

Cost per Day - Young Person in Community
$125.88
Per young offender per day

        Behind target by more than 10%
        Behind target by less than 10%
        On or ahead of target

     Behind Target             Ahead of Target

PERFORMANCE AT A GLANCE

The Department of Corrective Services’ outcome based management framework is consistent with the Government 
goal for Outcome Based Service Delivery – greater focus on achieving results in key delivery areas for the benefit 
of all Western Australians.  

Key Performance Indicators (KPIs) are an integral part of tracking performance in areas that have been identified 
as critical to our business.  The KPIs are monitored through quarterly and annual reporting, and the results are used 
to drive improvements.  A more detailed description of the results, and accompanying graphs and tables, can be 
found at the corresponding page reference for each indicator. For all targets that have not been met, an explanation 
has been given on those pages.

       Behind target by more than 10%
       Behind target by less than 10%
       On or ahead of target

89

90

91

92

93

93

94

95

95

96

97

97

98

98



Department of Corrective Services

ANNUAL REPORT
2009/2010

15

The Department of Corrective Services’ main contribution to achieving Government Goals in 
2009/10 was in its Outcome Based Service Delivery.  There were, however, several successes 
which also contributed towards goals for ‘State Building – Major Projects’ and ‘Stronger Focus 
on the Regions.’

ACHIEVING THE 
GOVERNMENT’S GOALS

Government Goal: Outcome Based Service Delivery
Re-opening of Riverbank
The former Riverbank Detention Centre was re-opened in May 2010 as 
the metropolitan day centre for community work operations and other 
community-based initiatives for adults and young people. 

It is a central hub for community work, addressing re-offending through 
strong community partnerships and offering pathways for offenders to 
engage in community activities. 

Realignment of Community and Juvenile Justice Division
During 2009/10 the realignment of the former Community and Juvenile 
Justice division was completed, resulting in the establishment of two 
distinct service delivery arms – Youth Justice Services (community and 
custodial) and Adult Community Corrections. It was also renamed the  
Community and Youth Justice Division.

Recruitment and Training
This year the Department used employment branding to promote 
recruitment activities across a range of occupation-specific recruitment 
campaigns.

The open-ended recruitment initiative for prison officers was launched 
in January, increasing prison officer applications significantly. Further 
information regarding prison officers is under ‘managing the prisoner 
population’ at the end of this section.

Due to improved recruitment initiatives, Juvenile Custodial Services 
filled all substantive juvenile custodial officer vacancies, resulting in full 
staffing. 

Workforce Planning
Workforce planning continues to grow throughout the Department with a 
particular focus on establishing local plans for each prison.

There has been an ongoing review of policies and procedures, including 
Leave Liability Management and HR Management Delegations, which 
now embeds all industrial agreements not previously covered.

2009/10 saw the development and launch of the Department’s Mature 
Age Management Strategy, including a series of information brochures, 
and Statewide superannuation seminars for employees planning for 
graduated retirement.

The Workforce Plan for Aboriginal Employment was completed and is now being implemented, including the 
2010 Aboriginal Business Traineeship Program and recruitment strategy for the new West Kimberley Regional 
Prison in Derby.

Prisoner Transport
The Department significantly enhanced prisoner transport services with the introduction of coach services 
for long haul transport and air services for inter-prison transport between Perth and the northern prisons of 
Greenough, Roebourne and Broome. This reduced the previous four day trip to one day.

New air services were also introduced in the Kimberley and Goldfields regions.
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The Department is continuing to look at ways to reduce the need for transporting prisoners in the first instance, 
including greater use of video link and other technology.

2009/2010 saw the Corrective Services Administrators’ Council formally approve changes to the Standard 
Guidelines for Corrections in Australia (2004) regarding prisoner transport. This followed extensive consultation 
with all Australian jurisdictions.  These changes came about from a WA-led national review instigated by 
the Department, and include general duty of care principles, vehicle standards and emergency management 
principles.

Industrial Relations
The Department undertook negotiations in good faith with the Western Australian Prison Officers’ Union 
(WAPOU) on a new Enterprise Agreement for prison officers. In principle agreement has been reached.

Re-entry Services
Re-entry programs have benefitted greatly from the Reducing Re-offending Strategy, with service providers 
receiving an increase in funding.  This has correlated with an increase in the number of prisoner contacts for 
the Re-entry Link Service to 29,152 contacts in 2009/10 compared to 13,713 contacts in 2007/08.  This is 
a positive indication that a greater number of prisoners is being provided with support to help with their re-
integration.

Services such as accommodation and transport, which help people transition from custody to the community, 
were also expanded to improve re-integration. Each prison’s transitional manager ensures prisoners are 
effectively linked to contracted re-entry services to maximise participation.

Offender Programs
In 2009/10 the Department developed a new offender programs business model which improved the quantity 
and quality of programs for the benefit of remote and regional areas as well as Aboriginal and female offenders. 

As the model will result in the amalgamation of prison and community programs, staff will have the opportunity 
to become skilled across a variety of program areas. The model will also ensure that current program growth 
is sustained.

The Department has continued its growth in program delivery in prisons and the community. Over the past two 
years, the Department increased prison program delivery by more than 146%. In 2009/10, the Department 
exceeded its delivery projections with 2,083 program places delivered in prisons to the end of June 2010. 
This represents an increase in delivery of 68% when compared to 2008/09 when 1,237 program places were 
delivered.

Program delivery for offenders in the community also increased considerably in 2009/10 with a total of 730 
offenders participating. This included 409 participants in domestic violence programs. Since 2008/09, programs 
provided by the Department in the community for adult offenders has increased by 56%. 

The Department formed the Aboriginal Program Facilitation Unit (APFU) in 2009/10 to better address and meet 
the needs of Aboriginal offenders in prisons and in communities throughout the State.  

The APFU is staffed by Aboriginal program specialists, who travel throughout WA delivering the Indigenous 
Men Managing Anger and Substance Use (IMMASU) program, the Indigenous Medium Sex Offender Program 
(IMSOTP) and the Indigenous Family Violence (IFV) program.

ACHIEVING THE 
GOVERNMENT’S GOALS
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Education and Vocational Training
The Education and Vocational Training Unit won both the Western 
Australian and Australian Training Award in the category of Training 
Initiative in 2009, for the Auswest Specialist Education Training Services 
(ASETS) through-care model.

The through-care education model ensures that prisoners undertaking 
training are supported in education and employment placement after 
they are released. 

Career and Employment Services 
The Department provides a range of Career and Employment Services 
(CES) to support prisoners and ex-prisoners into sustainable employment 
options.  

These include, but are not limited to, career and employer expos, 
career counselling, job preparedness skills, employability skills and post 
placement support. In 2009/10 employment coordinators assisted 150 
prisoners into employment post-release through CES.

Asian and Pacific Conference of Correctional Administrators (APCCA)
The Department hosted the international Asian and Pacific Conference 
of Correctional Administrators (APCCA) in Perth in November 2009 
which brought together 180 delegates from 26 countries throughout the 
Asia Pacific region.

Making a Positive Difference was the theme of the conference which 
covered a broad range of correctional issues including health services, 
prisoner employment, community-based sentences and success stories 
in corrections, with special reference to technology.  

Women’s Intervention Model
Women’s Way Forward: Women’s Corrective Services Strategic Plan 2009-2012 was developed as a model of 
service delivery for women in prison. It provides the direction on how to improve service delivery to bring about 
changes in women’s lives. These changes will build confidence and capabilities and help female offenders 
lead productive and positive lifestyles in the community.

This new philosophy in the effective delivery of services to women is based on internationally recognised, 
evidence-based practice backed by national and international research.

Mahoney Reform Program
By the end of the 2009/2010 financial year, the Department had completed the Mahoney Reform Program on 
time and on budget.  In 2006, following the Mahoney Inquiry into the Management of Offenders in Custody, 
the Department of Justice was split into the Department of Corrective Services and the Department of the 
Attorney General. DCS was tasked with  addressing 125 Inquiry recommendations, with the aim of reducing 
re-offending and improving the correctional system in WA. As at 30 June 2010, each recommendation had 
been addressed at some level by the Department.

Managing the Prisoner Population
The Department rose to the challenge of managing a rising prisoner population, which grew by 8% in 2009/10, 
through the implementation of the Custodial Infrastructure Program as well as increased recruitment and 
training of prison officers. Some 937 beds were added to the prison system. With regard to prison officer 
numbers, the Department undertook a successful Australia-wide and New Zealand recruitment campaign 
targeting experienced prison officers that delivered 252 applications. Throughout the year, 16 training programs 
for trainee prison officers were undertaken with 358 officers participating. 

ACHIEVING THE 
GOVERNMENT’S GOALS
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Government Goal: State Building – Major Projects
Capital Works
The Department completed an intensive construction program to expand operational capacity across the 
prison system, adding 937 beds to accommodate rapid increases in the prisoner population.

Work also progressed on schedule at the West Kimberley Regional Prison in Derby, Banksia Hill Detention 
Centre and three new work camps at Wyndham, Warburton and Dowerin.  

Construction also commenced on new accommodation units at Hakea, Casuarina and Albany prisons to add a 
further 640 beds and enhance support infrastructure such as health, education and programs rooms.

Banksia Hill Redevelopment
The first phase of the capital works program at Banksia Hill Detention Centre was completed in early 2010 with 
the construction of the new Turner Unit to provide 24 additional beds for male detainees.

The second phase of the capital works program also began. This will result in capacity at Banksia Hill increasing 
to 214 to accommodate all young people in detention (male and female, sentenced and remand).

ACHIEVING THE 
GOVERNMENT’S GOALS

Government Goal: Stronger Focus on the Regions
Regional Youth Justice Services
Regional Youth Justice Services (RYJS) centres aim to provide services and programs to help reduce the level 
of young people’s involvement in the youth justice system, reduce the need for young people to be remanded 
in custody in Perth and improve community safety.

Since the implementation of the RYJS in the Mid West and Goldfields regions, there has been an increase in 
police cautioning and Juvenile Justice Team referrals, fewer young people remanded to Perth away from their 
families, and closer working relationships with local Magistrates.
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ACHIEVING THE 
GOVERNMENT’S GOALS

Emergency Management
The Emergency Support Group developed a comprehensive training program which will deliver Primary 
Response Team (PRT) capability to prisons.  In the event of a critical or emergency incident, particularly in 
regional prisons, primary response training will enable local staff to respond quickly to maintain the situation 
until specialised assistance arrives or to bring the situation to a successful and safe resolution. 

2009/10 saw the implementation of Local Emergency Management Plans that are aligned to the Department’s 
Emergency Management Framework and cover the actions and procedures to assist facilities to respond to 
major emergency situations. 

This concept of consistent emergency plans across adult and juvenile custodial environments will create a 
positive and confident approach in dealing with emergency incidents. 
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In 2009/10, the Department delivered significant changes and excellent performance while 
contending with challenges on a number of fronts. These challenges included unprecedented 
growth in prisoner numbers, significant capital works, response to a Coronial Inquiry, 
implementation of a new justice strategy for the regions and the restructure of Community and 
Youth Justice Services. 

The Ward Inquiry
The Department made significant progress in addressing the recommendations of the Coroner following the 
tragic death of Mr Ward in a transport vehicle in 2008. This included progressing the replacement of the secure 
vehicle fleet, with all vehicles due to be replaced by the end of 2010.  

Additional staff were engaged to monitor regional activities and robust processes established to ensure the 
ongoing review of contractor policies and procedures. 

Transition to New Court Security and Custodial Services (CS&CS) Contractual Arrangement
The current CS&CS contract is due to expire in July 2011, with the State Government giving approval to 
proceed with the re-tender of service provision.

In 2009/10 the Department worked closely with the Department of Treasury and Finance and other key 
stakeholders to deliver an improved service delivery model and competitive tender process.

SIGNIFICANT ISSUES

Offender Treatment Programs
The number of offenders participating in treatment programs, in prisons 
and the community, increased significantly over the past two years. 

In 2009/10 a significant challenge for the Department was meeting the 
demand for treatment programs in prisons. The high population across 
the State’s prisons impacted on resources and the capacity for facilities 
to accommodate program delivery. 

While demand could not fully be met in 2009/10, the Department 
exceeded its projected service delivery levels. At July 2009, the 
Department projected an increase in delivery of 65% from 2008/09. In 
2009/10, the Department increased delivery in prisons by 68%.

Community programs delivered by the Department increased by 56% in 
2009/10.

Strategies to further improve regional and metropolitan delivery of 
community programs have been developed and will be a focus for the 
Department in 2010/11.

The delivery of programs in prisons for Aboriginal offenders continued 
to improve, with governance over these programs also advancing. 
There was an overall increase in program delivery for Aboriginal people 
from 652 placements in 2008/09 to 935 in 2009/10.  Completion rates 
for Aboriginal offenders also improved with 848 offenders completing a 
program, compared to 585 in 2008/09. 

Between 2008/09 and 2009/10, the number of Aboriginal offenders 
enrolled in Indigenous treatment programs increased by 43%. This 
included growth of 53% in addictions programs and 190% for violence 
programs. 

The Aboriginal Visitors Scheme (AVS), which provides support and 
counselling for Aboriginal people in prisons, juvenile detention centres 
and police lock-ups in WA, doubled the number of Aboriginal visitors 
on its books and the number of visits in two of the State’s main prisons, 
Hakea and Casuarina. The visits aim to address the incidence of self-
harm rates.
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National Issues
WA is a member of the Corrective Services Administrators’ Council (CSAC) comprising the Chief Executives 
of corrective services agencies in each Australian jurisdiction and, by invitation, the New Zealand Department 
of Corrections. This is a significant forum for considering and dealing with corrections issues. CSAC promotes 
best practice in the delivery of corrections services through effective sharing of ideas and addressing key 
national issues.  In 2009/10, WA contributed to discussions on significant issues including:

�� interstate transfer of prisoners on security grounds
�� interstate transfer of parole orders and community based sentences
�� prisoner transport minimum standards (led by Western Australia)
�� treatment and management of sex offenders
�� imprisonment rates and strategies for reduction, particularly for Aboriginal offenders
�� community corrections innovation and future directions (led jointly by Western Australia and Victoria)
�� emerging technology in corrections
�� intelligence exchange with the Australian Crime Commission.

SIGNIFICANT ISSUES
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The Department’s primary source of funds to meet the cost of services is via Parliamentary 
appropriation. In 2009/10, $586m was provided from this source towards total activity costs 
that amounted to $646m.
The Department continues to strive to operate within its approved funding allocation. Cost and demand 
pressures and the requirement to achieve Government efficiency measures in the context of negotiating a new 
Prison Officers’ Enterprise Bargaining Agreement have made this challenging in 2009/10 and the Department 
exceeded its budget.

Capital expenditure for 2009/10 was under budget by $18.4m. The most significant contributor to this 
underspend was the Fast Tracked Prisoner Accommodation project which underspent by $17m during the 
period. The project start date was delayed while the approval process was finalised and the amount not spent 
in 2009/10 will be incurred in 2010/11.

The net cost of services in 2009/10 was $609m (2008/09 $544m). Employee benefits expense increased by 
$23m from last financial year due to a number of factors, particularly pay increases, with backpay for public 
servants, as well as an increase in prison officer numbers and overtime worked as a result of increased 
prisoner and juvenile detainee numbers. The adult prison population increased from a daily average of 4,010 
in 2008/09 to 4,759 in 2009/10. The average number of juveniles in detention increased from 151 in 2008/09 
to 167 in 2009/10.

Major spending on capital works in 2009/10 included the Wooroloo Prison Farm refurbishment ($5.4m), West 
Kimberley Regional Prison ($14.9m), Infrastructure Upgrade and Replacement Program ($6.3m), Double 
Bunking Custodial Infrastructure Program ($14.2m), and Fast Tracked Prisoner Accommodation ($5.1m).

FINANCIAL OUTCOMES  
2009/10

 
2009/10 2008/09
$million $milllion

Sources of funding
Government Appropriation 586 523

Other Government Revenues 15 14

Commonwealth Grants and Contributions 1 1

Other Revenue 37 34

Total 639 572
Activity Costs
Adult Criminal Justice Services 563 499

Juvenile Criminal Justice Services 83 80

Total 646 579
Expenditure
Employee benefits expense 340 317

Supplies and services 197 167

Other expenses 71 62

Grant subsidies 8 7

Depreciation 19 16

Accommodation 11 10

Total 646 579
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The Corrective Services Bill is in the advanced stage of drafting.  The Bill proposes to amalgamate the Prisons 
Act 1981 and the Sentence Administration Act 2003 into a Corrective Services Act as a reform process, 
following the Inquiry into the Management of Offenders in Custody and in the Community (Mahoney Inquiry).  
The Bill contains clear objectives for the operation of the Act and provisions for the integrated management of 
offenders across custodial and community settings.  It also introduces provisions to improve the administration 
of corrective services. 

The Sentence Administration (Interstate Transfer of Community Based Sentences) Act 2009 has received royal 
assent and is awaiting proclamation.  The Act is part of a national legislative framework which provides for the 
formal transfer and enforcement of community-based sentences between Australian jurisdictions.  Regulations 
to the Act are currently being prepared.  It is intended the Act will be proclaimed in the next financial year once 
the regulations are finalised.

LEGISLATIVE CHANGES

Legislative compliance
Legislation administered by the Department of Corrective Services:

�� Court Security and Custodial Services Act 1999
�� Dangerous Sexual Offenders Act 2006 (s.18,21 & 32 & Pt. 2 Div. 

3 & 5 & Pt. 5)
�� Prisoners (International Transfer) Act 2000
�� Prisoners (Interstate Transfer) Act 1983
�� Prisons Act 1981
�� Sentence Administration Act 2003 (Pt.1, Pt.2, Div.2, Pt.5, Div.1-3, 

Pt. 6, 7, 8 &10 (other than s.114 &115A))
�� Sentence Administration (Interstate Transfer of Community 

Based Sentences) Act 2009
�� Young Offenders Act 1994.
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Through its Adult Custodial Services, the Department aims to protect the community, reduce re-
offending and encourage prisoners to adopt law-abiding lifestyles. It manages 13 maximum, 
medium and minimum-security prisons, six in the metropolitan area and seven in regional areas, 
as well as six prisoner work camps throughout the State. An additional prison, Acacia Prison, 
is overseen by the Department but privately operated by Serco Australia. Serco produces an 
independent annual report for Acacia and the Department produces an annual report on the 
contract service.

ADULTS IN CUSTODY

Key Achievements and Challenges 2009/10
During the year, the Department:

�� managed and supervised a significantly increased prisoner 
population across the State

�� completed the development of the Women’s Intervention model 
�� recruited and trained a security manager in each prison across 

the State 
�� published and implemented the Adult Custodial Strategic Plan 

for Aboriginal Services across the State. It will be incorporated 
into the Prisons Performance Reporting model

�� completed a Statewide review of adult offender employment
�� implemented and rolled out the Statewide framework for 

emergency management
�� implemented an improved reporting framework by prisons 

against key performance indicators 
�� began a 640 additional beds program.

Key Statistics:
�� The adult prisoner population rose steadily during the 2009/10 

period, peaking at 4,893 on 27 March 2010.  At 30 June 2010, 
the adult prisoner population was 4,772 prisoners.

�� To accommodate the increased prisoner population, additional 
beds were installed through double bunks i.e. installing a 
second bed in a cell originally designed for one. By 30 June 
2010, the State’s prisons had been modified to accommodate 
4,852 prisoners, up from 4,352 as at 30 June 2009. At this time 
the adult prisoner population was 1.6% lower than the State’s 
operational capacity.

�� The daily average prisoner population for 2009/10 increased by 
18.6% to 4,759 from 4,012 in 2008/2009. During this period, the 
daily average prisoner population increased by 21.4% for non-
Aboriginal prisoners, 36.9% for minimum-security prisoners and 
18.0% for male prisoners.

�� In the last five years, the daily average prisoner population 
increased by 38.6%. During this time, the number of maximum-
security prisoners decreased by 26.6%, compared with increases 
of 43.0% for medium-security prisoners and 76.5% for minimum-
security prisoners.
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Increase in the WA Prisoner Population
Daily average prisoner population Increase over 5 years Increase over 12 months 

(2008/09 – 2009/10)
Number % Number %

Total population 1,326.2 38.6 747.0 18.6

Male prisoners 1,185.7 37.2 667.9 18.0

Female prisoners 140.6 57.3 79.3 25.8

Aboriginal prisoners 548.3 39.9 245.2 14.7

Non-Aboriginal prisoners 778.1 37.8 502.0 21.4

Security rating     

 Maximum -170.6 -26.6 -206.8 -30.5

 Medium 821.9 43.0 534.4 24.3

 Minimum 674.9 76.5 419.3 36.9

The Increasing Prisoner Population
In 2009/10, the State’s adult prisoner population increased by 353 prisoners (8%). During this time, the remand 
(unsentenced) population increased by 63 (8.8%) and the sentenced population increased by 290 (7.8%). 
The State’s adult Aboriginal prisoner population also continued to rise with an additional 75 prisoners (4.2%). 
However, this population increased at a lower rate than the non-Aboriginal population (10.7%).

The drivers behind the growth in the prisoner population in 2009/10 were:
 f an increase in the number of prisoners who had their parole denied, cancelled or suspended, leading 

to increases in the sentenced prisoner population cohort
 f a significant increase in the number of offenders incarcerated by the higher courts. This correlates with 

increases in violent offending over the same period and with increases in break and enter and robbery 
and other offences

 f an increase in the number of individuals in custody on remand. In addition, the courts now appear less 
willing to grant bail for violent offenders

 f an increase of 118 days in the average minimum sentence length. This means that prisoners are now 
staying in custody longer, contributing to increases in the prisoner population.

ADuLts IN CustoDY
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The last quarter of the financial year saw a 2.3% decrease in the State’s prisoner population as prisoners who 
had their parole denied, cancelled or suspended began to exit the prison system, having served a greater 
proportion of their initial sentences. There was also a 7.7% decrease in lower court incarcerations and a 
reduction in average minimum sentence length.

Impact of High Prisoner Population 
The Department has implemented measures to mitigate the impacts of the increased prisoner population. The 
areas where significant strain is ongoing include:

�� increased pressure on aging infrastructure
�� an impaired ability to deliver a constructive day to offenders, including the provision of programs and 

services to support re-entry to the community 
�� the need for more prison staff and heightened industrial relations including the impacts of an aging 

workforce.

Custodial Infrastructure Program
In May 2009, the Government announced funding for the Custodial Infrastructure Program. The $655 million 
program was to build or install an additional 1,657 beds across the Western Australian prison system (refer to 
Capital-Works section for full details).

During 2009/10, new works at Hakea, Casuarina and Albany prisons were announced to cater for the rapid 
growth experienced in the prisoner population during 2009.  Once complete, these works will add a further 640 
beds to the prison system. 

Overall, the $655 million program delivered 863 additional prison beds to 30 June 2010, 263 more than 
scheduled. In addition, a separate building program at Wooroloo Prison Farm provided an additional 74 beds 
at that site. This is a significant achievement when considering the work was carried out in a system under 
considerable pressure. By 2014, the building program will have increased the number of beds in the WA prison 
system by 2,590. 

ADULTS IN CUSTODY
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Prison Career Structure – Selection and Appointment Processes
The selection and appointment process for the ranks of Principal and Senior Officer was finalised in consultation 
with the WA Prison Officers Union (WAPOU) and prison representatives in 2009/10. During this period, 62 such 
positions were filled through this promotions process, with a further round of promotions currently underway. 
The appointment of principal officers has strengthened the career pathway for officers and introduced a role 
that has a strong operational focus with an emphasis on maintaining high standards.

Reducing Re-Offending
Women’s Intervention Model
Women’s Way Forward: Women’s Corrective Services Strategic Plan 2009-2012 was developed as a model of 
service delivery for women in prison. It provides the guidance and direction on how to improve service delivery 
to bring about positive changes in women’s lives. These changes will build the confidence and capabilities of 
women offenders and help them lead productive and positive lifestyles in the community.

The principles that underpin Women’s Way Forward recognise that:
�� the lives of women who offend are often characterised by considerable disadvantage, especially 

Aboriginal women
�� women are imprisoned as punishment and not for punishment
�� the imprisonment of women should be seen as the sentencing option of last resort. 

Women’s Way Forward has been developed to share what we know about women who come into contact with 
the Department of Corrective Services, especially those received into custody. It documents the adoption of a 
new philosophy across the corrections system which will be based on a women-centred approach. 
This new philosophy in the effective delivery of services to women is 
based on internationally recognised, evidence-based practice backed by 
national and international research.

Boronia Pre-Release Centre for Women
Boronia Pre-Release Centre for Women continued to set the standard 
for a progressive approach to women’s correctional services, a fact that 
was internationally recognised in 2009. A World Health Organisation 
research publication cited Boronia’s focus on the relationship between 
trauma, substance abuse and mental health, parenting and life skills, and 
education, training and employment, as an example of international good 
practice in the provision of services for women in correctional facilities.  
As in previous years, there was much national and international focus on 
Boronia and the service delivery model, purpose built infrastructure and 
professional staff continued to impress those who visited.  

Boronia’s annual gala day fete again provided an opportunity for 
prisoners to develop and utilise valuable skills and give something back 
to the community. Each year, prisoners make items for sale to the public, 
with all monies raised going to a not-for-profit organisation. The 2009 
gala day raised in excess of $13,000 which went to support the Wooree 
Miya Women’s Refuge. 

Aboriginal Offenders
The level of Aboriginal incarceration remained unacceptably high in 
2009/10. As at 30 June 2010, 39% of all adult prisoners were Aboriginal, 
as were 66% of young people in detention. The daily average adult 
Aboriginal prisoner population in 2009/10 was 40.2%. Aboriginal people 
made up 32% of the adult community corrections population and 60.33% 
of the youth community corrections population during the year.

The ongoing construction of the West Kimberley Regional Prison and 
workcamps at Warburton, Wyndham and Dowerin during 2010/2011 will 

making news
THIS year’s Gala Day at Boronia Pre-Release 
Centre for Women raised a record $13,566 for 
charity – topping last year’s figure of $10,000. 

More than 1000 people passed through Boronia’s 
doors last Saturday to purchase some great bargains 
and gifts for Christmas while raising funds for 
worthwhile community organisations. 

Superintendent Jan Allen said the day was a success. 

“Visitors had a great time wandering around the 
centre while snapping up gorgeous jewellery, fine-
crafted wooden items, quality cards and innovative 
handmade gifts that prisoners had made during the 
year,” she said.

“The Rowethorpe Knitting Club supported this 
year’s event by knitting items for sale such as 
beanies, toys, scarves and socks while there were 
also raffles, plenty of food and a wide range of 
plants and vegetables for sale.” 

The recipients of this year’s proceeds were the 
Wooree Miya Women’s Refuge, which offers 
emergency accommodation to women, and Camp 
Breakaway, an organisation that holds camps for 
children whose parents are in prison as well as for 
the children’s carers. 

Jan handed over the proceeds to Wooree Miya 
Manager Gloria Walley and Prison Fellowship of 
WA Director Rod Williams at a special presentation 
on Wednesday. 

She said since the annual event began in 2005 more 
than $50,000 had been raised for charity. 

13 November 2009

ADULTS IN CUSTODY
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provide purpose built infrastructure to assist in delivering improved services to Aboriginal offenders, with the 
aim of reducing their reoffending rates.

An Inquiry into the Management of Offenders in Custody and in the Community (Mahoney, 2005) stated that 
“…each prison Superintendent should establish a standing Indigenous Services Committee to coordinate and 
monitor the implementation of the Department’s Indigenous strategies…”.  In response to this, the Department 
established Prison Aboriginal Services Committees (PASC) in March 2010 within all prisons across the 
State. These committees identify and address the many and varied needs of Aboriginal people in custody 
and, importantly, during their transition back into the community.  All prisons are also now identifying key 
performance indicators against a common set of strategies that have been specifically designed to reduce the 
levels of Aboriginal disadvantage within the community.

Each prison now has to qualify their progress in meeting these strategies to the Adult Custodial Executive 
every four months. 

ADuLts IN CustoDY
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Protecting the Community
Escapes from Custody
Despite greater prisoner numbers, the number of unlawful absences reduced to four during 2009/10 compared 
with 11 in 2008/09. Unlawful absences comprise absconds, where physical security is not breached, escapes, 
where some form of physical security is breached, and unlawful releases from custody.

Included within the four unlawful absences was an unlawful release from court of a person while in police 
custody.

Enhancements to security had a positive impact on the 54% reduction in escapes this year. They included:
�� improving the security fencing at Broome Regional Prison
�� improving the security at Broome Regional Prison by opening a separate women’s precinct suited to 

the unique needs of women in custody
�� assessing prisoners’ security-ratings appropriately using improved, strict criteria
�� providing structured activities at key times of the year such as Christmas, when prisoners are more 

likely to abscond
�� introducing an intelligence-focused security plan across all prisons.

Unlawful Absence# From DCS Custody
Rate Per 100 Prisoners

1995/96 to 2009/10
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Unlawful Absence From Corrective Services Custody
1995/96 to 2009/10

Security 
Level

1995 
/ 96

1996 / 
97

1997 
/ 98

1998 
/ 99

1999 
/ 00

2000 
/ 01

2001 
/ 02

2002 
/ 03

2003 
/ 04

2004 
/ 05

2005 
/ 06

2006 
/ 07

2007 
/ 08

2008 
/ 09

2009 
/ 10

Open level of 
security
(Min Security 
Rating)

Number 65 86 59 91 59 64 46 52 49 52 34 21 19 11 3

Rate 
Per 100

7.60 11.40 7.50 9.80 6.10 6.10 4.90 6.21 5.52 5.12 3.84 2.28 1.84 0.97 0.19

Secure level 
of security
(Max/Med 
Security Rat-
ing)

Number 1 3 6 9 4 8 0 1 2 1 1 4 9 0 0

Rate 
Per 100

0.30 0.20 0.40 0.50 0.20 0.40 0.00 0.05 0.05 0.04 0.04 0.15 0.32 0.00 0.00

Total Number 66 89 65 100 63 72 46 53 51 53 35 25 28 11 3

Rate 
Per 100

2.95 3.99 2.88 3.72 2.22 2.41 1.6 1.86 1.7 1.57 1.02 0.69 0.74 0.27 0.06

Deaths in Custody/Coroner’s Reports
There were eight deaths in prison custody in 2009/10, five of which had an apparent cause of death recorded 
as suicide. The remaining three deaths were of apparent natural causes. All deaths occurred in prison.

It is a sad reality that many people who come into the care of corrective services have significant emotional 
issues and complex behavioural problems.  The Department has a number of strategies to identify and manage 
those at risk including a comprehensive suicide prevention strategy. These are highlighted in the Offender-
Management section of this report. 

All deaths in custody, including those due to apparent natural causes, are subject to an internal review and a 
Coronial Inquest on a date determined by the Coroner.

The Department comprehensively manages all recommendations from the Coroner arising from a death in 
custody to mitigate or address the risks and issues identified as part of the internal review and Coronial Inquest 
process.

ADULTS IN CUSTODY

Prison Security
In early 2010, work began to develop and implement a Statewide security 
framework. The project involves the development of a comprehensive 
policy and audit framework to govern the application of security 
methodology applied across all Departmental custodial centres. 

The framework is being developed in consultation with all custodial 
sites, with the pilot implementation to be conducted within adult prisons. 
Following a successful implementation and trial period, the framework 
will then be expanded to include juvenile custodial centres.

When completed, the framework will provide an improved mechanism 
for superintendents to proactively identify the security risks relating to 
their facility and develop their own risk management strategies regarding 
those risks.  

This project is a groundbreaking approach within Australia and will 
establish the Department as a national leader in best practice relating to 
correctional security management.

Biometric Iris Scanning
The control of social visitors through the use of biometric iris scanning 
was increased to all four of WA’s maximum-security prison gatehouses 
this year. The prisons are Albany, Hakea, Casuarina and Bandyup. The 
technology allows identification of all social visitors through the scanning 
of their irises, which are as individual as fingerprints, and eliminates 
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identity fraud. As a consequence of an operational review carried out by the Department, an information DVD 
was produced to allow social visitors to view the induction, biometric and search procedures prior to entering 
the prison.

Security Services
The Department is in the process of developing an Emerging Technology Strategy which is designed to help 
it capitalise on the growth of new and emerging technologies suitable for use within the correctional industry, 
while addressing potential risks to safety and security.

Through the strategy, the Department will improve its overall ability to monitor industry markets, gain knowledge 
and an understanding of new and emerging technologies based on business needs, and assess the relevance 
and potential value to the organisation.

ADULTS IN CUSTODY

Emergency Management
The Emergency Support Group developed a comprehensive training program which will deliver Primary 
Response Team (PRT) capability to prisons.  In the event of a critical or emergency incident, particularly in 
regional prisons, primary response training will enable local staff to respond quickly to maintain the situation 
until specialised assistance arrives or to bring the situation to a successful and safe resolution. 

The first phase will be to select and train PRT Section Leaders with relevant skills, to enable them to respond 
to critical incidents requiring planned use of force. 

The second phase will entail training prison-based staff in the areas of riot control and associated skills that will 
enhance the ability of prisons to maintain and resolve situations at a local level.

2009/10 saw the implementation of Local Emergency Management Plans Statewide at each prison.

The local plans are aligned to the Department’s Emergency Management Framework and cover the actions and 
procedures to assist prisons in responding to major emergency situations. Mandatory emergency management 
exercises, solidified in policy, ensure the Department is improving staff capabilities through continued major 
incident management practice.

Development of the Department’s Business Continuity Project (BCP) also began in this period. The BCP is a 
plan to ensure fast system recovery following a major disruption to services.

The overarching BCP Framework, once completed (delivery date Oct 2010), will provide all Department 
business areas with guidance in the creation of local business continuity plans appropriate for their area.
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Intelligence Services and Drug Detection Unit
There was much advancement in security in 2009/10.

�� Three of the four maximum-security prisons now have collators and the fourth will be recruited shortly. 
The intent of the collator position is to provide up-to-date intelligence products to their respective 
security teams, helping them to take a proactive approach. This has already resulted in some positive 
outcomes such as:

an average increase of 37% in the number of information reports submitted 

a marked improvement in the quality of information reports

the prevention of a planned $100,000 drug trafficking operation in the prison system.
�� Staff from the Justice Intelligence Service (JIS) are members of the national Preventing Violence 

Extremism Working Group and the Countering Violent Terrorism Working Group. This Federal initiative 
is designed to contribute to the security of the Australian community through the coordination of a 
nationwide cooperative framework to counter terrorism and its consequences. It involves sharing 
intelligence and training knowledge and guidelines.

�� The Department established links with other law enforcement agencies including the Australian Crime 
Commission (ACC) to improve intelligence sharing across agencies.

�� A Memorandum of Understanding (MOU) was agreed to with the WA Police State Security Unit that 
provides an increased intelligence exchange through the debriefing of identified offenders.

�� There were significant improvements in the provision of proactive intelligence service across the Adult 
Custodial division. This included an increased training component for prison officers in the entry level 
training program. 

�� In May 2010 a Drug Detection Unit (DDU) dog handler attended the Drug Detection Dog Trials in 
Victoria along with representatives from all State correctional and law enforcement agencies. The 
Department’s handler and his dog finished third overall, the highest of any other correctional dog 
handling team.

ADULTS IN CUSTODY

making news
THE Department’s Drug Detection Unit 
(DDU) has finished third at this year’s 
National Service Dog Trials in Victoria, 
outclassing dogs from more than 24 
military and law enforcement agencies. 

Hosted by the Australian Service Dog 
Association and Victoria Corrective 
Services earlier this month, the event 
provided an opportunity for service 
handlers to represent their agency in their 
specialised discipline while demonstrating 
and testing their dog’s skills. 

For the first time in Department history 
DCS WA sent its own representative, 
Drug Detection Officer James Fisher and 
his trusty sidekick, five-year-old Labrador 
Gizmo. 

James and Gizmo finished a very 
respectable third in the Substance 
Detection category, the highest of any 
corrective services dog in Australia. 

“Gizmo was put through four searches 

during the two-day trials: a box search, 
people search, cell search and vehicle 
search where he found drugs in the fuel 
cap door,” he said. 

“Overall, Gizmo searched really well. 
At no stage during the trials did he false 
indicate and he had a great search drive. 

“Since Gizmo carries out these searches 
on a daily basis, his training leading up to 
the event focused on hitting all types of 
drugs as well as taking him through runs 
where I, as handler, was also unaware of 
where the drugs were placed.” 

James said without the support of senior 
management and the Commissioner, the 
Unit’s attendance would not have been 
possible. 

“Hopefully our success will pave the way 
for future representations and possibly a 
first place in the near future.” 

Gizmo joined the Drug Detection Unit in 
2008 after time with customs.

15 May 2010
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Primary Industry Farms
The Department operates three prison farms, located at Karnet, Wooroloo 
and Pardelup, to supply essential food products for the prison system.  
The farms aim to produce all of the milk and eggs and as much sheep 
and beef meat as possible for the prison system. 

Karnet Prison Farm is the Department’s primary processing facility. It 
operates an abattoir, dairy, and poultry barn.  Wooroloo Prison Farm 
breeds prime lambs for market, culls ewes for the Karnet abattoirs and 
grows fodder for the livestock at Wooroloo and Karnet.  Pardelup’s 
production is directed to beef breeding for the abattoir and prime lamb 
production for the open market.  The proceeds from lamb sales are used 
to purchase yearling cattle and hoggets suitable for Karnet’s abattoir.

In addition to the supply of meat, milk and eggs from the three prison farms, 
10 prison sites also operate traditional market gardens, hothouses and/
or hydroponic sheds for the production of vegetables for consumption by 
prisoners. The Department also operates orchards at Wooroloo, Karnet, 
Pardelup and Albany, providing citrus and stone fruit in season. 

Vegetable processing industries operate at Bunbury Regional and 
Casuarina prisons where produce direct from the prison farms and 
market gardens is processed, packaged and distributed across the 
prison system. 

Primary and secondary food production is undertaken by prisoners and 
linked to traineeships in Agriculture, Horticulture, Rural Operations, Meat 
Production and Food Processing.

ADULTS IN CUSTODY

Work Camps
Work camps have been operating in Western Australia for 12 years. They are widely acknowledged as a 
leading correctional innovation, particularly with regard to providing reparation to the community and improving 
community safety through preparing prisoners effectively for release and therefore reducing recidivism. 

The aim of work camps is the successful re-entry of offenders into the community, preparing them to undertake 
stable employment and live a law-abiding lifestyle. This is achieved through ongoing collaboration with regional 
communities to engage prisoners in meaningful and worthwhile projects which enhance community life and 
maintain community assets and services. It is clearly evident that the host communities embrace and support 
the work camps, which in turn positively influences community perceptions about corrective services.

Based in rural and remote communities, work camps are small facilities organisationally attached to a home 
prison. The prisoners are held in custody on a regime of trust, free of the physical barriers found in prisons. 
Work camps offer an alternative to traditional imprisonment for eligible, minimum-security prisoners and are a 
prime example of working in partnership with the community.

While at work camps, prisoners undertake a range of valuable work projects in local communities, under an 
officer’s supervision. The structured workday in a public setting helps prisoners develop employment and 
social skills which address their reintegration needs.

In 2009/10 work camps continued to make a positive difference in regional Western Australia through 
environmental, heritage, cultural, tourism and recreational projects, as well as disaster relief. 

In the last twelve months, approximately 92 prisoners and 28 officers worked on numerous projects and 
delivered more than 56,107 hours of community work, totalling a value of $1.4 million. Most of this work would 
otherwise not have been completed due to lack of resources and/or volunteers.

Some projects completed by work camps in 2009/10 included:
�� construction of a shade house at Bungarun Work Camp, a combined effort between Bungarun Derby 

TAFE, Derby Visitor Centre and the work camp – the purpose of this area was to propagate indigenous 
plants from the region and assist with the regeneration of local species. Once propagated, the plants 
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are returned to the natural bush, waterways and the community
�� general maintenance and landscaping of grounds at the Laverton Hospital and Community Health 

Centre 
�� general maintenance and landscaping of the Leonora Police Station, courthouse and St John 

Ambulance base
�� restoration of the old school building at the Gwalia tourist mine
�� maintenance of the Munda Biddi and Denmark to Nornalup heritage trails 
�� construction of ablutions at Lights Beach in Walpole
�� tree planting and landscaping in Kununurra 
�� clearing tree branches and general assistance to the Wyndham Shire after tropical cyclone damage
�� a major restoration project at the Bungarun heritage site 
�� assistance to Green Skills in Denmark in the construction of a 3km walking trail along the Denmark 

River
�� removal of 18 tonnes of newspaper for recycling from the Kellerberrin Lions Club
�� planning and construction of a new garden at Dryandra aged care facility that has a sensory garden, 

water features and landscaped areas. 

ADULTS IN CUSTODY

Along with these projects, the Work Camp business area achieved 
the following results:

�� Work Camp Policy Directive (PD60) was approved and installed 
on the intranet. This raised the profile of the work camp program 
and provided strict guidelines for work camp placement and 
activities, improving its long-term prospects.

�� Re-integration Leave Policy (PD66) was completed and endorsed 
by the Commissioner. This is an incentive policy for prisoners 
to participate in the work camp program and gain additional 
home leave entitlements. Its purpose is to encourage further 
participation in voluntary rehabilitation activities in work camps.
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ADULTS IN CUSTODY

Adult Offender Employment Review
A Statewide review of adult offender employment was undertaken between July 2009 and March 2010 in order 
to develop a strategic ‘whole of agency’ focus to maximise the benefits that offender employment activities 
provide.  

Offender employment and training is regarded as a key priority for the Department and is integral to a structured 
day framework for prisoners.  A structured day framework allows prisoners to be fully engaged in positive 
activities that address their offending behaviour and assist them to develop life and work skills that improve the 
chances of a successful transition to the community on release.

The review identified a pressing need to professionalise activities in prison industries in terms of planning, 
business development, relationships with partners, financial management, performance management, and 
data collection and reporting.

The review made 52 recommendations in relation to improving outcomes for offenders in custody and in the community. 

The review identified the following:
�� A number of organisational units are involved in the provision of employment related services to 

offenders however, these units operate without the benefit of a clear direction and strategic framework.  
�� Significant levels of unemployment and under-employment exist within the offender groups.
�� A strategic ‘whole of agency’ focus is recommended to address the above issues in order to maximise 

the benefits that offender employment activities provide.  
�� There is a pressing need to professionalise industries.
�� An Offender Employment Policy is proposed to provide a framework for the future of offender 

employment as a strong and successful entity within the Department, valued by the community and 
Government and viewed as an investment, rather than as an expense. This would be supported by a 
new governance framework that includes the establishment of an Offender Employment Board and a 
new organisational structure to manage offender employment.

Child Protection
A review of the Memorandum of Understanding between the Department of Corrective Services and the 
Department of Child Protection (DCP) was undertaken to specifically target the unique needs and wellbeing 
of prisoners’ children.

A DCP senior field officer was appointed to work within the prison system across the State. This position 
works out of Boronia Pre-release Centre for Women and Bandyup Women’s Prison and liaises with all other 
WA prisons to ensure mutual exchange of information between the Department and DCP is based on the 
best interests of the child. 

The DCP senior field officer assesses all child protection matters relating to the children of prisoners, 
particularly children who are visiting and residing with their mothers in custody. The position also acts as a 
pivotal point of reference for both agencies to ensure best practice and standards setting is achieved.   

The respective executives of both Departments meet on a regular basis to ensure cross-Government 
collaboration and cooperation.
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ADULTS IN CUSTODY

Future Directions
In 2010/11, the Adult Custodial division will:

�� continue its review of all offender employment policies and 
practices. The review is examining all facets of employment 
including prison industries, work camps and work orders as well 
as vocational training and re-entry services

�� build on its strategic prisoner management focus in areas such as 
prison accommodation, facilities, infrastructure, staffing, prisoner 
cultural diversity and case management, to ensure the continued 
delivery of professional prison services.
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COMMUNITY AND  
YOUTH JUSTICE

During 2009/10 the realignment of the former Community and Juvenile Justice (CJJ) division to 
Community Youth Justice (CYJ) was completed, resulting in the establishment of two distinct 
service delivery arms – Youth Justice Services (community and custodial) and Adult Community 
Corrections.
The division established a range of performance indicators (PIs) and targets which are linked to the Department’s 
strategic plan and key result areas.  

The PIs and targets monitor achievement in areas related to:
�� advice provision
�� success rates of community dispositions
�� timely completion of offender assessments
�� community work attendance. 
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Through Adult Community Corrections (ACC), the Community 
and Youth Justice Division ensures the safety of the community 
by effectively managing adult offenders in accordance with 
legislation, and encourages offenders to lead positive, law-
abiding lifestyles.  

Key Achievements and Challenges 2009/10
During the year, the Department:

�� realigned the existing Community and Youth Justice (CYJ) 
centres in the metropolitan area by establishing seven Adult 
Community Corrections (ACC) centres dedicated to managing 
adult offenders only. This will ensure a more focused service to 
adult offenders

�� managed 11,885 adults on 15,059 community corrections orders, 
involving various levels of community supervision, referrals to 
suitable treatment programs, brief interventions, and monitoring 
compliance with order conditions

�� implemented an updated breach enforcement policy. This guided 
staff and stakeholders on standard Department responses to 
all non-compliance, including unexcused absences from court-
ordered community work, to promote judicial and community 
confidence in the integrity of orders

�� improved workforce stability by converting a number of contract 
positions to permanent positions

�� provided the Core Operations Foundation training which was 
completed by 13 community corrections officers, improving skills 
for operational staff to case manage offenders appropriately

�� handled increasingly complex workload demands, including the 
increasing number of offenders subject to the Dangerous Sexual 
Offenders Act 2006

�� facilitated a significant independent review into ACC involving 
internal and external consultation in order to develop service 
delivery that is rigorous, credible and contemporary. The review 
outcomes will be examined further by the Department and an 
implementation plan developed.

Key Statistics
�� 11,885 adults were managed in the community during the 

financial year of which 4,502 were Aboriginal.
�� As at 30 June 2010, 5,031 adults were subject to community 

corrections orders (1,658 Aboriginal adults).
�� Adult Community Corrections provided 12,035 reports (both 

verbal and written) to courts and 3,688 Early Release Reports to 
releasing authorities.

ADULT COMMUNITY  
CORRECTIONS
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Workload Management Strategy
A Workload Management Strategy, previously formed by the Department and the Civil Service Association of 
Western Australia/Community and Public Sector Union (CPSU), continued throughout 2009/10. The CPSU 
acknowledged the positive impact the strategy had demonstrated and stated it effectively addressed a number 
of issues, preventing escalation of industrial issues. Both parties agreed to continue to assess the impact of 
the strategy over the coming financial year.

ADULT COMMUNITY  
CORRECTIONS

COMMUNITY work offenders will 
be more visible to the public with the 
launch of the new Repay WA vests on 
the weekend. 

The yellow vests – to be worn by outdoor 
adult community work parties – are 
designed to increase public awareness 
and confidence in community work as an 
effective sentencing tool. 

Corrective Services Minister Christian 
Porter, who launched the vests, said it 
was important for the public to literally 
see community work as an appropriate 
sentencing tool in their community. 

“The vests are about restoring confidence 
in community-based orders and 
ensuring the public can see the benefits 
of the court-ordered work in their local 
communities,” he said. 

The vests were printed by prisoners 
at Casuarina Prison at a cost of 
approximately $1.60 each.

making news
3 August 2009

Community Work
Community work orders enable offenders to repay their debt to WA by contributing to important not-for-profit 
community projects. In 2009/10, offenders performed 44,000 hours of work on community projects.  At any one 
time there are some 400 projects operating across the State from Derby to Albany.

Community work provides a meaningful sentencing option, reflects community expectation of punishment and 
encourages a return to law-abiding behaviour. This option is also cost-effective. The average cost of keeping 
an adult offender in custody is around 10 times the cost of managing an offender in the community. 

A current strategy involves coordinating the management of all community work officers within the metropolitan 
area. This will ensure better scheduling of supervised work parties and closer scrutiny of offender absenteeism.

Other strategies being developed involve ‘swifter justice’ to refine the work suitability assessment of offenders 
to reduce the time between order issue and work commencement. The monthly average compliance rate for 
the metropolitan areas steadily improved over the year from 45% to 70%. The regional areas also showed 
improvement, although not as marked,  increasing from 23% to 35% compliance. This will be a continuing area 
of focus for improvement.
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Other initiatives have included the introduction of the Repay WA vests for adult offenders so the public can 
identify community work taking place, and the re-opening of the former Riverbank Detention Centre as the 
metropolitan day centre for community work operations and other community-based initiatives for adults and 
young people and low-risk, minimum-security prisoners cleared for supervised work in the community. 

Riverbank is a central hub for community work, addressing re-offending through strong community partnerships 
and offering pathways for offenders to engage in community activities. Riverbank provides a central skills area 
for offenders to develop skills in specialised trades and light industries programs. The establishment of a 
partnership with MPA Skills saw the training rooms, arts and most of the manual arts workshops refurbished.  

Ninety-seven adult offenders and three juvenile offenders received ‘White Card’ – Construction Industry Safety 
Awareness Training; 155 received participation certificates.

More than 400 individual offenders undertaking community work at Riverbank generated 2,854 hours of 
general maintenance and 3,680 hours of painting in 2009/10.  This equated to more than $105,000 worth of 
offender labour.  

Dangerous Sexual Offenders
The Dangerous Sexual Offenders Act 2006 provides for the Director of Public Prosecutions (DPP) to apply 
to the Supreme Court for a continuing detention order or a continuing supervision order for serious sexual 
offenders who continue to present a serious risk to the safety of the community.  

There are currently 24 dangerous sexual offenders managed within the Interagency Public Protection Strategy 
framework, with ten supervised in the community and 14 subject to a Continuing Detention Order.  Detention 
Orders are reviewed by the Supreme Court annually and Supervision Orders have ranged from five to ten 
years in duration. 

The Department is contributing to a review of the Dangerous Sexual Offenders Act 2006 to improve its 
effectiveness in managing the risks posed by these offenders in the community.  Amendments to the Act have 
been proposed by the Department of the Attorney General in consultation with the Office of the Director of 
Public Prosecutions, the WA Police and the Department of Corrective Services.

Victim Services
The Victim Notification Register (VNR) is an information service for victims of crime. It allows victims to receive 
information about the perpetrator of the crime against them for as long as that person is under the supervision 
of the Department for that offence.

As at 30 June 2010 there were 1,476 victims registered to receive information about 1,351 offenders. There 
were 322 applications to register with VNR to receive information during the year, with seven deemed ineligible.

The Victim-offender Mediation Unit (VMU) provides a mediation service between victims and offenders. 
Mediation is entered into voluntarily by both parties and is free, impartial and private.

VMU offers the following services:
�� Reparative mediation – the victim of a non-violent offence may meet with the offender to discuss forms 

ADULT COMMUNITY  
CORRECTIONS
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of compensation and reparation. 
�� Protective conditions process – victims and offenders reach an agreement about the level and nature 

of contact (if any) between them.
�� Victim-offender dialogue – a one off, face to face meeting conducted at the victim’s request for 

therapeutic purposes.

The Victim-offender Mediation Unit (VMU) received referrals for 3,593 offenders during the financial year. The 
Unit assisted 3,702 victims during the financial year.

Integrated Offender Management 
With the vision of upholding the integrity of court orders, ensuring compliance of offenders and addressing 
their needs, the Department’s policy direction of Integrated Offender Management (IOM) is aimed at reducing 
recidivism, encouraging social reintegration, and enhancing public safety. Development of an IOM policy was 
instigated in 2009/10.

IOM provides a framework for the seamless integrated management of adult offenders and young people in 
custody or in the community throughout an offender’s engagement with the Department.  

Premised on case management, IOM involves a collaborative teamwork approach to deliver a consistent, 
continuous, consolidated commitment to the management of offenders.

This is achieved by systematically identifying offenders’ risks and needs using validated evidence based 
assessment tools, implementing and enforcing management plans, monitoring offenders’ progress and regular 
re-assessment.

ADULT COMMUNITY  
CORRECTIONS

Strong principles recognising the needs and concerns of 
victims and safety of the community are a focal point in all 
aspects of offender management.

One of the overarching goals is to make a positive 
difference in the lives of offenders while they are under 
the Department’s management, through an integrated 
approach comprising the right mix of interventions to 
reduce re-offending. 

Future Directions 
In 2010/11, the Department will:

�� implement the agreed recommendations of the 
functional review of adult community-based 
services

�� continue the Community Work Management review 
and implement recommendations

�� continue implementing the Occupational Safety 
and Health review recommendations

�� work on managing expectations and procedures 
relating to the supervision and, in particular, 
enforcement of offenders in the community

�� relocate and concentrate efforts to distribute 
resources among the new Youth and Adult 
Community Justice Centres

�� finalise the Integrated Offender Management policy
�� review the role of the Victim-offender Mediation 

Unit.
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Through its Youth Justice Services (YJS), the Department ensures that the intent of the 
Young Offenders Act 1994 is followed. Priority rests with diversion, family involvement and 
rehabilitation, abiding by the Act’s principle to use detention only as a last resort. 

Key Achievements and Challenges 2009/10
During the year, the Department:

YOUTH JUSTICE SERVICES

�� finalised the realignment of the Community and Juvenile Justice 
(CJJ) division to establish two distinct service delivery arms – 
one for adult community justice services and one for youth justice 
services

�� created four integrated youth justice offices in the metropolitan 
area 

�� developed a draft Youth Justice Framework for WA
�� developed a Youth Justice Policy and circulated to all staff
�� established targets and measures for performance across Youth 

Justice Services
�� continued discussions with WA Police in relation to taking over 

the transportation of young people.  A service level agreement 
was drafted along with performance indicators for a proposed 
12-month pilot

�� finalised the construction of the new 24-bed Turner Unit at 
Banksia Hill Detention Centre

�� managed record high detention numbers at Rangeview Remand 
Centre and Banksia Hill Detention Centre.

Key Statistics 
�� 1,965 young people (excluding Juvenile Justice Team referrals) 

were managed in the community in 2009/10.
�� 1,124 Aboriginal young people (excluding Juvenile Justice Team referrals) were managed in the 

community.
�� As at 30 June 2010, 939 young people (excluding Juvenile Justice Team referrals) were subject to 

community orders (including 571 Aboriginal young people).
�� As at 30 June 2010 there were 932 distinct individuals with Juvenile Justice Team cases open of which 

460 were Aboriginal young people.
�� 3,649 reports were written for the various courts.
�� The average daily population of young people in custody was 168, compared with 151 in 2008/09.
�� The State’s two juvenile detention facilities had a total of 2,206 receptions of young people on remand. 

The average length of stay on remand for young people discharged was 20.06 days.
�� Of 2,289 total receptions, 280 were where the young person was either received as sentenced or 

became sentenced during the period. The average length in custody for sentenced young people 
discharged during the year was 18.19 weeks, including time spent on remand.
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Justice Servrvicces
� continued ddiscussiooooonoo s s with WWA Policeeeeeeeee in rrrer lation tto oo tatatataaattatataaakikkikikikkkkik ngngngngngngnngggg ooo o over 

the transpsportationnn ooooof f younungg people.  AAAAA seereeee vice level aaagrgrgrgrgrgrgrreeeeeeee ment 
was draafted alonngggg g wiw thth p performance indiccccccators for a proposed 
12-moonth pilot

� finalaliised the ccononnsssts ruction of the neewwe  24444-4444 bed Turner Unit at 
BBanksia Hiilll  Deteennnntit on Centre

� managed rerecord hhhhhhhhhigh detention numbbbbbers aaat Rangeview Remand 
CeCentntrere a and Banksksksskskksksia Hill Detention Ceeeeeentre.
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Regional Youth Justice Services
The Regional Youth Justice Services (RYJS), which has been successfully operating in the Goldfields 
(Kalgoorlie) and the Mid West Gascoyne (Geraldton) regions since late 2008, will be expanded to the East 
and West Kimberley and the Pilbara as a result of funding provided by the Royalties for Regions Program in 
2009/10.

These centres aim to provide services and programs to help reduce the level of young people’s involvement in 
the youth justice system and the need to be remanded in custody in Perth, while improving community safety 
in each region. 

RYJS works with young people and their families who have offended or are at risk of offending.  RYJS provides 
the following: 

�� Outreach services, including telephone counselling and/or home visits, for young people and families.
�� Juvenile Justice Teams to steer young people away from the formal justice system.  JJT coordinators 

and police officers work collaboratively to achieve positive outcomes for the young person, victims of 
crime and the wider community.  

�� Community work programs which provide young people who offend with practical outcomes and skills 
that assist them in later life.

�� An improved bail system to reduce the numbers of young people held in police lock-ups or remanded 
to Perth.

�� Emergency accommodation services.
�� Youth Justice Officers (YJOs) working with young people subject to Court Orders, those released from 

detention and servicing local courts.

Since the implementation of the Regional Youth Justice Services, there has been an increase in police 
cautioning and Juvenile Justice Team referrals along with closer working relationships with local Magistrates.

YOUTH JUSTICE SERVICES

Supervised Bail
In 2009/10 the Rangeview Supervised Bail and Liaison Unit placed 719 young people on the Supervised Bail 
Program, which aims to reduce unnecessary or overly long periods of custodial remand for young people. 

The Regional Youth Justice Services aim to provide appropriate support systems and accommodation to 
increase the likelihood of young people successfully completing bail while remaining in their local community. 
The service is primarily used when the Court determines a young person is eligible for bail, but a responsible 
adult for them to stay with cannot be located.

The average bail period in 2009/10 was 32 days, saving 23,278 days that young people would have spent 
in custody. Aboriginal young people accounted for 402 (55%) of those placed on supervised bail. Further, 
the reduction in the need to transport young people (particularly Aboriginal young people) from their land 
represented a financial and social cost saving.  
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Banksia Hill/Rangeview Capital Works Projects
The first phase of the capital works program at Banksia Hill Detention 
Centre reached completion in early 2010. The newly commissioned 
Turner Unit provides 24 additional beds for male detainees. Minor works 
at Rangeview Remand Centre were also completed in early 2010 and 
provided a program facility to ensure an equitable service for young 
women and girls.

The second phase of the capital works program at Banksia Hill commenced 
in 2009/10. The capacity of Banksia Hill will increase to accommodate 
all young people in detention (male and female, sentenced and remand). 
This will allow Rangeview to be developed into an 80-bed Young Adults 
Facility (YAF) for 18 to 24 year-old male prisoners. 

The emphasis of the facility will be to assist young men to take 
responsibility for their offending behaviour in a safe and supportive 
environment. 

The YAF will offer opportunities and support to develop skills by 
providing education, training, employment and personal programs to all 
young men. Such programs would include drug and alcohol counselling/
education, family and domestic violence, financial management, impulse 
control and positive parenting.  

Significant engagement with families to encourage young men to make 

YOUTH JUSTICE SERVICES

positive changes will be a key component of the operation of the centre.  

Young men completing their custodial sentence in the facility will be assessed around cultural, social, educational 
and vocational needs and will have an action plan to determine their future goals and what skills they require 
to achieve those goals. Each action plan will be reviewed regularly and will be linked with community based 
supports on release. 

Pilot Youth Justice Initiative 
The Pilot Youth Justice Initiative (PYJI) is a collaborative interagency project to improve the case management 
of young people identified by the President of the Children’s Court of Western Australia and the Chairman of the 
Supervised Release Review Board (SRRB). The initiative aims to address the systematic barriers to effective 
intervention for young people who commit serious offences, including repeated offending, and focuses on 
assessment, planning, case management and service delivery.  

Programs and Psychological Services for Young People who Offend
Youth Psychological Services provide court assessments and help in the case management of young people 
in custodial centres and the community. Psychological interventions are undertaken in relation to offending 
behaviour, mental health issues, suicide/self harm behaviour, anger management, drug use, grief and family 
and relationship difficulties.

Youth Psychological Services completed the following during 2009/10 :
�� Psychological reports for court – 339
�� Psychological reports for the Supervised Release Board – 178

Through the various custodial programs, 217 clients attended 247 sessions. 

Transport of Young People in Detention
In May 2010, the Government announced a transfer of funding from the WA Police to the Department for the 
transport of young people in detention in regional Western Australia. 

The Department will take back this responsibility from October 2010.  Police have held the responsibility of 
transporting young people in regional areas since 2000. 
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The decision means police will no longer have to transport young people over long distances in vehicles 
not designed for long distance transportation, therefore reducing the risk to detainees.  It also means the 
Department will have control over recruitment, selection, training and supervision of staff to ensure high 
standards are maintained.

The officers managing the transportation of juveniles will be specially trained to be able to deal with juvenile 
offender issues, thereby enhancing through-care and the facilitation of a safe, secure and decent transportation 
system.

Under the new agreement, police will provide the initial transport to an agreed regional hub, with Departmental 
staff providing the remainder of the escort by either road or air.  All police stations within a four-hour drive of 
Perth will be considered hubs.  In more remote regions, hubs will be those centres with appropriate holding, 
transport and airstrip facilities.

Future Directions 2010/11
In 2010/11, the Department will:

�� expand the Regional Youth Justice Services to the East and West Kimberley (the Pilbara to follow in 
2011/12)

�� take over the transportation of young people in detention from WA Police  (12 month pilot)
�� begin a review of the Young Offenders Act 1994
�� review the Pilot Youth Justice Initiative 
�� continue to develop the service model for the new Young Adults Facility.

 

A GROUP of young Aboriginal clients is going bush 
and getting in touch with their cultural heritage as part 
of their community work. 

The young people from the North Metropolitan Youth 
Justice Service (NMYJS) will help fix fire-damaged 
tourist tracks at Yanchep National Park under the 
guidance of an Aboriginal park ranger who will also 
mentor them in Aboriginal traditions and heritage. 

NMYJS Senior Case Support Officer Pauline Stuart 
said the young people, would learn about bush tucker 
as well as native flora and fauna and bush survival skills 
– traditions handed down by Aboriginal elders. 

“We had identified a need for programs in the Yanchep 
area and approached the national park’s administrators 
about putting something in place for young male 
clients,” Pauline said. 

“Because the fire burnt through about 8,000 hectares 

of bushland, there is much repair work that needs to 
be done, such as clearing and digging out tracks, 
revegetation projects and repairing park infrastructure 
as well as starting work on new displays. 

“The sheer amount of work ensures the program will be 
long term, which will benefit both the young people and 
the community.” 

Pauline said once the weekly program was well 
established, they would look at offering young people 
some type of accreditation or traineeship such as 
qualified park rangers. 

“There is also the opportunity for young female clients 
to take part in a mosaic program currently being 
undertaken at the park and to gain valuable work 
experience in the park’s office,” she said. 

A community work officer will accompany four young 
offenders each Wednesday to oversee the project.

making news
10 March 2010

YOUTH JUSTICE SERVICES
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The Department provides effective direction for offender management and associated services, 
incorporating sentence management, education and vocational training, prisoner employment, 
program delivery, suicide prevention, specialist assessments and health services.

OFFENDER MANAGEMENT

Key Achievements and Challenges for 2009/10
In the past year, the Department:

�� developed a performance measurement framework for program delivery
�� established the Department’s Clinical Governance Unit which has the dual role of developing and 

evaluating programs provided by the Department with the aim of continuous improvement in program 
development and delivery

�� developed a new offender programs business model which continues the Department’s focus on 
improving the quality and quantity of programs. The model also assists in meeting current demand for 
offender programs across prisons and the community

�� established the Aboriginal Program Facilitation Unit which has seen the expansion and improvement 
of program delivery to Aboriginal offenders in prisons and the community

�� significantly increased delivery of treatment programs and launched new programs 
�� boosted partnerships with external service providers, which enhanced service delivery across prison 

and community interventions. In the community, contracted providers delivered domestic violence 
perpetrator programs in metropolitan and regional areas of Western Australia

�� boosted education and vocational service delivery 
�� expanded prisoner career and employment services to include career and employer expos, career 

counselling, job preparedness skills, employability skills and post placement support
�� won both the Western Australian and the Australian Training Award in the category of Training Initiative 

in 2009, for the Auswest Specialist Education Training Services (ASETS) through-care model.

Key Statistics
�� In 2009/10, a total of 5,487 prisoners took part in accredited education and vocational training and were 

enrolled in 31,103 units.  These qualifications ranged from adult basic education to career and employment 
services and vocational training in more than 18 industry areas, traineeships and tertiary studies.

�� Employment coordinators assisted 150 prisoners into employment after release under Career and 
Employment Services.

�� Programs conducted in the community targeting family and domestic violence, substance abuse, 
managing emotions and sexual offending were completed by 730 offenders.

�� Some 5,605 counselling sessions were provided to offenders in community justice centres.
�� There were 10,082 referrals to the Prison Counselling Service.
�� The Aboriginal Visitors Scheme conducted 9,089 visits to offenders.
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Education and Vocational Training for Offenders
A total of 5,487 prisoners took part in accredited education and vocational training and were enrolled in 
31,103 units.  These qualifications ranged from adult basic education to career and employment services 
and vocational training in more than 18 industry areas, traineeships and tertiary studies.

The actual number of students enrolled in training rose by almost 10% from 5,396 in 2008/09 to 5,913 in 
2009/10.

In March 2010 the Council of Australian Governments’ Report to Government Services summary for 
2008-09 was released. The Department reports on the percentage of prisoners eligible for educational 
opportunities that are actively participating in educational programs each year.  Western Australia reported 
48.7% of prisoners were enrolled in educational programs during 2008/09.  This figure was the second 
highest behind SA at 66% and compares well against the Australian average of 39%.  

The Education and Vocational Training Unit hosted the Australasian Correctional Education Conference in 
August 2009.  More than 250 international and Australian delegates attended the four day event.

Career and Employment Services
Increasing the scope of career and employment services to offenders was a priority for the Department 
in 2009/10.  The service expanded to the Great Southern region and prisoners across the State were 
offered career and employer expos, career counselling, job preparedness skills, employability skills and 
post placement support. In total, 1,413 prisoners were assisted with employment and career support.  In 
2009/10 Employment Coordinators assisted 150 prisoners into employment after release under Career and 
Employment Services.

OFFENDER MANAGEMENT

Offender Programs 
The Department’s delivery of treatment programs continued to rise in 
2009/10. The Department has increased prison program delivery by 
more than 146% since 2007/08.

The number of offenders participating in community and prison programs 
increased significantly due to the introduction of strategies to increase 
staff levels and the addition of new facilities at some prisons. 

A total of 2,083 prisoners participated in prison programs in 2009/10.

This represented a growth of 68%.  Of these prisoners, 1,906 completed 
a program, compared to 766 in 07/08, which is an increase of 148%.

The Department has improved program delivery to Aboriginal offenders. 
In 2009/10, 935 Aboriginal offenders participated in a prison program with 
848 of those completing.  The number of female offenders participating 
in prison programs also increased significantly with 211 participating in a 
program and 202 completing in 2009/10, compared to 116 participating 
and 107 completing in the previous year. 

Programs delivered by the Department in the community increased by 
56% in 2009/10.  In 2009/10, 730 offenders participated in a community 
program, which included 409 offenders participating in domestic violence 
programs delivered by external agencies. 

The Department delivered 321 program places to offenders in the 
community in 2009/10. A total 157 offenders completed a community 
program delivered by the Department, which is an increase of 86% from 
2008/09.  The total number of offenders who completed a program in 
the community, including those who completed an externally delivered 
domestic violence program, was 359.

The Department introduced the following programs in 2009/10:  
�� Pathways, a 100 hour, addictions offending group program was 
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launched in prisons in July 2009 (replacing Moving on From Dependency) and commenced delivery in 
the community in March 2010, replacing Breaking Out.

�� Choice, Change and Consequences, a 100 hour general offending program for women targeting a 
range of criminogenic needs relating to women’s offending, which aims to reduce a woman’s risk of 
re-offending, was piloted at Bandyup Women’s Prison.

�� A new Intensive Sex Offender Treatment Program was piloted at Bunbury Regional Prison. 
�� A Sex Offender Maintenance Program for medium-high risk sexual offenders who have completed 

prison-based programs and require ongoing support upon release to the community was introduced 
in 2009/10.

�� A new medium intensity Sex Offender Treatment Program was piloted at Greenough Regional Prison 
for Aboriginal men.

Cognitive Skills Expansion
In September 2009 the Cognitive Skills Unit was established to coordinate and support the expansion of 
cognitive skills programs across the State.  Consequently, the number of cognitive skills programs delivered 
in the 2009/10 financial year increased to 969 which was a significant increase from the previous year’s figure 
of 596. 

OFFENDER MANAGEMENT

Community Interventions
Program delivery to offenders in the community increased during 2009/10. 
A total of 730 group placements, which targeted family and domestic 
violence, substance abuse, managing emotions and sexual offending, 
were delivered by staff and contractors. Overall, there were improvements 
in completion rates for offenders undergoing community programs. 

During the financial year, 5,605 psychological sessions were offered to 
offenders in the community. These sessions were delivered in community 
justice centres.

Achievements in community program delivery in 2009/10:  
�� A stronger collaborative working relationship between community 

and prison programs enabled the provision of programs in both 
settings through the use of shared resources.

�� New contract providers began delivery of domestic violence 
(DV) perpetrator programs in six metropolitan and five regional 
locations.

�� A Sex Offender Maintenance Program for medium-high risk 
sexual offenders who have completed prison-based programs 
and require ongoing support upon release to the community was 
introduced.

�� A new community-based sex offender treatment program was 
piloted in a rolling/open-ended format.  This allows offenders to 
join at numerous points in the program and targets their treatment 
needs in a more responsive manner.

�� The appointment of a Senior Programs Officer in Geraldton 
enabled the provision of an Indigenous Family Violence (IFV) 
program as part of the Barndimalgu Court.  This court addresses 
Aboriginal family and domestic violence.  
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New Offender Programs Business Model 
Implementation of a new offender programs business model began in 2009/10. The new Offender Programs 
Business Model, through the provision of an integrated service delivery framework, will facilitate further 
reductions in re-offending by increasing the number and quality of delivered therapeutic and psycho-educational 
programs. The business model not only supports current program delivery requirements but its new structure 
will enable the provision of expanded services. It will target remote and regional areas as well as Aboriginal 
and female offenders.

When fully operational, the new model will include eight service delivery teams, with sites established throughout 
Western Australia. Each centre will have a sustainable team of facilitators capable of delivering combined 
clinical services and community intervention programs to offenders in custodial and community settings. 

As the model will see the amalgamation of prison and community programs, staff will have the opportunity to 
become skilled across a variety of program areas. 

Clinical Governance
The Clinical Governance Unit was established in 2009/10 to form an integrated framework where assessment, 
counselling and clinical programs within the Department are accountable for improving the quality of services, 
measuring efficacy and safeguarding standards. The unit ensures standards are developed, monitored and 
adhered to in the areas of treatment program delivery, suicide prevention, counselling and support services, 
research and evaluation and high-risk and dangerous offenders.

Prison Counselling and Peer Support
The Prison Counselling Service (PCS) comprises psychologists and social workers who provide a 
psychologically based service to prisoners. They provide individual counselling sessions for prisoners and 
conduct risk-assessments for suicide and self-harm. The service identifies needs such as crisis or behavioural 
management, grief, anxiety and depression before, during and after incarceration.

During 2009/10, there were 10,082 referrals to the PCS. 

Prisoners were also provided assistance from prison support officers who manage teams of peer support 
prisoners at each prison.

Offender Programs Performance Measurement Framework 
In 2009/10 the Department developed a performance and monitoring framework to establish the efficiency and 
efficacy of program interventions. 

��������	
���
��
1. Rate of return to corrections 

2. Parole completion 

3. Reduction in offending (return to prison on a 
lesser offence)

 

�����
����	
���
��
4. Release status

5. Program completion

6. Program hours

7. Program capacity
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Suicide Prevention
The Department has a comprehensive suicide prevention strategy for 
adult offenders in custody which includes the following initiatives:

1. At-Risk Management System 
The Department launched an electronic At Risk Management System 
(ARMS) module in March 2010 which provides increased transparency, 
accountability and a ‘whole of prison’ approach to further reduce the 
incidents of self harm and suicide.  

ARMS is a comprehensive suicide prevention strategy for offenders 
in custody which includes primary, secondary and tertiary suicide 
prevention strategies as well as:

�� intake screening of all offenders upon admission to custody
�� orientation/reception processes to reduce stressors upon entry 

into prison
�� multi-disciplinary management of prisoners identified as at-risk 

to self.

Clinical staff from the Prison Counselling Service and Health Services 
are available at each facility to conduct risk assessments and provide 
counselling and clinical interventions.

In 2009/10 a total of 1,982 prisoner alerts were referred to ARMS. 

OFFENDER MANAGEMENT

2.   Support and Monitoring System 
The Department’s Support and Monitoring System (SAMS) was launched across the State in March 2010.

It provides a collaborative case management system for prisoners who are not at acute risk to self, but require 
intervention or additional support and monitoring while in custody. The system complements ARMS.

Offenders who might require intervention or additional support and monitoring while in custody include those considered 
emotionally vulnerable, or who have sensitive cultural and spiritual issues. Included are those with ‘Dangerous Sex 
Offender’ alerts or those who are held under the Criminal Law (Mentally Impaired Accused) Act 1996. 

In 2009/10, 315 prisoners were referred to SAMS.

3.   Suicide Awareness – Training
Suicide awareness training courses continued to be provided which included a two-day Gatekeeper Suicide 
Awareness training workshop delivered to Department staff and prisoners to increase participants’ ability to 
identify and refer people considered to be at risk to self.    

In 2009/10 116 prisoners and 474 staff were trained in the program to help them in identifying self-harm or 
suicide risk factors among prisoners. 

Dangerous Sexual Offender Psychology Team 
The Dangerous Sexual Offender (DSO) Psychology Team is involved in the assessment and management of 
offenders subject to the Dangerous Sexual Offender Act 2006.

These psychologists provide initial risk assessment reports on those considered for Dangerous Sexual 
Offender applications and prepare treatment options reports. 

Once an offender is subject to DSO court proceedings, a treatment options report is prepared. 

The DSO psychology team is also involved in the case management of offenders serving detention or 
community orders under the Act. 

In 2009/10 the DSO psychology team prepared: 
�� 16 treatment reports 
�� seven risk assessment reports.   

At 30 June 2010, the team was managing 11 offenders under the Act in the community and 13 in prison. 
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Forensic Consultant Team
The Department’s forensic consultant team provides expert advice on indeterminate prisoners and ‘life’ 
sentenced prisoners. This advice includes information relating to risk of re-offence, treatment and management 
options and preparation for release.  The team also provides pre-sentence psychological advice to courts for 
offenders convicted of murder and manslaughter offences.

The team is moving towards a more consultative role, where it will provide early assessments of indeterminate 
prisoners and act as a psychological advisory service in the whole of sentence management of such prisoners, 
helping to advise on any issues and direct interventions throughout the sentence.

Aboriginal Visitors Scheme
The Aboriginal Visitors Scheme (AVS) provides support and counselling for Aboriginal and Torres Strait 
Islander people in custody, including police custody, in WA. 

Visitors are Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander people committed to helping and supporting detainees and 
prisoners in their local areas. The aim of the scheme is to reduce the likelihood of deaths or self-harm and 
to improve the conditions and circumstances of those in custody through consultation, advice and providing 
information to decision makers. It is also a mechanism for Aboriginal community groups to be properly informed 
of conditions of custody.

OFFENDER MANAGEMENT

Number of detainees seen by Aboriginal 
visitors by location 

Location 2008/2009 2009/2010
Metropolitan   7,546 5,303

Regional   3,473 3,783

Total 11,019 9,089

Psychological Reports for Courts and Releasing Authorities
Courts and releasing authorities often request psychological reports regarding offenders to facilitate their 
decision making. The reports provide offender assessments that aid the sentencing process and enable 
informed decisions to be made when releasing offenders into the community. They take victim issues and 
community safety into account, as well as the offending behaviour needs of the individuals under consideration.

During 2009/10, 1,269 Court and Prisoners Review Board psychological reports were completed.
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Health Services
The Department’s Health Services Directorate delivers health care in all 
Department-run adult and juvenile custodial facilities. In 2009/10 health 
care was provided to a daily average population of about 3,805 adult 
prisoners (this figure excludes Acacia Prison) and 170 juvenile detainees.  
The health care provided included the initial health assessment of adult 
prisoners and juvenile detainees when received at custodial centres. 

NUMBER OF PATIENTS RECEIVING HEALTH CARE
Category 2008/2009 2009/10 Increase

Adults 3,534 3,900 10%

Juveniles 155 170 10%

Total 3,689 4,070 10%

NUMBER OF ENTRY HEALTH ASSESSMENTS PROVIDED (RECEIVALS)
Category 2008/2009 2009/10 Increase/decrease

Adults 7,586 7,096 -6%

Juveniles 1,883 1,672 -11%

Total 9,469 8,768 -7%

*The number of adult receivals in 2009/10 was 485 less than in 2008/09

COMPLETED APPOINTMENTS 
Category 2008/2009 2009/10 Increase

Adults 83,072 94,742 14%

Juveniles 13,498 13,572 0.5%

Total 96,570 108,314 12%

There was a significant increase in the number of health service 
delivery complaints received throughout the year, as shown in the table 
below.  This increase may be attributed to the work undertaken by 
the Department’s Professional Standards Division to raise awareness 
among prisoners about the complaints mechanisms available.

COMPLAINTS TO ACCESS (PROFESSIONAL STANDARDS DIVISION)
2008/2009 2009/10 Increase

25 60 140%

PRISONER GRIEVANCES (excludes complaints made to ACCESS)
2008/2009 2009/10 Increase

62 161 159%

The Department’s Health Services pharmacy is responsible for supplying 
and dispensing medication to prisoners. Extentions to the pharmacy, 
located at Hakea Prison,  were completed in early 2010 to cater for the 
increase in the prisoner population and future population increases.   
The following table represents the level of operations during 2009/10. 
This high value and high volume work provided for increased patient 
safety and improved health outcomes.

OFFENDER MANAGEMENT
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PHARMACY OPERATIONS 
Category 2008/2009 2009/10 Increase/ 

decrease
Presriptions 58,212 70,245 21% increase

Blister packs 71,142 86,696 22%  increase

Urgent supply 
packs

14,821 8,794
Note – S4 (re-
stricted) medi-
cations are no 
longer packed. 
They are sup-

plied as stocked.

41% decrease

Methadone Pre-
packs

63,891 77,911 22% increase

Prescription 
reviews

31,170 31,367 0.6% increase

Stock orders 6,138 5,945 3% decrease

Co-morbidity (mental health and addictions) clinicians provided direct 
health care to 1,600 individual patients who received medical intervention 
for mental health and addiction problems. They delivered alcohol and 
drug education and relapse prevention programs to 400 group-based 
patients.

In 2009/10 some 5,000 prisoners attended HIP HOP (Health in Prison, 
Health Outta Prison) sessions. Condoms and dental dams continued 
to be available in adult prisons via vending machines and prisoner 
‘Exit Kits’ which are provided to prisoners on release. Prisoners also 
received vaccinations for diseases such as influenza and Hepatitis B and 
treatments for conditions such as Hepatitis C and HIV.

OFFENDER MANAGEMENT

Standardised health care plans for the chronic disease conditions asthma, diabetes and cardiovascular disease 
continued to be provided for patients who required them.  Care plans documented vital health information and 
outlined scheduled patient health appointments, with related timeframes for specific interventions. The Lions 
Institute provided inreach services for 110 diabetic retinopathy screens.  

During 2009/10 the Department undertook a review of the structure and clinical programs of the Health Services 
Directorate.  The final report makes 27 recommendations for service enhancement.  The report is currently 
with the Minister for Corrective Services for consideration.

Sentence Management
The Sentence Management branch is responsible for:

�� the provision of, and compliance with, sentence calculations of all adult prisoners 
�� timely and accurate information to sentencing and releasing authorities 
�� legislative and policy advice
�� monitoring assessment
�� security classifications
�� developing individual management plans 
�� placement of prisoners.

It is also responsible for compliance with legislative requirements for parole, re-socialisation programs and 
absence permits for the purposes of rehabilitation and reintegration on compassionate grounds, and the 
provision of Departmental representation on the Prisoners Review Board.
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There are two distinct sections within the branch – Sentence Management and Release Planning.

The branch works to ensure offenders in custody are appropriately sentence-managed in line with legislative 
and policy requirements including the:

�� standards and quality control mechanisms for sentence calculations
�� management of evidence-based standards to guide prisoner assessment during their sentence
�� assessment of suitability and development of re-socialisation programs for serious category prisoners 

in consideration for their release
�� application of guidelines for the consideration and processing of absence permits
�� application of consistent, transparent and objective decision making in the consideration of all aspects 

of sentence management
�� review and continuous improvement of procedures and practices in sentence management.

The branch also contributes to major Departmental and divisional projects on matters relating to legislation and 
sentence management practices.

Individual Program Statistics

Sentence Calculations
The substantial increase in sentence calculations was maintained in 2009/10. In addition, the directorate 
absorbed the function of juvenile custodial sentence calculation in late October 2009. All sentence calculations 
are now conducted within the directorate.

Individual warrant calculations
2006/07 7,192

2007/08 11,372

2008/09 22,840

2009/10 23,120

Assessment and Classification Monitoring
The Sentence Management branch undertook a comprehensive schedule of monitoring exercises in 2009/10. 
This included reviewing compliance with significant components of the Department’s systems and regulations 
such as the Assessment and Classification system as outlined in Adult Custodial Rule 18, and providing 
guidance to facilities in respect to the monitoring findings.

An example of the monitoring is the ongoing review of the use of overrides within the Security Classification 
Checklists. Overrides are when decisions made by prison management about security classifications and 
prisoner placements are overturned by the Sentence Management directorate.   These decisions are reviewed 
for validity and appropriateness on a monthly basis.

�
����������������������
��
�
Year Number of Checklists 

performed
Overrides % of total

2008/09 13,749 700 5.1

2009/10 11,263 587 5.2
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Interstate and International Transfers
The branch coordinates the processing and consideration of interstate 
and international transfers of prisoners. These applications are usually 
made by prisoners seeking to be relocated on welfare grounds. During 
2009/10 there were 25 applications received from prisoners held in 
Western Australian prisons seeking to be transferred interstate to 
complete their sentences. There were eight applications from interstate 
prisoners seeking to be transferred to the Western Australian prison 
system to complete their sentences. One application was received 
from a prisoner held in another country to return to Western Australia 
to complete their sentence and there were two applications from foreign 
nationals held in Western Australia seeking transfer to their country of 
citizenship. These applications require extensive consideration and, as 
such, were not resolved by the end of 2009/10.

Terminally Ill Policy 
The Department maintains a register of prisoners who are considered 
to be terminally ill. The Minister for Corrective Services is provided 
with a briefing with advice for consideration and recommendation to 
the Governor in Executive Council for a Royal Prerogative of Mercy (a 
pardon) in respect to those prisoners who are considered to be at a point 
of imminent death. There were seven briefings provided on six individual 
cases. Of the six cases, five prisoners were released and one remained 
in custody.

Prisoners Review Board Representation
The directorate contains the Prisoners Review Board Delegate Unit. 
These Department representatives attend Prisoners Review Board 
meetings in respect of matters of consideration by the Board in regard 
to releasing, monitoring and breaching of offenders. A Department 
representative participated in 273 meetings throughout 2009/10.

Release Planning Applications Considered – by Financial Year
Applications Considered 2006/2007 2007/2008 2008/2009 2009/2010

Home Leave 117 144 192 224

Funerals/Dangerous Illness 1,279 1,340 1,504 1,432

Re-entry Release Orders1 268 164 69 34

Prisoner Employment Program2 0 0 91 277

TOTAL 1,664 1,648 1,856 1,967

Notes:

1. Prior to 28 January 2007, Re-entry Release eligibility included parole sentences.  After this date, eligibility 
was restricted to finite terms only.

2. The Prisoner Employment Program is an initiative which commenced on 1 September 2008.  

OFFENDER MANAGEMENT
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Home Leave
The Home Leave program allows minimum-security prisoners within 12 months of their release date to leave 
prison, under the supervision of an approved sponsor, for set periods of time, to re-establish family and 
community relationships and offset the effects of a reasonably lengthy time in prison. 

The number of Home Leave applications has steadily increased over the past four years.  This most likely can 
be attributed to an increase in prison population and an increased number of prisoners denied parole.  During 
2009/10, 224 prisoners were considered for participation in Home Leave.  Of these, 91 (40%) were approved, 
90 (40%) were not approved, 17 (8%) were deferred for consideration, and 26 (12%) were deemed not to 
proceed as they were not eligible to apply for the leave of absence.

Future directions: A new policy, ‘Re-integration Leave’, will replace the Home Leave program in the next 
financial year.  The policy is similar to the Home Leave policy however includes a greater rate of leave for 
prisoners placed at a work camp as an incentive for work camp placement.

Funerals/Dangerous Illness
Prisoners are able to apply to leave the prison in the company of an 
officer on compassionate grounds, such as for the purpose of attending 
a funeral or visiting a dangerously ill person. These applications are 
assessed as to the significance of the relationship.  Security, safety to 
the community, logistics and victim issues are also considered.

In 2009/10, 1,432 applications to attend funerals/dangerously ill persons 
were considered.  Of these, 43% of applications were approved. 

On 28 April 2010 a new Information Technology system was developed, 
the Funeral Register, to help each prison manage all prisoner applications 
to attend funerals across the State.  

Prisoner Employment Program
In 2009/10 the Prisoner Employment Program (PEP) continued to provide 
suitable prisoners with the opportunity to participate in employment-
related activities, including education or vocational training, seeking 
employment, work experience or paid employment.  

Prisoners who are placed in a minimum-security facility, have served 
half of their effective sentence and are within 12 months of their potential 
release date, may apply to participate in the PEP.   Participation in paid 
employment is reserved for the last three months of a person’s sentence. 

There has been a steady increase in the number of PEP applications 
received since the implementation of the program. In 2009/10, 277 PEP 
applications were considered.  Of these, 92 (33%) were approved, 152 
(55%) were not approved, 22 (8%) were deferred for consideration, and 
11 (4%) were deemed not to proceed as applicants were not eligible to 
participate in the program.

 The PEP Policy is currently under review with the expectation that an 
updated policy will be implemented in 2010/11.

oFFENDER MANAGEMENt

A GROUP of prisoners at Roebourne 
Regional Prison will soon be headed 
for the mines after graduating from the 
prison’s Work Ready course today. 

The course, run in conjunction with 
mining giant Rio Tinto, prepares prisoners 
for employment upon release and has 
become a top priority for the prison. 

The six prisoners are graduating with 
qualifications in workplace skills such 
as carpentry, welding and general 
construction, preparing them for work at 
Rio Tinto and other mining organisations 
once released. 

Roebourne Campus Manager Delphine 
McFarlane said the 14-week, full-time 
course was very successful with good 
employment prospects for graduates. 

“Many ex-prisoners are employed in 
construction and mining sectors of the 
North West as a result of this and other 
related programs,” she said. 

“In the past five or so years, we’ve 
tracked more than 50 ex-prisoners who 
have gained successful employment in 
the mining sector upon release.” 

Delphine said as part of the current 
course, prisoners visited Cape Lambert, 
Dampier and East Intercourse Island 
mine sites to see first-hand what they 
were working towards. 

“The visit highlight was meeting an 
ex-prisoner who had secured full-time 
employment at one of the mines,” she said. 

making news
2 December 2009
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Re-entry Release
Prisoners with a finite term of imprisonment (those not eligible for parole) who have served a minimum of 12 
months in prison under sentence, are eligible to apply for Re-entry Release in the last six months of their prison 
sentence.

The Re-entry Release program aims to facilitate the successful re-entry of prisoners into the community and 
promote a constructive, self-supporting, law-abiding lifestyle by re-establishing family relationships/community 
ties, exposure to employment, and service to the community.  Re-entry Release is only approved after suitability 
assessment and comprehensive consideration by the Prisoners Review Board.   The number of applications 
for Re-entry Release has declined significantly in recent years due to the eligibility criteria being limited to finite 
terms as a result of the Sentence Administration Act 2003 amendments on 28 January 2007.

Re-socialisation Programs
Re-socialisation programs are designed for long-term prisoners, including those with life and indefinite 
sentences. They aim to gradually reintegrate these prisoners into the community to reduce the likelihood of 
re-offending and improve community safety.

Life and indefinite sentenced prisoners are first assessed for their suitability for inclusion in the program two 
years prior to being eligible for parole, and thereafter at the request of the Prisoners Review Board.  Approval 
for these prisoners to participate in the program is subject to consideration by the Department, the Prisoners 
Review Board and the Attorney General, with final approval required from the Governor of Western Australia.

The assessment is based on a range of factors including the prisoner’s security rating, completion of 
recommended treatment programs, general conduct and behaviour in prison, victim issues, the risk of re-
offending, and their suitability for release into the community upon completion of the program. 

A re-socialisation program generally consists of a number of stages and activities, with the prisoner expected 
to complete all requirements of each stage before approval for progression to the next stage.   The duration 
of a re-socialisation program is tailored to meet the individual prisoner’s risks and needs.  Typically, a prisoner 
on a re-socialisation program will be placed at a minimum-security facility, undertake external activities, and 
participate in Home Leave and the PEP.

The Department undertook 35 re-socialisation program suitability assessments during 2009/10.  Upon request 
from the Prisoners Review Board, 11 re-socialisation programs were developed. 

2008/2009 2009/10
Re-socialisation Program Suitability Assessments 34 35

Re-socialisation Programs Developed 25 11

Re-socialisation Program Progress Reviews 24 20

Statutory Reviews and Parole Assessments for Life/Indefinite Sentenced Prisoners 35 46

Note: Figures are based on commencement date of assessments by Sentence Management.

OFFENDER MANAGEMENT
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Policy Reviews
The Sentence Management Directorate undertook or engaged in reviews of the following policies and rules:

�� Policy Directive 8 – Prisoners with a Terminal Illness
�� Policy Directive 9 - Absence Permits
�� Policy Directive 66 – Re-integration Leave (to replace Home Leave when implemented)
�� Policy Directive 68 -  Prisoner Employment Program (PEP)
�� Adult Custodial Rule 18 – Assessment and Sentence Management of Prisoners

OFFENDER MANAGEMENT

Correspondence
The directorate has a broad area of knowledge and responsibility. 
General correspondence, ACCESS complaints and Ministerial requests 
form a significant component of activity. The directorate received 606 
individual correspondence requests and provided 523 responses (some 
responses were consolidated). The following is a categorisation of the 
major issues covered in the requests:

�� 185 for sentence calculations
�� 121 requests from the Prisoners Review Board of which 38 

required responses
�� 86 for interstate/international Transfer of Prisoners
�� 39 Individual Management Plans (treatment programs specific)
�� 35 miscellaneous matters
�� 28 Individual Management Plans (security rating specific)
�� 22 Individual Management Plans (prison placement specific)
�� 19 Individual Management Plans (multiple issues)
�� 18 Home Leave
�� 17 prison transfers (within WA)
�� 15 Royal Prerogative of Mercy
�� 13 Other Authorised Absences
�� 8 Prisoner Employment Program

Future Directions 2010/11
�� Over the next five years, the Offender Services directorate 

will focus on the implementation of a new offender programs 
business model. The model provides eight program service 
centres across the State and the integration of community and 
prison program delivery. The pilot centre at Midland is expected 
to open in October 2010. 

�� The directorate will continue an increased focus on providing 
work for prisoners through a Prisoner Employment Program. 
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ABORIGINAL JUSTICE

Since its establishment in 2007/08, the Aboriginal Justice directorate has worked with a range 
of internal and external stakeholders to influence Aboriginal justice issues and service delivery. 
Through the directorate, the Department aims to reduce the re-offending of Aboriginal people 
in the justice system by embedding the needs of Aboriginal offenders into existing programs 
and services.

The Aboriginal Justice Directorate:
�� consults with internal and external stakeholders
�� advocates change within the Department to improve service delivery by taking into consideration 

Aboriginal culture and issues
�� assists directorates to implement relevant change in service delivery to take into consideration 

Aboriginal culture and issues
�� monitors implementation and evaluation of programs and services.

Key Achievements and Challenges 2009/10
�� Supported the Senior Aboriginal Reference Group (SARG) 

comprising senior Aboriginal staff from across the Department. 
SARG provides direction and advice on Aboriginal issues within 
corrective services. In the past 12 months it advised on policies, 
procedures and issues including:

Language Services Policy

Women’s Way Forward Policy

Fitness for Work Policy 

Offender Employment Strategy

Work Camps Policy

Aboriginal Employment Strategy

Banksia Hill redevelopment

West Kimberley Regional Prison development

Young Adults Facility.
�� Monitored and promoted the Aboriginal Impact Statement (AIS). 

The AIS aims to ensure appropriate Aboriginal consultation 
and negotiation processes have been undertaken and that 
the needs, issues and circumstances of Aboriginal people are 
addressed in policy and program development and review. This 
was endorsed by the Equal Opportunity Commission as a best 
practice process for identifying and addressing substantive 
equity issues in corrective services. The AIS formed the basis of 
the Department’s Substantive Equality training in a pilot training 
program.

�� Developed and promoted a Procurement Strategy for engaging 
Aboriginal and not-for-profit organisations to provide services 
to the Department.  This strategy, based on the Government’s 
Funding and Purchasing Community Services policy, is intended 
to assist the Department in contracting services from community 
organisations on a more appropriate basis than a fully commercial 
contract.
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ABORIGINAL JUSTICE

�� Represented Aboriginal interests on key interagency and inter-jurisdictional committees including 
the Aboriginal Justice Agreement Steering Committee, Drivers’ Licence and Fine Default Group 
(Department of the Attorney General), and the Aboriginal Affairs Coordinating Committee Senior 
Officers’ Group.

�� Assisted in the planning and presentation of the 2009 Perth NAIDOC celebrations in July. 
�� Actively contributed to the Corrective Services Administrators’ Council (CSAC) Senior Officers Group 

on Indigenous Issues in Corrections. It involved working on three agreed national themes and priorities:  
development and delivery of appropriate rehabilitation programs with a focus on regional and remote 
areas; through-care and reintegration services; and diversion from prison, particularly for Aboriginal 
offenders with mental health problems.  

Key Statistics
The level of Aboriginal incarceration remains unacceptably high. As at 30 June 2010, 39% of all adult prisoners 
were Aboriginal, as were 66% of young people in detention.  Aboriginal people made up 32% of the adult 
community corrections population and 60.33% of the youth community corrections population.

Future Directions 2010/11
During 2010/11, the Department will:

�� continue to liaise with external and internal stakeholders with the aim of ensuring the needs, issues 
and circumstances of Aboriginal people are addressed in the development and delivery of corrective 
services

�� implement and monitor the procurement strategy to assist divisions to engage Aboriginal organisations 
and not-for-profit organisations to provide programs and services.
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The Department continues to expand its human resource management framework, strategies 
and practices in line with industry standards and best practice. To support this, the Human 
Resources directorate comprises the key branches of Workforce Planning and Strategy, Strategic 
Recruitment, Employee Relations and Employee Welfare.

Key Achievements and Challenges 2009/10
During the year, the Department:

�� conducted training for 3,885 staff members through 354 scheduled courses at the Department’s 
Training Academy

�� executed innovative recruitment campaigns to attract applicants from diverse backgrounds and regional 
locations, resulting in more than 2,800 applications 

�� undertook a successful Australia-wide and New Zealand recruitment campaign targeting experienced 
prison officers that delivered 252 applications

�� began the process of recruiting for six vacant prison superintendent positions across the State to 
improve the stability of the WA prison system

�� ran a ‘Super School’ initiative in February to boost prison officer numbers resulting in training of 102 
recruits in the metropolitan area and 22 at Albany Regional Prison

�� delivered the first regional 12-week training program for prison officers since 1996, boosting prison 
officer numbers in the region

�� commenced a regional-specific recruitment campaign in the West Pilbara
�� launched the Career Development Program
�� updated the Awards and Staff Recognition Strategy to provide meaningful recognition and reward staff 

commitment to the Department, improving retention, morale and recruitment
�� consolidated the Department’s Workforce Planning and Strategy branch
�� continued an ongoing review of the Department’s human resources policies.

Key Statistics
�� The number of Department employees increased by 225 in 2009/10.  This increase was largely due to 

the rise in the number of prison officers employed by the Department to meet an increase in prisoner 
numbers.

�� Reductions in the number of nurses (-8) and teachers (-30) were largely due to the casual nature of 
their employment and changing business needs.

EMPLOYMENT AND
INDUSTRIAL RELATIONS
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Employee by Award/Occupational Grouping
 2008/2009 2009/2010

Head count Percentage Total Head count Percentage Total

Female Male Female Male Female Male Female Male
Aboriginal visitor 9 13 41% 59% 22 11 11 50% 50% 22

Adult custodial 
prison officers

388 1,385 22% 78% 1,773 440 1,597 22% 78% 2,037

Juvenile custodial 
officers

63 135 32% 68% 198 57 126 31% 69% 183

Medical practition-
ers

7 11 39% 61% 18 7 11 39% 61% 18

Miscellaneous 
employees

8 3 73% 27% 11 6 3 67% 33% 9

Nurses 100 17 85% 15% 117 96 13 88% 12% 109

Public service 
employees

1,329 662 67% 33% 1,991 1,348 659 67% 33% 2,007

Teachers 116 59 66% 34% 175 96 49 66% 34% 145

Total 2,020 2,285 47% 53% 4,305 2,061 2,469 45% 55% 4,530

Head count figures for 2009/10 are based on active employees, including paid casuals. 

Recruitment
The open-ended recruitment initiative for prison officers was launched in 
January, 2010, which significantly increased prison officer applications. 
1,888 applications were received to 30 June 2010.

A number of targeted, location-specific recruitment activities were 
undertaken to promote the Department and increase application numbers 
from local candidates.

The Department also filled all substantive juvenile custodial officer 
vacancies in the year, resulting in full staffing.

EMPLOYMENT AND
INDUSTRIAL RELATIONS
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Recruitment and Training
The Department’s Academy provided ongoing professional development to 4,231 Departmental staff in 2009/10 
to enhance and maintain their skills and knowledge. This included the provision of training in foundation skills, 
corporate governance, management, leadership, professional development, and workplace skills. 

Training included programs such as induction, performance management, accountable and ethical decision 
making, anti bullying, mental health first aid (including Aboriginal and youth focus), the Aboriginal Leadership 
Program, computer skills, business writing, suicide prevention, selection panel training, contract management 
and first aid skills.

Throughout the year, 16 training programs for trainee prison officers were undertaken, with two (one in 
progress) held in Albany which is the first prison officer training to be conducted outside the Perth metropolitan 
area since 1996. Some 358 officers, 307 new to the industry and 51 experienced officers returning to the 
industry, participated in these programs. 

In the community corrections and youth custodial areas, 23 officers completed their initial training program, 
joining an additional 18 officers in their on-the-job probationary period.

There were 271 Certificate III’s in Correctional Practice awarded.

ALBANY Regional Prison is about 
to be overrun by ‘Razor Backs’, the 
self-selected name for Class 155 
graduates, the first group to graduate 
as prison officers in a regional training 
site in 14 years.

It is expected that 20 of the Prison 
Officer Entry Level Training Program 
graduates will remain at Albany and 
one will go to Pardelup Prison Farm.

While their graduation was the 
culmination of 12 weeks of hard 
work and dedication to the course, 
the ceremony was the result of more 
than 12 months of planning by many 

business areas within DCS to meet 
an urgent need for additional staff, 
particularly in regional prisons.

The joint collaboration began early 
last year and involved Adult Custodial, 
Recruitment, the Corrective Services 
Academy, Albany Regional Prison, 
Strategic Assets and Media and Public 
Affairs who all played a part in making 
DCS history.

DCS Recruiting targeted the local labour 
market in Albany and made several 
visits to the area to promote DCS and 
the job opportunities available.

Public Affairs coordinated a localised 

advertising campaign to attract 
additional prison officers with the 
Recruitment team completing the 
shortlisting, interviews and selection 
processes.

In an effort to address the shortfall 
of prison officer numbers in regional 
areas, it was decided to run a prison 
officer training course at Albany 
Regional Prison where there had 
been a large number of prison officer 
applications.

The Academy coordinated and adapted 
the course so it could be conducted 
off-site at a regional location.

making news
June 2010

EMPLOYMENT AND
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Awards and Agreements
Prison Officers
Negotiations progressed with the Western Australian Prison Officers’ 
Union over the new 2010 Prison Officers’ Enterprise Agreement. 
Negotiations were ongoing as at 30 June 2010.

Policies and Guidelines
The Department continued its review of policies and procedures, 
including completing reviews of Leave Liability Management and HR 
Management Delegations, which now embeds all industrial agreements 
not previously covered.

Equity and Diversity
During the year, progress on the Equity and Diversity Improvement Plan 
2009/10 included:

�� development and launch of the DCS Mature Age Management 
Strategy, including a series of information brochures, and 
Statewide superannuation seminars for employees planning for 
graduated retirement

�� the completion of the Workforce Plan for Aboriginal Employment, 
including  the endorsement and funding of the proposal for the 
2010 Aboriginal Business Traineeship Program which will begin 
in July 2010.

Industrial Action
There was no industrial action taken during the year.

Unions
Department employees are covered by a range of unions including the Community and Public Sector Union/
Civil Service Association of WA, WA Prison Officers’ Union and the Australian Nurses Federation.

Formal, joint consultative committees within each Department division met regularly with respective unions in 
2009/10 to address key workplace issues. Other informal consultative groups were undertaken at workplace 
levels. These informal groups discussed issues such as disciplinary processes and employee transfer issues.

Occupational Safety and Health
In 2009/10, the Department completed OSH audits at 90% of all Department workplaces and continued to 
implement strategies to direct the Department towards conformance with the WorkSafe Plan.  Strategies 
included:

�� consolidating safety and health requirements for contractors engaged by the Department, and 
documenting these requirements in the OSH Contractor Management Policy

�� standardising Department-wide arrangements for staff vaccinations with the implementation of the 
Communicable Disease Procedure

�� continuing to improve the ability of Department managers and staff to manage OSH in the workplace 
with training through the Academy

�� making significant progress on developing a Department-wide safety risk register
�� surveying safety and health representatives and workplace managers to improve communication and 

consultation on OSH matters
�� providing a process and guidance for all staff in dealing with impairment issues that may impact upon 

safety with the Fitness for Work Policy and Procedure.

EMPLOYMENT AND
INDUSTRIAL RELATIONS
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Workers’ Compensation
The Workers’ Compensation and Injury Management policy was implemented in 2008/09 with comprehensive 
training and information sessions continuing in 2009/10, to help ensure compliance in accordance with the 
Workers’ Compensation and Injury Management Act 1981.

Worker’s Compensation  Claims 2008/2009 2009/2010
No. worker’s compensation claims 307 408

Lost-time frequency rate 22 days 28.40 days

Incident rate 5.2 days 5.65 days

Total working days lost 9,492.6 4,778.0

Lost-time claims 191 257

No. of stress claims 43 64

No. of fatalities Nil Nil

Employee Assistance
From figures shown in the annual report received from the Department’s Employee Assistance Program (EAP) 
provider, PPC Worldwide, 295 staff and family members accessed PPC and accounted for 814.5 hours of 
services in 2009/10.  The number of staff and family members accessing the EAP indicates an utilisation rate 
of 8.33%, an increase from 7.2% in 2008/09.

Prison officers accounted for 29.2%, community corrections and juvenile justice officers 18%, administration 
staff 17.6% and professional staff 15.9%.

The gender split of staff and family members accessing services was 62.7% female and 37.3% male.  These 
figures are similar to the previous year.

Critical incident responses were mainly handled by PPC.  There were 11 critical incidents that PPC attended 
and they accounted for 107.5 hours of services provided.

Staff Support Officers (Prison and Detention)
Throughout the year, welfare and counselling staff trained 45 new staff support officers and refresher-trained 
30 existing officers from various metropolitan and regional sites, including juvenile detention centres and 
Greenough, Bunbury, Broome, and Albany regional prisons and Pardelup Prison Farm.

Future Directions 2009/10
In 2010/11 the Department will:

�� undertake targeted recruitment strategies for the West Kimberley 
Regional Prison

�� implement agreed efficiency measures with WAPOU as part of 
the 2010 Prison Officers’ Enterprise Agreement

�� advise and assist on matters associated with the transition to the 
whole of government shared services reform

�� begin recruitment process for the expansion of the Regional 
Youth Justice Services into the North-West

�� finalise recruitment to fill six vacant superintendent positions at 
prisons across the State.

EMPLOYMENT AND
INDUSTRIAL RELATIONS
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The Department strives to achieve the highest level of professionalism in all areas of practice, 
behaviour and service delivery. The Professional Standards Division does this by compliance 
testing, complaints administration, investigations, corporate risk and governance, misconduct 
resistance, internal witness support, pre-employment screening and discipline coordination. It 
also coordinates reforms associated with recommendations from internal and external reviews.

PROFESSIONAL STANDARDS

Key Achievements and Challenges in 2009/10
During the year, the Department:

�� undertook compliance and business reviews resulting in more 
than 300 recommendations

�� received 835 calls from prisoners through its complaints, 
compliments and suggestions service (ACCESS)

�� built upon Departmental and individual resistance to misconduct 
through a range of initiatives and activities

�� raised staff awareness of the prisoner grievance process, the 
Internal Witness Support Service, and the option of reporting 
misconduct utilising the Public Interest Disclosure Act

�� conducted 533 integrity assessments through the Employee 
Screening Unit. 

Risk Management and Governance
Risk management and governance is managed primarily through the 
Department’s Risk Management and Audit Committee and through 
shared arrangements with the Management Assurance Governance and 
Improvement branch of the Department of the Attorney-General.

Standards and Review
The Standards and Review directorate undertook a total of 21 compliance 
and business reviews resulting in more than 300 recommendations to 
improve the delivery of corrective services in WA and contribute to the 
safety of the community.

As part of the Department’s commitment to continuous improvement, during 
2009/10 the Operational Standards and Compliance-Testing Framework 
was reviewed and updated to include a new suite of governance standards 
and the adoption of a new ‘healthy prisons’ approach.

The 27 new standards were categorised under custody and containment, 
care and wellbeing, rehabilitation and reintegration and governance. 
The revised Operational Standards and Compliance-Testing Framework 
was endorsed in January 2010 and is currently being implemented 
through a schedule of follow–up reviews across all adult prisons 
throughout the State.

The Custodial Standards and Review team conducted two directed 
reviews during 2009/10 and completed seven death in custody reviews, 
with an additional seven in progress.
The Community Standards and Review team also reviews the extent to 
which compliance has occurred in the case management of offenders 
in the community. In 2009/10 the team completed two directed reviews, 
three Statewide reviews, a centre specific review and 40 preliminary 
reviews on the case management of offenders who have died while 
subject to community supervision orders.
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Critical Review
The Critical Review Unit coordinated the Department’s involvement in six inspections of prisons and detention 
centres undertaken by the Office of the Inspector of Custodial Services (OICS).  

An inspection report on Hakea Prison was tabled in Parliament. This report included 17 recommendations. A 
further two reports from OICS were tabled in Parliament relating to inspections conducted during the previous 
financial year, making a total of three reports, with a total of 28 recommendations. 

The Department responded to seven draft reports from OICS in 2009/10, three of which were finalised and 
tabled by OICS.

The Unit also coordinated the Department’s involvement in six Coronial Inquests. All of the deaths occurred in 
preceding financial years.  The Coroner released five reports into deaths in prison custody resulting in a total 
of five recommendations.

The Critical Review Unit coordinates the progress of all recommendations from external and internal reviews 
and reports against these on a quarterly basis.

Complaints Handling
The Administration of Complaints, Compliments and Suggestions (ACCESS) is an area of the Department 
which deals with comments and feedback about its services. It is available to all offenders, staff and members 
of the public.

ACCESS saw an 87% increase in the average monthly number of complaints and grievances received in 
2009/10 compared to  2008/09. Further to this growth, ACCESS also received an average of 47 contact only* 
contacts per month.

Despite this strong growth, the average resolution time for complaints and grievances has improved significantly, 
falling by 43% to 14 days, with 89% of complaints resolved within four weeks of receipt. 

*Contacts, typically by phone, which did not result in, or otherwise constitute, a formal complaint

Matters received by ACCESS during 2009/10 financial year
Complaint 835

Prisoner grievance 552

Contact only 561

Compliment/Suggestion 85

MLB matters 384

Total 2,417

pRoFEssIoNAL stANDARDs
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Prisoner Grievances
The Department has a formal process in place to help resolve complaints made by prisoners about the prison 
system.  The Prisoner Grievance System encourages early resolution of complaints through a prisoner’s unit 
officer.  Some 552 prisoner grievances were received in 2009/10, representing a 61% increase from 2008/09.

Where matters are unable to be resolved, the process provides for the formal recording of grievances on the 
Department’s Total Offender Management System. The Prisoner Grievance System is supported by a Prisoner 
Grievance Coordinator and unresolved matters can be escalated to a Prisoner Grievance Review Panel.  

Pre-employment and Probity Screening
The Pre-employment Integrity Assessment and Criminal Records Screening policies provide the Department 
with a comprehensive set of tools to ensure new staff are selected appropriately.  During the year, an 
amendment was made to policy to provide increased flexibility in recognition of significant infrastructure works 
being contracted by the Department.

The Employment Screening Unit conducted 533 integrity checks for the reporting period. This was a 63% increase 
on the previous year and was due mainly to a concerted recruitment drive conducted for prison officers.

Some 2,374 screenings were conducted, about 5% less than last year. Of these, 217 screenings were escalated 
to assessment stage for additional scrutiny as to their suitability for employment, of which 115 were considered 
unsuitable and 102 were approved for employment.

Misconduct Resistance
In 2009/10 the Misconduct Resistance branch engaged in a series of activities to improve organisational and 
individual resistance to misconduct.

These activities included:
�� a series of news stories and commentary on the staff intranet highlighting misconduct risks
�� adoption of a procedure for staff to register offers of gifts, rewards and hospitality
�� consultation with the Corrective Services Training Academy on the already impressive delivery of 

Ethical and Accountable Decision Making training at all levels across the State
�� continual Department representation on the Integrity and Misconduct Practitioners’ Network
�� research of outcomes and recommendations arising from Corruption and Crime Commission reviews 

and investigations
�� delivery of presentations on misconduct resistance to all new adult and juvenile custodial officers
�� delivery of workshops on misconduct resistance and conflicts of interest for correctional  supervisors
�� provision of consultancy to managers and individual staff on misconduct related issues 
�� revision of corruption prevention plans for prisons
�� research and consultation as preparation for a project to manage organisational cultural change within 

the Department. 

PROFESSIONAL STANDARDS
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Internal Witness Support Services
Internal Witness Support Services (IWSS) provides advice and support to employees who witness, provide 
information or report suspected unethical or improper conduct within the Department. Staff can report 
misconduct by calling a confidential and secure hotline. Staff can also report suspected misconduct externally 
to the Corruption and Crime Commission or WA Police, or make a disclosure under the Public Interest 
Disclosure Act 2003.

In 2009/10 163 employees utilised the IWSS and more than 34 presentations were conducted across the 
State, providing 895 staff members with information related to the services provided.

Public Interest Disclosure
The Department maintained its commitment to raising awareness of the Public Interest Disclosure Act 2003 by 
updating its information in the DCS handbook and through a number of staff awareness sessions and articles 
published on its intranet site.  One disclosure was assessed relating to a number of issues.

Internal Investigations
The Internal Investigations Unit (IIU) continued to conduct investigations into allegations of suspected breaches 
of discipline. To support the Department’s ongoing initiative to ensure suspected misconduct is reported, 
the IIU delivered 23 presentations to a total of 230 staff within their workplaces (excluding presentations 
delivered at the Corrective Services Training Academy). The IIU also delivered an awareness presentation to 
all prison officer training courses, prison officer bridging courses and correctional supervisor courses held at 
the Corrective Services Training Academy.

In 2009/10 a Reportable Incident Assessment decision-making tool was introduced to ensure serious matters 
that warrant formal investigation are referred to the Internal Investigations Unit and less serious matters are 
dealt with via local investigation or through managerial resolution. The introduction of this early assessment 
process will result in greater timeliness in the conduct of serious investigations and a reduction in cost, delay 
and staff anxiety for matters that are suitable for resolution at managerial level.  

On 28 June 2010 the IIU re-located to Westralia Square from its former offices at the Durack Centre in Adelaide 
Terrace, Perth, allowing it to be integrated with the other elements of the Professional Standards Division. 

Number of Matters Reported to the IIU
2005/06 2006/07 2007/08 2008/09 2009/10

173 129 172 279 493

Investigation Statistics for 2009/10
New IIU Investigations 209

New local investigations 48

Total 257
IIU investigations carried over from 2008/09 23

Local investigations carried over from 2008/09 34

Total 314
IIU investigations outstanding at 30 June 2010 82

Local investigations outstanding at 30 June 2010 14

Total 96
Allegations of misconduct 257

IIU investigations completed 208

Local investigations completed 38

Total 246
Misconduct matters referred for further action 98

Percentage of matters referred for further action 40%

PROFESSIONAL STANDARDS
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Investigation Complaints 2009/2010 Substantiated Completed Carry Over
Neglect of duty     

IIU 14 4 10 8

Local 11 2 6 6

 25 6 16 14

Misconduct     

IIU 45 20 47 27

Local 15 6 16 5

 60 26 63 32

Inappropriate use of resources     

IIU 5 3 5 0

Local 0 0 0 0

 5 3 5 0

Improper association     

IIU 16 14 22 2

Local 0 0 0 0

 16 14 22 2

Hinder investigation     

IIU 2 1 2 0

Local 0 0 0 0

 2 1 2 0

Fraud     

IIU 4 1 6 0

Local  0 0 0

 4 1 6 0

Falsify document     

IIU 4 2 5 1

Local  0 0 0

 4 2 5 1

False report     

IIU 1 0 2 0

Local  0 0 0

 1 0 2 0

Assault     

IIU 34 5 39 15

Local 7 1 9 1

 41 6 48 16

Threatening behaviour     

IIU 1 0 3 0

Local 4 0 3 0

 5 0 6 0
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Investigation Complaints 2009/2010 Substantiated Completed Carry Over
Trafficking - contraband     

IIU 6 0 1 5

Local 1 0 0 1

 7 0 1 6

Trafficking - drugs     

IIU 2 1 2 3

Local 0 0 0 0

 2 1 2 3

COI     

IIU 6 3 4 2

Local 3 1 2 1

 9 4 6 3

Breach of confidentiality     

IIU 31 16 24 13

Local 0 0 0 1

 31 16 24 14

Breach of telecom     

IIU 14 9 13 2

Local 1 0 0 1

 15 9 13 3

Corruption     

IIU 1 1 1 1

Local  0 0 0

 1 1 1 1

Excessive force     

IIU 4 1 5 1

Local 1 0 0 1

 5 1 5 2

Stealing     

IIU 10 2 9 3

Local 2 0 1 1

 12 2 10 4
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Discipline Management
The Professional Conduct Unit (PCU) provides expert advice, adjudication and management of the various 
discipline processes applicable to all employees, on behalf of the Commissioner.

These processes include the legislative provisions of the Prisons Act 1981, Public Sector Management Act 
1994 and the Young Offenders Regulations 1995,  together with the common law process.

The following table identifies matters referred to the Professional Conduct Unit for consideration and action in 
2009/10.

TYPE No of MATTERS
Misconduct (under the PSMA – includes breach of confidentiality, improper association and 
inappropriate behaviour

47

Misconduct (assault) 6

Misconduct (improper association) 5

Misconduct (fitness to hold office as a prison officer) 8

Misconduct (hinder investigation/breach of Policy Directive 40) 0

Falsification of records 3

Misconduct (performance of duties) 11

Breach of computer and telecommunications facilities policy, includes breach of confidential-
ity, under Prisons Act 1981

17

Misconduct (failure to report an incident/breach of Policy Directive 41) 3

Secondary employment 0

Total 100

Future Directions 2010/11
In 2010/11, the Department will:

�� deliver accountable and ethical decision-making 
training to all staff

�� review and update the Department’s Code of Conduct
�� review and refine the conflict of interests management 

procedures
�� provide an online local corruption prevention plan facility
�� review and develop investigation and discipline policy 

and processes to cater for amendments to the Public 
Sector Management Act

�� review the complaints and grievance processes, 
in particular the ability to facilitate complaints from 
Aboriginal and young people who offend

�� review the pre-employment and integrity screening 
processes and policies

�� review the Death in Custody (DIC) Policy Statement 
and implement a DIC Practice and Procedure Manual

�� implement a project to manage organisational cultural 
change within the Department.

PROFESSIONAL STANDARDS
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Ministerial Liaison Branch (MLB)
The Ministerial Liaison branch coordinates and prepares responses to Ministerial and Parliamentary enquiries, 
serving to inform relevant stakeholders of essential information and providing a liaison function between the 
Minister, his office and the Department.

Daily briefings are provided to the Minister’s office on key issues to ensure good communication between the 
Department and the Minister. 

In 2009/10 MLB dealt with 1,550 pieces of correspondence including briefing notes, draft replies and 
Parliamentary questions.

Media and Public Affairs (MPA)
The Department’s Media and Public Affairs branch manages communications risks and opportunities for the 
Department, both internally and externally. It also facilitates Departmental events and awards. 

MPA is responsible for the development of comprehensive communication and consultation strategies, 
stakeholder engagement, media and event management and website development. The branch provides a 
full suite of communication tools and resources to the Department.

During 2009/10, the team worked closely with the Department’s executive providing communication advice 
and producing publications including media statements, fact sheets, newsletters, brochures, posters, the 
Department handbook and the annual report. 

MPA communicated with staff through a daily intranet news service, an electronic fortnightly newsletter 
(e-InsideOUT) and a bi-monthly employee magazine (InsideOUT).  The magazine’s focus on human interest, 
sport and new initiatives stories promoted a holistic understanding of the Department and a sense of community 
and achievement.

MPA led a targeted and successful program of proactive media, particularly in local newspapers. The branch 
facilitated tours of DCS sites for the judiciary, media and other stakeholders. Work also continued on developing 
a strong partnership with a major television network to promote the positive work of DCS.

Positive media opportunities were identified such as the opening of new facilities, charitable works by prisoners, 
and new innovations which led to a marked increase in positive stories across all mediums of media during 
the year.

COMMUNICATION
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Media branch staff responded daily to questions from the media – some confirming positive news, others 
explaining when, why and how things had gone wrong. Interviews between staff and journalists were arranged 
to keep the public informed of changes and events, and also of the rationale behind them.

The team devised and implemented communications strategies for various high-profile projects, including:
�� Cross Border Justice Project
�� Court Custody and Custodial Services Contract 
�� Prisoner Population Management
�� Review of Health Services
�� Review of Offender Programs Delivery
�� Reducing Aboriginal Family Violence – Barndimalgu Court
�� Biometrics Screening.

The team also consulted with community reference groups across the State, building strong relationships and 
partnerships to assist in the delivery of new custodial infrastructure including the Young Adults Facility in the 
metropolitan area, new work camps in Wyndham, the Wheatbelt and Warburton, as well as the new regional 
prison in the Kimberley. 

Key Achievements and Statistics:
�� Overhauled the Department’s website in conjunction with the Online Services branch to make it more 

relevant for users and easier to navigate (read more in Compliance section of report)
�� Drafted 350 media releases.
�� Published 870 intranet (J-Staff) news stories.
�� Responded to 450 media inquiries.
�� Designed six editions of staff magazine insideOUT and 25 e-insideOUT newsletters.
�� Hosted two outside radio broadcasts from inside prisons, giving the community better insight into the 

daily operations of prisons and good work of Department staff.

Awards and Events
The Department facilitated the Asian and Pacific Conference of Correctional Administrators (APCCA) in 
November 2009. This brought together 180 representatives from 26 countries to discuss important industry 
issues including contemporary practices in corrections, prisoner employment, health services for inmates and 
community based sentencing.  

To reflect the Department’s aim of acknowledging the commitment, professionalism and achievement of 
its employees, the Awards and Staff Recognition Strategy was updated in 2009/10.  The strategy provides 
meaningful recognition services to staff to reward commitment and improve retention, morale and recruitment. 

The Corrective Services Awards is the Department’s main event held to celebrate the professional 
achievements of staff across the Department.  Other initiatives such as long service recognition, performance 
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awards, retiring/resigning staff certificates and the federally administered National Medals also perform an 
important role in employee engagement and recognition.

In 2009/10, 334 long service nominations were received, representing a total of 5,911 years of service by staff 
within the Department.

Corrective Services Awards – Winners 2009 
Minister’s Exceptional Service
Regional Youth Justice Services
Adult Custodial Achievement Award
Vanessa Read – Project Officer
Community and Juvenile Justice Achievement Award
Stephen Stewart and Neil McBroom – Kalgoorlie Adult Centre
Offender Management and Professional Development Achievement Award
Angie Rabbitt – Sentence Management Director
Strategic and Executive Division Achievement Award
Ministerial Liaison Branch (MLB) 
Corporate Support Achievement Award
Andy Daniels – Strategic Asset Services Directorate 
Aboriginal Justice Achievement Award
Regional Youth Justice Services
Professional Standards Achievement Award
Critical Review Unit
Teamwork and Collaboration Award
Dangerous Offenders Support Unit (DOSU) and South East Metro 
Community Corrections Centre
Innovation Award
DCS Recruiting 
Commissioner’s Award for Making a Positive Difference
Katie Bryson – Building and Environmental Services Manager
Commissioner’s Commendation for Bravery
Jason Barnett and Neville Rowe
Self-Sustainability Award
Carlo Bontempo – Gardens Officer, Albany Regional Prison
Commendation for Organisational Excellence 
Strategic Asset Services Directorate.

THE Regional Youth Justice Services strategy, 
which works to reduce the number of young 
people having contact with the formal justice 
system, took out the top prize at the 2009 
Corrective Services Awards last month.

The strategy, which in the past 12 months has 
seen 31 young people diverted from custody, 
was presented with the Minister’s Award after 
winning the Aboriginal Justice Achievement 
Award category.

The group was just one of a number of the 
Department’s top performers recognised at a 
luncheon ceremony at Fraser’s Restaurant in 
Kings Park.

Minister Christian Porter and Commissioner 
Ian Johnson presented the awards, handing out 
seven Achievement and Performance Awards, 
five Corporate Priorities Awards, two Bravery 
Commendations and the Minister’s Award.

Two more awards were added to the field 
this year – the Self-Sustainability Award 
and the Commissioner’s Commendation for 
Organisational Excellence.

“Although staff couldn’t nominate in these 
categories, the Awards Committee wanted to 
highlight the great work of certain staff who had 
performed above and beyond their roles,” Ian said.

“The competition was extremely tough this 
year. We received 65 nominations, all of them 
strong in their own right. I am very proud to 
say we have some tremendous staff working 
with us who constantly push themselves to 
make a positive difference in their workplace 
and in the community.

“Unfortunately there can only be a few winners 
but without the dedication and motivation of 
all our nominees, we could not provide the 
essential services that we do. Congratulations 
to all nominees and winners.”

The winners of each category receive a professional 
development opportunity worth $5000.

making news
December 2009
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Achievements

Custodial Infrastructure Program
2009/10 saw the implementation of the Custodial Infrastructure Program, 
announced by the Government in May 2009. The program is the most 
significant custodial accommodation program in the history of the State. 

The $655m program was to provide an additional 1,657 prisoner beds 
across the Western Australian prison system. A significant proportion of 
the program will be completed by the end of 2011 to address the urgent 
need for additional prison capacity via a number of significant projects.

The custodial infrastructure program includes:
�� The Eastern Goldfields Regional Prison – a new 350-bed prison 

will be built adjacent to the existing prison with the existing 
prison to be demolished. In January 2010, the State Government 
announced the project will be delivered as a Public Private 
Partnership (PPP).

�� The Young Adults Facility (YAF) – an 80-bed minimum-security 
facility for young male adults is being established in Murdoch at 
the Rangeview Remand Centre site and will become operational 
in December 2011. A building program at Banksia Hill Detention 
Centre will provide additional accommodation, program and 
office space so all detainees can be held at the site. During the 
year, project management documentation was finalised for the 
YAF. Stage 1 works at Banksia Hill also commenced, involving 
the construction of accommodation for 24 extra beds, extension 
to the admissions building and additional classrooms.  Design 
development for stage 2, including a girls’ precinct, visits area, 
case planning area and additional boys unit, also started.

CAPITAL WORKS

�� Acacia Prison – an additional 387 beds will be added to the existing prison. In October 2009, the 
Treasurer approved the expansion which will include a mix of self-care and standard accommodation 
units and requisite prisoner support infrastructure. The construction of the new beds is expected to be 
complete by 2014.

�� Work camps – three new work camps (total of 90 beds) will be constructed at Wyndham, Warburton and 
Dowerin. During 2009/10, construction began on the new Wyndham camp, design and documentation 
was finalised for Warburton, while Dowerin was selected as the location for the Wheatbelt Work Camp.

�� The West Kimberley Regional Prison –  a 150 bed  prison to be built in Derby,  to be commissioned in 
early 2012. Construction of the prison was well progressed at 30 June 2010.

The program delivered 863 additional prison beds into the system (263 more than originally planned), as well 
as an additional 74 beds at Wooroloo Prison Farm in 2009/10. By 2014 the program will have added 2,590 
beds into the prison system.

During 2009/10, new works at Hakea, Casuarina and Albany prisons were also announced to cater for the 
rapid growth experienced in the prisoner population in 2009.  These works will add a further 640 beds to the 
prison system and be funded within the $655m already allocated in the 2009 State Budget.
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In addition to the projects listed in the custodial infrastructure program, the Department continued to replace and 
upgrade its radio communications system. In a partnership with WA Police, the Department has been allowed 
to share the Police Metropolitan Radio Network (PMRN) in return for the Department allowing construction of 
communication towers at its prison sites to expand overall police and prison network coverage while improving 
communication security and emergency response.  In April 2010, the first loop of the new communication 
network, which covers all metropolitan prisons, went live.  The total budgeted cost of the upgrade in the 
metropolitan area is $14.1m. 

West Kimberley Regional Prison
Planning and design of the West Kimberley Regional Prison to be built 
in Derby was finalised in 2009/10. Forward works were completed, the 
main contract for works was awarded, and construction of the main work 
commenced. 

The multi-security, mixed-gender, purpose-built prison will provide 
regionally and culturally appropriate work and living conditions for 
prisoners, setting new standards for the management of Aboriginal 
prisoners in Western Australia.

The community is highly involved in this major works project. Initiatives 
such as a community reference group, open meetings and regular 
information to the general public kept West Kimberley residents fully 
briefed on the project’s unique ethos and status.

Additionally, the Kimberley Cultural Advisory Group has ensured the 
prison’s design and operation will meet the desired objectives of breaking 
the cycle of offending and improving the wellness of Kimberley Aboriginal 
people and communities.

Selection of the key position of superintendent for the new prison was 
close to being finalised as at 30 June 2010 with the appointment expected 
to be made early in 2010/11.

Security
In partnership with the Western Australian Police, the Department began 
the roll-out of a radio replacement program in the metropolitan area to 
improve communications for prisons and escort vehicles.

Work Camps
The Department began implementing a new work camps model that 
introduces more flexibility in managing work camp and prison populations 
in 2009/10. New work camps are being established in Wyndham, 
Warburton and Dowerin.

The design of the work camps was finalised and work began at Wyndham 
during the year. The Indigenous Land Use Agreement was finalised 
for Warburton and the tender for works was advertised. Dowerin was 
selected as the location for the new Wheatbelt work camp.

Other Works
The next stage of the ligature reduction program began. 

�� The Department worked closely with the Department of Treasury 
and Finance on the Public Private Partnership projects at Eastern 
Goldfields Regional Prison, Acacia Prison and the Young Adults 

CAPITAL WORKS
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Facility. A procurement analysis was undertaken to determine the most appropriate form of private 
sector participation for these three projects.

�� Work was completed at Banksia Hill Detention Centre to provide additional accommodation for young 
people held in detention. Work was started to provide an additional 80 beds to allow young offenders 
to be moved from the Rangeview Remand Centre site to Banksia Hill so that Rangeview could be used 
as the new Young Adults Facility.

�� Work continued across the State to expand office accommodation and improve safety conditions for 
community justice staff. Additionally, construction was completed for the Community Justice Services 
component of the Pilbara Justice Complex in Karratha.

�� The condition upgrade at Broome Regional Prison was completed. The works included new and 
relocated health services, education and programs buildings, women’s facilities, improved facilities 
and capacity for male maximum-security prisoners and a new perimeter fence.

2010/11 Future Directions
To support the delivery of the Department’s services, capital infrastructure planned for 2010/11 includes the 
following:

�� Continue the custodial infrastructure program including extensive works to be undertaken on the West 
Kimberley Regional Prison and the completion of the 640-bed program at Hakea, Casuarina and 
Albany prisons.

�� Complete work camps in Warburton (30 beds), Dowerin (20 beds) and Wyndham (40 beds).
�� Continue the works at Banksia Hill Detention Centre.
�� Complete the roll-out of the replacement and upgrade of the radio communications system throughout 

the greater metropolitan area in partnership with the Western Australia Police.
�� Continue the ongoing maintenance and infrastructure upgrade program across all Department owned 

and leased facilities. 

CAPITAL WORKS
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Work in Progress
Adult Custodial

�� West Kimberley Regional Prison 
�� Wyndham Work Camp
�� Male prisons: increased capacity of 640 beds – Albany, Casuarina 

and Hakea
�� Young Adults Facility
�� Infrastructure and systems upgrade and replacement programs
�� Radio replacement
�� Site acquisition –  metro prison site acquisition

Corporate
�� Physical infrastructure
�� Building infrastructure and maintenance
�� Replacement of office equipment
�� System management
�� Information and Communication Technology (ICT) infrastructure 

upgrade

Completed works
Adult Custodial

�� Wooroloo redevelopment
�� Urgent and immediate expansion program (600 beds)
�� Pardelup Prison Farm

Community and Youth Justice
�� CYJ office establishment and refurbishment 
�� Pilbara CYJ
�� Riverbank Community Work Hub
�� 24 bed unit at Banksia Hill

New Works in 2010-11 include:
Community and Youth Justice

�� Court Assessment and Treatment Service office accommodation
�� CYJ office establishment and refurbishment   
�� Youth Justice IT replacement                         

Prison Services
�� Prison industries – mobile plant

CAPITAL WORKS
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The Department’s 2009/10 advertising expenditure is detailed in the table below

Advertising expenditure 2008/09 ($) 2009/10 ($)
Adcorp Australia Ltd 117,506 236,692

Albany Advertiser 105 -

Bigredsky Ltd - 662

Choice One - 3,144

Imagehunter Films - 5,940

North West Expo Inc - 4,109

Marketforce Advertising 797 171

Marketforce Express 69,612 -

Media Decisions OMD 57,985 597

Mitchell and Partners 108,934 -

Precision Badges Connolly - 1,310

Pemberton Press 360 -

Spice Digital Imaging - 1,515

Sands Publishing P/L - 451

State Law Publisher 3,553 4,366

Trademark Graphic - 335

Telstra - 74,570

TMP Worldwide Pty Ltd 49,153 17,160

West Print Management - 6,202

Western Australian Local Government Association - 6,040

Whistling Moose Graphics - 160

WA News 522 1,190

Total $408,527 $364,614

COMPLIANCE REPORTS
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Disability Access and Inclusion Plan
In 2009/10 the Department continued its commitment to ensuring the provision of professional and appropriate 
services for stakeholders with a physical, intellectual, sensory or cognitive disability, their carers and families. 

The range of measures to support access for people with disabilities are reported against the key standards 
outlined in the Disability Services Act 1993 and the Department’s Disability Access and Inclusion Plan (DAIP) 
2007-2010.  The Department will be developing a new DAIP for 2011-2013.

Standard 1 - People with a disability have the same opportunities as others to access the services of, 
and any events organised by, the Department.
The Department’s Disability Services Coordinator provides support and advice to prisoners, their families, 
carers and staff on the needs of prisoners with an intellectual disability or intellectual impairment and the 
services available to them. 

The Intellectual Disability Diversion Program Coordinator continues to provide access to modified programs 
for offenders with intellectual disabilities, through the Perth Magistrates Court. The program aims to divert 
offenders with a disability, when charged with minor offences, from court to community-based interventions. 

Programs provided to ensure people with a disability are able to access services include:
�� Legal and Social Awareness Program and the Sex Offenders Program, which have been specifically 

adapted for prisoners with an intellectual disability and intellectual impairment 
�� Transitional Accommodation and Support Service which provides pre- and post-release services for 

offenders with a cognitive disability
�� Victorian Offending Needs Indicator for Youth (VONIY) assessments, completed for young offenders to 

identify their needs, inform case management planning and enhance case practice.  The Department 
is investigating an alternative assessment tool which can be used at the pre-sentence stage to replace 
VONIY.

Intellectual Disability Diversion Program provides consultancy, training and 
support to youth justice officers and community corrections officers supervising 
offenders with an intellectual disability, in addition to court diversion.

The findings of a review to identify the prevalence of intellectual disability 
in young people and their associated needs at Banksia Hill Detention 
Centre are being used to develop the new model of working with young 
people, particularly in custodial environments.  

As part of its Equity and Diversity Improvement Plan 2007-2010, the 
Department improved the quality of data collection to enable the 
identification of employees with a disability. This has been achieved 
through the establishment of a HR Kiosk census collection system to 
allow employees to self-identify details relating to any disability, should 
they wish to do so. 

The Department’s Recruitment and Selection Policy has been reviewed 
and tools and kits have been developed to help managers address 
barriers in order to achieve increased employment of people with a 
disability. Employees with sight, hearing or hand movement difficulties 
have access to accessibility options in the Department’s standard 
computing environment and to specific software or equipment if required.

Standard 2 – People with a disability have the same opportunities 
as other people to access the buildings and facilities of the 
Department.
All major capital works, refurbished projects and relevant building codes 
are reviewed to ensure equitable access to facilities for people with 
disabilities. The Department made all necessary changes to ensure the 
correct standards were met. 
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Standard 3 – People with a disability receive information from the Department in a format that will 
enable them to access the information as readily as other people are able to access it.
The Department produces brochures for offenders, carers and court employees to explain some of the 
processes within the corrections system. Specialist staff provide advice and advocacy for victims, offenders 
and carers with literacy difficulties in custody and the community.

Standard 4 – People with a disability receive the same level and quality of service from Department 
staff as other people receive.
The Department’s staff training and induction programs include modules about the needs of people with a 
disability and the services and facilities available to them. 

All new prison officers receive specific disability awareness training to help them identify and manage prisoners 
with intellectual impairment.

The Department and the Disability Services Commission have formed a Partnering Charter to share information 
on treatment programs, education and vocational training, and services available to offenders in custody to 
assist with pre-release planning and community support for offenders with an intellectual disability. 

The Department continues to manage the Intellectual Disability Diversion Program (IDDP), in partnership 
with the Department of the Attorney General, through the Magistrates Court. The program aims to divert 
offenders with a disability, when charged with minor offences, from court to community-based interventions. 
Consultancy, training and support are provided to youth justice officers and community corrections officers 
supervising offenders with an intellectual disability.

The Department and the Disability Services Commission have appointed dedicated officers in prisons, courts and 
within the Commission to improve systems and modify programs to provide for the needs of people with a disability.

Standard 5 – People with a disability have the same opportunities as other people to make complaints 
to the Department.
The Department continues to provide ACCESS, a central registry for offenders, staff and members of the 
public who wish to raise issues relating to the Department.

ACCESS has a 24-hour, seven-day-a-week confidential telephone system where complainants with a disability 
can leave a recorded message or speak directly with a complaints officer during business hours. The service 
is available from anywhere in the State for the cost of a local call.

The Department has implemented the following arrangements to assist people with a disability to make 
complaints or comments:

�� An on-site interpreter or a telephone interpreter from the Translating and Interpreting Service (TIS) or 
the Deaf Society is available free of charge.

�� Prisoners with a disability can discuss their issue in confidence with a complaints officer. Calls to 
ACCESS are not recorded or monitored. Alternatively, prisoners can use a confidential mailbox if preferred.

�� Face-to-face interviews can be made by appointment for people with a disability.

COMPLIANCE REPORTS
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Freedom of Information
The Freedom of Information (FOI) branch manages all requests made to the Department for access to 
documents under the Freedom of Information Act 1992 and makes decisions on access under the authority 
delegated by the Commissioner.  The FOI branch also helps with requests for documents available for purchase 
or free of charge.

In 2009/10, the Department received 730 FOI applications and finalised 699 applications. Of four internal 
reviews received, two original decisions were confirmed, one was varied and one was not completed. Four 
external reviews were finalised by the Information Commissioner who upheld two decisions and varied two 
decisions. (See table).

Freedom of Information applications made to the Department.
2008/09 2009/10

Personal information requests 323 663

Non-personal information requests 19 24

Amendment of personal information 0 0

Applications transferred in full 34 43

Total applications received 376 730

Applications completed 350 699

Applications withdrawn 24 74

Internal reviews completed 6 3

External reviews completed 1 4

Applications outstanding 29 60

Recordkeeping Plans
It is vital for the Department to build and maintain relationships with a 
range of stakeholders.  To achieve this the right systems, processes 
and tools are in place.  The Department’s existing tool associated with 
managing government and Ministerial communications had reached its 
‘use by date’.  During 2009/10 the Department assessed the marketplace, 
procured an application widely used in other large government agencies 
in Australia, developed the application and trained staff in readiness for 
implementation. The new application, MINCOR, has many advantages 
over its predecessor. It is user-friendly with logical processing ability, 
robust security and sound records management.

The efficiency and effectiveness of the Department’s recordkeeping 
systems is evaluated at least once every five years.

In accordance with the requirements of the State Records Act 2000, the 
Department reported against the following in 2009/10:

�� The Department’s Recordkeeping Plan (RKP) was revised and 
resubmitted to the State Record Commission for endorsement.

�� The new Corporate Records Management branch structure 
resulted in 13 positions advertised and substantively filled. 
The branch’s scope and responsibilities expanded to include 
enterprise recordkeeping practices, training of staff, providing 
consultancy, compliance and meeting the Department’s 
obligations under the State Records Act 2000.

COMPLIANCE REPORTS
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�� A draft audit plan to evaluate the effectiveness of the recordkeeping program and maintain compliance 
with the RKP was established. This will incorporate a ‘health check’ of all the recordkeeping practices 
throughout the Department and will be implemented in 2010/11 as prescribed in the RKP.

�� A project to upgrade to a new version of TRIM records management system was completed in 
December 2009. The upgrade enhances the Department’s capacity to manage records electronically 
and more efficiently.

The Department conducts a recordkeeping training program.

Online records management and awareness training (RAT) continued to be conducted with the enrolment of 
1,276 staff. More than half of the staff (53%) have now either completed or are in the process of finishing the 
training.  As part of TRIM user training, an abridged version of the RAT training is also conducted.

The Department continues to keep staff informed of their recordkeeping requirements through its intranet. To 
improve the Department’s ability to deliver relevant recordkeeping information and awareness to staff, a review 
has commenced and will be completed in 2010/11.

The efficiency and effectiveness of the recordkeeping training program is reviewed periodically and continually 
improved.

The Department’s induction program addresses employee roles and responsibilities in complying with the 
organisation’s recordkeeping plan.

The recordkeeping roles and responsibilities of staff are communicated to all new staff at corporate induction 
sessions and via the online records management and awareness training package.

Future Directions in Knowledge Management
The Department is committed to continuous improvement in the management of information and knowledge 
resources of the Department to enable its staff to meet operational and legislative requirements.

The future directions in knowledge management include:
�� better management of important records through the Department’s electronic document and records 

management system (EDRMS)
�� achievement of business outcomes and compliance with legislative requirements through better 

business processes, especially in the management of offender records
�� integration and rationalisation of systems for richer, more accessible and more integrated information 

base from which informed decisions can be made
�� creation of support systems to enable staff to manage their own information resources locally
�� investigation of ways to manage unstructured and implied knowledge of the Department.

COMPLIANCE REPORTS
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Department Website
The Department’s new website (www.correctiveservices.wa.gov.au) went live on 9 March 2010.

The new website was developed following extensive user and staff consultation.  The website also meets the 
Public Sector Commission’s Website Governance Framework Website Standards: Common Website Elements, 
accessibility requirements and the Guidelines for State Government Websites.  It conforms to the World Wide 
Web Consortium’s (W3C) Web Content Accessibility Guidelines (WCAG) 1.0 Level A requirements.

The main theme of the new website is to highlight how the Department contributes to community safety by 
making a positive difference in the lives of offenders.  The website reflects all aspects of the Department and its 
services including prisons, community work, rehabilitation and career opportunities.  It also includes visiting times, 
facilities location maps and bus services for those visiting prisons and community corrections centres as well as a 
dedicated section for journalists seeking up-to-date statistics and developments. The new website also includes 
a business section for interested not-for-profit organisations looking to offer offenders projects that give them the 
opportunity to repay the community and improve their work skills.  

The website’s navigation structure makes it easier for users to find the information they seek in fewer clicks and 
has new features to provide the visually impaired better navigation and access.

During the website’s first full month of operation in April 2010, there was a 12.89% increase in visits to the 
website compared to the old website during the same period in 2009.  

COMPLIANCE REPORTS
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Substantive Equality
The Department continued to demonstrate its commitment to the 
Government’s policy framework for substantive equality in 2009/10. This 
policy framework is part of the Public Sector Anti-Racism and Equality 
Program to ensure equitable outcomes for all clients of public sector 
services.

The Department’s Policy (Substantive Equality) Reference Group 
oversees the implementation of the policy framework throughout all 
business areas while considering the impact of policies on service users. 

The Reference Group includes a representative from the Aboriginal 
Justice directorate.

Achievements during the year included training for policy officers and 
members of the Reference Group on substantive equality and the 
Department’s Aboriginal Impact Statement.  The training was developed 
and delivered jointly by the Academy and the Equal Opportunity 
Commission.  

The Department appointed a senior officer and implementing officer to 
the Equal Opportunity Commission’s Police and Justice Substantive 
Equality Inter-Government Partners Group whose role is to progress the 
aims of the Government’s Policy Framework for Substantive Equality.

The Department is in the process of identifying further projects for needs 
and impact assessments to be undertaken in the future.

Occupational Safety and Health
The Department is committed to promoting a safe and healthy environment for work in accordance with 
the Occupations Health and Safety (OSH) Act 1984; AS/NZS 4801:2001 Occupational Health and Safety 
Management Systems – specifications with guidance for use and the Code of Practice: Occupational Safety 
and Health in the Western Australian Public Sector.
To achieve this, the Department continues to use the WorkSafe Plan to conduct internal audits, and refers to 
this audit tool as the standard by which all OSH processes and practices must conform.  An internal audit of 
the Department’s OSH system and practices identified several inherent strengths.

Requirement Achievement 2009/10
A statement of the agency’s commitment to occupational 
safety and health and injury management

OSH Policy reviewed in July 2010

A formal mechanism for consultation with employees on 
occupational safety and health matters

Communication, consultation and Issue Resolution Policy 
reviewed in September 2009

A statement confirming that a self evaluation (annual) or 
external accredited assessment (within previous three 
years) of occupational safety and health management 
systems has been completed with a summary of findings.

2009/10 OSH Audit Report and tabled with the Corporate 
OSH Committee in September 2009

Compliance with injury management requirements of the 
Workers’ Compensation and Injury Management Act 1981

Injury management managed in accordance with the 
requirements of the Workers’ Compensation and Injury 
Management Act 1981

Zero fatalities Zero fatalities 

10% reduction on 2008/09 Lost Time Injury/diseases rate
(2008/09 – 5.2)

Achievement = LTI rate of 2.96 (Target = LTI rate of 4.68 
or less)

10% reduction on 2008/09 Lost time injury severity rate
(2008/2009 – 24.7)

* This is reported in workers comp section

Number of participants to complete Training Academy 1 
day OSH training for managers 

13 participants

COMPLIANCE REPORTS
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Contracts
DCS AWARDED CONTRACTS FOR THE PERIOD 1 JULY 2009 TO 30 JUNE 2010 (greater than $150,000)

Contract No. Contract Description Supplier Awarded 
Value

DCS402009 Provision of Domestic Violence 
Perpetrator Program Services (NFP) 
- Panel

RELATIONSHIPS AUSTRALIA, ANGLICARE 
WA AND COMMUNICARE INC.

8,500,000

DCS352008 Supply of Footwear Components to 
Casuarina Prison - Panel

PANEL OF CONTRACTORS 2,000,000

DCS8509 Food and Groceries for Bunbury 
Regional Prison - Panel

PANEL OF CONTRACTORS 1,770,000

DCS602009 Air Charter Services for the Trans-
port of Prisoners in the Goldfields 
Region - Panel

GOLDFIELDS AIR SERVICES AND DIRECT 
AIR CHARTER

1,400,000

DCS582009 Provision of a Drug Rehabilitation 
and Counselling Program (DRCP) to 
Juvenile Offenders throughout the 
Metropolitan Area

HOLYOAKE AUSTRALIAN INSTITUTE FOR 
ALCOHOL AND DRUG ADDICTION RESOLU-
TION INC

1,232,000

DCS412009 Provision of Coach/Bus Services - 
Panel

GREYHOUND AUSTRALIA PTY LTD & A&N 
ENTERPRISES (AUSTRALIA) PTY LTD

900,000

DCS92010 EGRP Bulk Groceries - Panel PANEL OF CONTRACTORS 900,000

DCS132010 Air Services for Inter-Prison Escorts 
Perth-Broome

SKIPPERS AVIATION PTY LTD 898,300

DCS452009 Provision of Air Charter Services for 
the Kimberley Region

BROOME AIR SERVICES PTY LTD 851,000

DCS302009 Supply of Dry Timber THE LAMINEX GROUP 540,000

DCS432009 Provision of Aboriginal Cultural De-
velopment Program for Juveniles at 
Banksia Hill Detention Centre

KOOYA CONSULTANCY 493,000

DCS62009 Provision of Brief Intervention Serv-
ices at Bandyup Women’s Prison

WOMENS HEALTH CARE ASSN INC 476,636

DCS 182009 Provision of Brief Intervention Serv-
ices at Hakea Prison

MISSION AUSTRALIA 458,000

DCS442008 Rehabilitative Programs to Juvenile 
Offenders for Banksia Hill Detention 
Centre and Rangeview Remand 
Centre - Act Out - Panel

PANEL OF CONTRACTORS 400,000

DCS122009 Cleaning Services for Joondalup and 
Warwick CJS Centres

SOUTHERN CROSS CLEANING 235,000

DCS422009 Supply of Tasers to the Emergency 
Support Group

BREON ENTERPRISES PTY. LTD. 190,000

DCS152009 Cleaning Services for Rangeview 
Remand Centre

AIRLITE CLEANING PTY LTD 186,000

DCS652009 Financial Advisor/Financial Due 
Diligence for the Young Adult Facility 
Project (CUA 23706)

KPMG MANAGEMENT CONSULTING 180,000

DCS162009 Supply of Ammunition for the Bal-
listic Weapon

WESFIRE 161,000

DCS352009 Provision of Training Services for the 
Advanced Diploma of Management

AUSTRALIAN INSTITUTE OF MANAGEMENT 
HRD INC

160,000

CONTRACTS
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AUDITED KEY  
PERFORMANCE INDICATORS

CERTIFICATION OF PERFORMANCE INDICATORS
For the year ended 30 June 2010
We hereby certify the performance indicators are based on proper records, are relevant and appropriate for 
assisting users to assess the performance of the Department of Corrective Services and fairly represent the 
performance of the Department for the financial year 2009/2010.

Mark Kuzminski 
CHIEF FINANCE OFFICER
Department of Corrective Services 
7 September 2010

Ian Johnson
COMMISSIONER
Department of Corrective Services

7 September 2010
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Measuring Our Performance
The Department of Corrective Services’ outcome based management framework is consistent with the 
Government’s goal of “Outcomes Based Service Delivery: Greater focus on achieving results in key service 
areas for the benefit of all Western Australians”.

Key Performance Indicators (KPIs) are instrumental in assessing and monitoring our performance in areas 
that have been identified as critical to our business. The KPIs are monitored and reported on quarterly and 
annually, and the results are used to drive improvements.

Relationship to Government Goals
The table below demonstrates the link between the most relevant, high-level Government goals and the more 
specific agency level outcomes. By achieving its desired outcomes, the Department ultimately contributes to 
meeting the high-level Government goals.

Government Goal(s) Desired DCS Outcomes Services
Outcomes Based Service Delivery: 
Greater focus on achieving results in 
key service areas for the benefit of all 
Western Australians. 

A safe, secure and decent corrective 
services which contributes to com-
munity safety and reduced offenders’ 
involvement in the justice system.

1. Adult Offender Services
2. Youth Offender Services

Adult Offenders
Proper containment, care and rehabilitation of offenders and their successful re-entry into the community is 
critical to the community’s sense of safety and security.  The quality and effectiveness of Western Australia’s 
prison system and the rehabilitation programs it offers has a direct bearing on the perception of a safe and 
orderly community.

Service 1: Adult Offender Services
Adult offenders are managed in custody and in the community to fulfil the orders of the courts and releasing 
authorities.  This is achieved through the provision of case management, remedial programs, improved education 
and employment skills, sentencing reports and assessment reports. These reports outline an offender’s suitability 
for release or their progress in the community to releasing authorities such as the Prisoner Review Board.

Effectiveness Indicators: 

1.1 Escape Rate
This indicator measures the escape rate for offenders in custody by their prison’s security rating – maximum, 
medium and minimum.  It is a measure of the protection provided to the community through safe and secure 
custodial systems.  It is also indicative of effective management and assessment policies and practices.

The indicator is derived by calculating the number of absconds/escapes, by security rating, as a percentage of 
the average daily population by security rating.

AuDItED KEY  
pERFoRMANCE INDICAtoRs
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The escape rate is continuing to exhibit a yearly downward trend despite the significant growth in the prison 
population during 2009/10, indicating ongoing improved performance in this area. The 2009/10 rates are 
based on a total of three escapes, all of which were minimum-security. There were no escapes from maximum-
security prisons.

In addition to a general improvement to dynamic security, the use of standardised, validated scoring instruments 
to determine security classification has positively impacted on the escape rate. These scoring instruments 
have been subject to continuous improvement and help in the determination and management of risk in the 
areas of escape, control and levels of danger. 

1.2 Imprisonment Rate – Adults / 100,000 Population
This performance indicator measures the number of prisoners per 100,000 people in the corresponding adult 
population.  It highlights the extent to which the Department is achieving its aim of contributing to reduced 
rates of imprisonment however, care should be taken when interpreting this indicator as imprisonment rates 
are affected by police operations, court efficiency and other welfare services.

This indicator is calculated by the Australian Bureau of Statistics (ABS).  The Department provides prisoner 
population data to the ABS which calculates the rate based on national population estimates.  It is then 
published in Corrective Services Australia (Cat 4512.0) each quarter.  

Assumptions apply to the estimated resident population (ERP) that the ABS uses to calculate the imprisonment 
rates.  The population used to calculate the rates is a sub-population of the ERP and further assumptions 
therefore also apply.  The assumptions underpinning the ERP can be found in the Explanatory Notes of the 
ABS publication Australian Demographic Statistics (Cat 3101.0). The additional assumptions underpinning 
the population subset used in the calculation of the rates can be found in the Explanatory Notes of Corrective 
Services Australia (Cat 4512.0).

There is a three month lag between the publication of the ABS report and the Department’s reporting 
requirement. The June 2010 quarter figures are not available in time for the Department’s reporting process 
and as a result, March 2010 quarter figures are used. As at the March 2010 quarter, the rate was 281.1.

Rates of imprisonment continue to increase, driven by a combination of factors including general population 
growth, more effective police operations, changed sentencing practices, a rise in the number of people held in 
custody while awaiting trial, and a lack of mental health facilities in the community. 

AuDItED KEY  
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1.3 Rate of Return – Adults
The rate of return is defined as the rate of return to the offender management system, by distinct adult 
offenders, within two years of release from custody or the termination of a community-based order.  Changes 
in the rate of re-offending provide some indication of the effectiveness of personal development activities and 
rehabilitation programs. Effectiveness also depends on other factors such as sentencing legislation, changes 
in the nature of offences committed, the rate at which community orders are breached for non-compliance, and 
factors outside the direct control of the Department such as police operations, housing availability and other 
social issues. 

Research has shown offenders are most likely to re-offend within two years of their release from corrective 
services.  The two-year cut-off period is consistent with standards developed by all national correctional 
jurisdictions and the independent review and advisory body, the Productivity Commission.

To be consistent with the national standards, the rate of re-offending excludes fine default sentences, exits to 
and commencements of post-prison community corrections orders, conditional/monitored bail orders and work 
and development orders.

This indicator has shown marginal variation from the previous financial years and is above the target for 
2009/10.

Note: Distinct offender means an offender is counted only once, even if the offender re-enters corrective 
services on more than one occasion.

1.4 Successful Completion of Community Corrections Orders – Adults
This indicator measures the completion rate of community corrections orders. It is an indicator of offenders’ 
responsible and law-abiding behaviour while under the supervision of the Department of Corrective Services.

Generally, the higher the completion rate, the better the performance. However where offenders are non-
compliant and pose a risk, breach action is warranted and contributes to community safety. As a result, a 
decrease in the completion rate may not necessarily be poor performance.  It may reflect tighter responses to 
breaches by offenders or more accountable supervision practices by community corrections officers.

AuDItED KEY  
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Orders are considered successfully completed if they run their full course without breach action finalised or 
pending.  Types of community corrections orders include:

intensive supervision –  community-based
 f short-term parole
 f work release
 f re-entry
 f conditional bail
 f monitored bail
 f pre-sentence
 f work and development.

Intensive supervision and community-based orders were established as a result of the Sentencing Act 1995 
to replace probation and community service orders. Short-term parole and re-entry orders (which replace 
the work release orders) and pre-sentence orders were established as a result of the sentencing legislation 
effective from August 2004. 

The indicator is derived by calculating the number of orders completed as a proportion of all orders validly 
terminated, completed or expired.

The 2009/10 result is 61.86%, which is below the target by about 4%.

AuDItED KEY  
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1.5 Average Out of Cell Hours
This performance indicator is measured according to national standards.  Providing a secure, safe and decent 
custodial environment includes managing prisoners in a manner that minimises the risks they pose to the 
community, while enabling them to achieve an acceptable quality of life.  Time spent out of cells provides a 
greater opportunity for prisoners to participate in activities such as work, education, wellbeing, recreation and 
treatment programs, visits, and interacting with other prisoners and staff.  

Higher average out of cell hours per day indicates better performance towards achieving this outcome.

An average of 12.17 hours has been achieved, which is above the target. This can largely be attributed to the 
re-commissioning of Pardelup Prison Farm, which averages 17 out of cell hours per day. 

1.6 Serious Assault Rate per 100 Prisoners
This performance indicator is measured according to national standards. Providing a safe, secure and decent 
custodial environment includes providing a prison environment where there is a low level of violence, whether 
perpetrated by a prisoner on other prisoners or on staff. 

The rate is per 100 prisoners and is calculated based on the number of assaults classified as serious by 
prisoners on prisoners and prisoners on staff.

Low assault rates indicate better performance towards achieving the objective.

The serious assault rate of 0.08 per 100 prisoners for the 2009/10 year was less than in previous reporting 
periods and below the 2009/10 target. This can largely be attributed to improved prison management however, 
it must be noted that the rate of serious assaults is subject to significant variations from one year to the next. 

AuDItED KEY  
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1.7 Community Corrections Rate – Adults / 100,000 Population
The community corrections rate represents the number of offenders managed by community corrections per 
100,000 people in the corresponding adult population.  The indicator is a measure of the levels of community 
corrections activity. Care should be taken when interpreting this indicator as, just like the imprisonment rate, 
community corrections rates are also affected by police operations, court efficiency and other welfare services.

The Department provide community corrections population data to the Australian Bureau of Statistics (ABS) 
which calculates the rate based on national population estimates.  It is then published in Corrective Services 
Australia (Cat 4512.0) each quarter.  There is a three month lag between the publication of the report and the 
Department’s reporting requirements, therefore each quarter, the previous quarter’s rate is reported.

Assumptions apply to the estimated resident population (ERP) that the ABS uses to calculate the community 
corrections rate.  The population used to calculate the rates is a sub-population of the ERP and further 
assumptions therefore also apply.  The assumptions underpinning the ERP can be found in the Explanatory 
Notes of the ABS publication Australian Demographic Statistics (Cat 3101.0). The additional assumptions 
underpinning the population subset used in the calculation of the rates can be found in the Explanatory Notes 
of Corrective Services Australia (Cat 4512.0).

This indicator was new for 2006/07. Previous years data are based on the ABS publication: Corrective Services 
Australia (Cat 4512.0).

The community corrections rate has continued to decrease with a rate of 309.2 per 100,000 adult population 
in the March 2010 quarter. 

The sharp decline over the past year may be attributed to a decline in community-based dispositions ordered 
by judicial authorities.

AuDItED KEY  
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Efficiency Indicators:

1.8 Cost Per Day of Keeping an Offender in Custody 
This indicator measures the full accrual cost of managing an adult offender in custody per day.  It is calculated 
by dividing the total accrual cost of managing an adult offender in custody by the average daily number of adult 
offenders, divided by 365 days. 

The final cost of $262.82 per day was marginally below the target figure. The 2009/10 actual was based on a 
daily average population of 4,759.

1.9 Cost Per Day of Managing an Offender through Community Supervision
This indicator measures the unit cost of managing an adult offender per day through community supervision.  
It is calculated by dividing the total accrual cost of managing an adult offender through community supervision 
by the average daily number of offenders supervised, divided by 365 days.

The actual result in 2009-10 is marginally higher than the target. The increase can mainly be attributed to a 4% 
decline in the number of cases heard. 

AuDItED KEY  
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Youth Offenders

Service 2: Youth Offender Services
Service Description: Young people who have offended are managed in detention and in the community to 
fulfil the orders of the courts, and through diversion from court programs.  These young people participate in 
remedial, educational and rehabilitation programs that address their offending behaviour.

Effectiveness Indicators: 

2.1 Rate of Return to Detention
The rate of return to detention is defined as the proportion of young people who return to sentenced detention 
within two years of release from sentenced detention. This indicator is measured over the two previous financial 
years. 

The rate of return to detention provides an indication of the effectiveness of personal development activities and 
rehabilitation programs.  The rate is also dependent on other factors such as sentencing legislation, changes 
in the nature of offences committed and the rate at which offenders on community orders are breached for 
non-compliance.

Note: A detainee is counted only once, even if the detainee re-enters the system several times.

The rate of return to detention of 59.9% is higher than the 2009/10 target and higher than 2008/09 results. 
It should be noted that due to the small number of young people involved in calculating the rate of return to 
detention, an increase or decrease in the juvenile population has a significant impact on the rate.

AuDItED KEY  
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2.2 Escape Rate
This indicator measures the escape rate from all juvenile detention centres.  It is a measure of the protection 
provided to the community through the provision of safe and secure custodial systems.  It is also indicative of 
effective management and assessment policies and practices.

This indicator is derived by calculating the number of escapes as a percentage of the average daily detention population.

2.3 Successful Completion of Community Corrections Orders
This indicator measures orders that have run their full course without breach action finalised or pending. It 
provides an indication of the completion rate of community corrections orders, and an offender’s responsible 
and law-abiding behaviour, while under the supervision of the Department of Corrective Services. 

Generally the higher the completion rate, the better the performance. However, as with the adult system, non-
compliant offenders can be considered a risk and a breach action can be taken. This may reduce the completion 
rate but can also be considered a contribution to community safety. As a result, a decrease in the completion rate 
may not necessarily indicate poor performance but may reflect more stringent supervision of offenders.

It is derived by calculating the number of orders successfully completed as a proportion of all orders validly 
terminated, completed or expired. 

Types of community corrections orders include:
 f youth community-based
 f intensive youth supervision
 f intensive youth supervision (with detention)
 f supervised release orders
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The successful completion of community corrections orders continues to show positive results and is close 
to the target of 67%. The continuing focus on enforcing compliance of orders has contributed to this positive 
result and the positive trend of this indicator for the last four years.

Efficiency Indicators:

2.4 Cost Per Day of Keeping a Young Person in Detention
This indicator measures the unit cost per day of managing a young person in detention. 

It is calculated by dividing the total accrual cost of managing a young person in detention by the average daily 
population, divided by 365 days.

Cost per day in this area is slightly less than the target. 

2.5 Cost Per Day of Managing a Young Person through Community Supervision
This indicator is calculated by dividing the total accrual cost of managing a young person through community 
supervision by the average daily number being supervised, divided by 365 days.

The main cause behind the 24% unfavourable variance between the actual 2009/2010 and the target 2009/2010 
is due to the inclusion of Regional Youth Justice Services allocation in the costs but exclusion from the target.  
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Statement of Certification

DEPARTMENT OF CORRECTIVE SERVICES

CERTIFICATION OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 30 June 2010

The accompanying financial statements of the Department of Corrective Services have been prepared in 
compliance with the provisions of the Financial Management Act 2006 from proper accounts and records to 
present fairly the financial transactions for the financial year ending 30 June 2010 and the financial position as 
at 30 June 2010.

At the date of signing the Department is not aware of any circumstances which would render any particulars 
included in the financial statements misleading or inaccurate.

Mark Kuzminski 
CHIEF FINANCE OFFICER
Department of Corrective Services 

7 September 2010

Ian Johnson
COMMISSIONER
Department of Corrective Services

7 September 2010
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INDEPENDENT AUDIT OPINION
To the Parliament of Western Australia

DEPARTMENT OF CORRECTIVE SERVICES
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND KEY PERFORMANCE INDICATORS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2010
I have audited the accounts, financial statements, controls and key performance indicators of the Department 
of Corrective Services.

The financial statements comprise the Statement of Financial Position as at 30 June 2010, and the Statement 
of Comprehensive Income, Statement of Changes in Equity, Statement of Cash Flows, Schedule of Income 
and Expenses by Service, Schedule of Assets and Liabilities by Service, and Summary of Consolidated 
Account Appropriations and Income Estimates for the year then ended, a summary of significant accounting 
policies and other explanatory Notes.

The key performance indicators consist of key indicators of effectiveness and efficiency.

Commissioner’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements and Key Performance Indicators
The Commissioner is responsible for keeping proper accounts, and the preparation and fair presentation of 
the financial statements in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards and the Treasurer’s Instructions, 
and the key performance indicators. This responsibility includes establishing and maintaining internal controls 
relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements and key performance indicators 
that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error; selecting and applying appropriate 
accounting policies; making accounting estimates that are reasonable in the circumstances; and complying 
with the Financial Management Act 2006 and other relevant written law.

Summary of my Role
As required by the Auditor General Act 2006, my responsibility is to express an opinion on the financial 
statements, controls and key performance indicators based on my audit. This was done by testing selected 
samples of the audit evidence. I believe that the audit evidence I have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to 
provide a basis for my audit opinion. Further information on my audit approach is provided in my audit practice 
statement. This document is available on the OAG website under “How We Audit”.

An audit does not guarantee that every amount and disclosure in the financial statements and key performance 
indicators is error free. The term “reasonable assurance” recognises that an audit does not examine all 
evidence and every transaction. However, my audit procedures should identify errors or omissions significant 
enough to adversely affect the decisions of users of the financial statements and key performance indicators.

Department of Corrective Services
Financial Statements and Key Performance Indicators for the year ended 30 June 2010
Audit Opinion
In my opinion,

(i) the financial statements are based on proper accounts and present fairly the financial position of the Department 
of Corrective Services at 30 June 2010 and its financial performance and cash flows for the year ended on that 
date. They are in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards and the Treasurer’s Instructions;

(ii) the controls exercised by the Department provide reasonable assurance that the receipt, expenditure and 
investment of money, the acquisition and disposal of property, and the incurring of liabilities have been in 
accordance with legislative provisions; and

(iii) the key performance indicators of the Department are relevant and appropriate to help users assess the 
Department’s performance and fairly represent the indicated performance for the year ended 30 June 2010.

COLIN MURPHY
AUDITOR GENERAL
9 September 2010
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STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2010
Note

2010 2009
 $000  $000 

COST OF SERVICES
Expenses 
Employee benefits expenses 7  340,230  317,183 

Supplies and services 8  197,274  167,243 

Depreciation and amortisation expense 9  19,129  16,137 

Finance Costs 10  277  18 

Accommodation expenses 11  10,533  10,114 

Grants and subsidies 12  8,003  7,346 

Loss on disposal of non-current assets 13  21  13 

Other expenses 14  70,733  60,844 

Total cost of services  646,200  578,898 

Revenue
User charges and fees 15  61  50 

Commonwealth grants and contributions 16  606  1,018 

Other revenues 17  36,870  33,483 

Total Revenue  37,537  34,551 

Total income other than income from State Government  37,537  34,551 

NET COST OF SERVICES  608,663  544,347 

INCOME FROM STATE GOVERNMENT 18

Service appropriation  586,026  522,868 

Resources received free of charge  15,292  14,158 

Total income from State Government  601,318  537,026 

DEFICIT FOR THE YEAR  (7,345)  (7,321)

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
Change in asset revaluation surplus 27  (65,326)  18,239 

Total other comprehensive income  (65,326)  18,239 

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR THE YEAR  (72,671)  10,918 

The Statement of Comprehensive Income should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AS AT 30 JUNE 2010
Note

2010 2009

 $000  $000 

ASSETS
Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents 28  38,072  31,289 

Receivables 20  11,722  11,525 

Amounts receivable for services 21  11,430  11,333 

Total current assets  61,224  54,147 

Non-current assets
Restricted cash and cash equivalents 19  5,045  3,548 

Amounts receivable for services 21  27,130  19,825 

Property, plant and equipment 22  831,078  822,252 

Intangible assets 23  7,632  7,795 

Total non-current assets  870,885  853,420 

TOTAL ASSETS  932,109  907,567 

LIABILITIES
Current liabilities
Payables 24  29,208  21,871 

Borrowings 25  1,065  159 

Provisions 26  58,482  56,448 

Total current liabilities  88,755  78,478 

Non-current liabilities
Provisions 26  23,191  21,784 

Borrowings 25  8,116  873 

Total non-current liabilities  31,307  22,657 

TOTAL LIABILITIES  120,062  101,135 

NET ASSETS  812,047  806,432 

EQUITY 27

Contributed equity  689,479  611,193 

Reserves  148,250  213,576 

Accumulated deficit  (25,682)  (18,337)

TOTAL EQUITY  812,047  806,432 

The Statement of Financial Position should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2010
Note

2010 2009
 $000  $000 

CASH FLOWS FROM THE STATE GOVERNMENT
Service appropriation  567,291  503,835 

Capital contributions  77,396  9,240 

Holding account drawdowns  11,333  16,144 

Net cash provided by the State Government  656,020  529,219 

*�����
����������+��
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Payments

Employee benefits  (331,873)  (276,618)

Finance Costs  (277)  (18)

Supplies and services  (258,125)  (248,230)

Accommodation  (10,533)  (10,114)

GST payments on purchases  (30,862)  (23,537)

GST payments to taxation authority  (2,109)  (2,393)

Receipts
Receipts from services  37,757  31,736 

Commonwealth grants and contributions  369  579 

GST receipts on sales  2,047  2,204 

GST receipts from taxation authority  29,970  23,676 

Net cash (used in) operating activities 28 (c)  (563,636)  (502,715)

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Purchase of non-current assets  (83,595)  (45,331)

Proceeds from sale of non-current assets  6  64 

Net cash (used in) investing activities  (83,589)  (45,267)

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Finance Lease Payments  (515)  (24)

:
�����;�<��
����=������������������
�  (515)  (24)

Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents  8,280  (18,787)

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year  34,837  53,624 

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT THE END OF THE YEAR 28 (a)  43,117  34,837 

The Statement of Cash Flows should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2010
Note

Contributed 
equity

Reserves Accumulated 
�
����

Total  
equity

 $000  $000  $000  $000 
Balance at 1 July 2008  601,953  195,337  (11,016)  786,274 

Total comprehensive income for the year  -  18,239  (7,321)  10,918 

Transaction with owners in their capacity as 
owners:

Capital appropriations  9,240  -  -  9,240 

Total  9,240  18,239  (7,321)  20,158 

Balance at 30 June 2009 27  611,193  213,576  (18,337)  806,432 

Balance at 1 July 2009  611,193  213,576  (18,337)  806,432 

Total comprehensive income for the year  -  (65,326)  (7,345)  (72,671)

Transaction with owners in their capacity as 
owners:

Contribution by owners  890  -  -  890 

Capital appropriations  77,396  -  -  77,396 

Total  78,286  (65,326)  (7,345)  5,615 

Balance at 30 June 2010 27  689,479  148,250  (25,682)  812,047 

The Statement of Changes in Equity should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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SCHEDULE OF INCOME AND EXPENSES BY SERVICE FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2010
2010 2009 2010 2009 2010 2009

 Service 1  Service 1  Service 2   Service 2  
 Adult 

Offender 
Services 

 Adult 
Offender 
Services 

 Juvenile 
Offender 
Services 

 Juvenile 
Offender 
Services 

 Total  Total 

 $000  $000  $000  $000  $000  $000 
COST OF SERVICES

Expenses
Employee benefits expense  287,867  265,011  52,363  52,172  340,230  317,183 

Depreciation and amortisation expense  15,762  13,700  3,367  2,437  19,129  16,137 

Finance costs  277  18  -  -  277  18 

Loss on disposal of non-current assets  21  8  -  5  21  13 

Other expenses  258,910  219,764  27,633  25,783  286,543  245,547 

Total cost of services  562,837  498,501  83,363  80,397  646,200  578,898 

Income
User charges and fees  61  50  -  -  61  50 

Commonwealth grants and contributions  465  858  141  160  606  1,018 

Other revenues  35,016  31,707  1,854  1,776  36,870  33,483 

Total income other than income from 
the State Government 

 35,542  32,615  1,995  1,936  37,537  34,551 

NET COST OF SERVICES  527,295  465,886  81,368  78,461  608,663  544,347 

INCOME FROM THE STATE  
GOVERNMENT 

Service appropriation  508,891  447,140  77,135  75,728  586,026  522,868 

Resources received free of charge  12,772  11,825  2,520  2,333  15,292  14,158 

Total income from the State  
Government

 521,663  458,965  79,655  78,061  601,318  537,026 

DEFICIT FOR THE YEAR  (5,632)  (6,921)  (1,713)  (400)  (7,345)  (7,321)

The Schedule of Income and Expenses by Service should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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SCHEDULE OF ASSETS AND LIABILITIES BY SERVICE FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2010
2010 2009 2010 2009 2010 2009

 Service 1  Service 1  Service 2   Service 2  
 Adult 

Offender 
Services 

 Adult 
Offender 
Services 

 Juvenile 
Offender 
Services 

 Juvenile 
Offender 
Services 

 Total  Total 

 $000  $000  $000  $000  $000  $000 
Assets
Current assets  54,077  47,302  7,147  6,845  61,224  54,147 

Non-current assets  724,330  697,216  146,555  156,204  870,885  853,420 

Total Assets  778,407  744,518  153,702  163,049  932,109  907,567 

Liabilities
Current liabilities  76,835  66,880  11,920  11,598  88,755  78,478 

Non-current liabilites  26,955  18,982  4,352  3,675  31,307  22,657 

Total liabilites  103,790  85,862  16,272  15,273  120,062  101,135 

NET ASSETS  674,617  658,656  137,430  147,776  812,047  806,432 

The Schedule of Assets and Liabilities by Service should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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SUMMARY OF CONSOLIDATED FUND APPROPRIATIONS AND INCOME ESTIMATES 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2010

2010 2010 2010 2009
 Estimate  Actual  Variation  Actual  Actual  Variation 

 $000  $000  $000  $000  $000  $000 
DELIVERY OF SERVICES
Item 63 net amount appropriated to 
deliver services

 518,677  585,219  66,542  585,219  527,095  58,124 

Section 25 transfer of service appro-
priation

 -  -  -  (5,007)  5,007 

Amount authorised by other statutes
Salaries and Allowances Act 1975

 802  807  5  807  780  27 

 519,479  586,026  66,547  586,026  522,868  63,158 

Total appropriations provided to 
deliver services

      

CAPITAL
Item 176 capital contribution  118,520  77,396  (41,124)  77,396  9,240  68,156 

GRAND  TOTAL  637,999  663,422  25,423  663,422  532,108  131,314 

DETAILS OF EXPENSES BY  
SERVICES
Service 1 - Adult Offender Services  485,163  562,837  77,674  562,837  498,501  64,336 

Service 2 - Juvenile Offender Services  72,752  83,363  10,611  83,363  80,397  2,966 

Total appropriations provided to 
deliver services

 557,915  646,200  88,285  646,200  578,898  67,302 

Total income other than income from 
the State Government

 (31,450)  (37,537)  (6,087)  (37,537) (34,551)  (2,986)

Net cost of services  526,465  608,663  82,198  608,663  544,347  64,316 

Adjustments  (6,986)  (22,637)  (15,651)  (22,637)  (21,479)  (1,158)

Total appropriations provided to 
purchase services

 519,479  586,026  66,547  586,026  522,868  63,158 

CAPITAL EXPENDITURE
Purchase of non-current physical as-
sets

 194,194  83,595  (110,599)  83,595  45,331  38,264 

Adjustment for other funding sources  75,674  6,199  (69,475)  6,199  36,091  (29,892)

CAPITAL CONTRIBUTION (APPRO-
PRIATION)

 118,520  77,396  (41,124)  77,396  9,240  68,156 

GRAND TOTAL  637,999  663,422  25,423  663,422  532,108  131,314 

Note 36 “Explanatory Statement” provides details of any significant variations between estimates and actual results for 
2010 and between the actual results for 2009 and 2010.       
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2010  

1. Australian Accounting Standards
General    

The Department's financial statements for the year ended 30 June 2010 have been prepared in  
accordance with Australian Accounting Standards. The term ‘Australian Accounting Standards’ refers to 
Standards and Interpretations issued by the Australian Accounting Standard Board (AASB). 

The Department has adopted any applicable, new and revised Australian Accounting Standards from 
their operative dates.

Early adoption of standards

The Department cannot early adopt an Australian Accounting Standard unless specifically permitted by 
Treasurer's Instruction (TI) 1101 Application of Australian Accounting Standards and Other  
Pronouncements. No Australian Accounting Standards that have been issued or amended but not  
operative have been early adopted by the Department for the annual reporting period 30 June 2010.

2. Summary of significant accounting policies     
a. General statement      

The financial statements constitute general purpose financial statements which has been prepared in  
accordance with the Australian Accounting Standards, the Framework, Statements of Accounting  
Concepts and other authoritative pronouncements of the Australian Accounting Standards Board (AASB) 
as applied by the Treasurer's Instructions (TI's). Several of these are modified by the Treasurer's  
Instructions to vary application, disclosure, format and wording.    

The Financial Management Act and the Treasurer's Instructions are legislative provisions governing the 
preparation of financial statements and take precedence over the Accounting Standards, the Framework, 
Statements of Accounting Concepts and other authoritative pronouncements of the Australian  
Accounting Standards Board.    

Where modification is required and has a material or significant effect upon the reported results, details 
of that modification and the resulting financial effect are disclosed in the notes to the financial  
statements.    

b. Basis of preparation    

The financial statements have been prepared on the accrual basis of accounting using the historical cost 
convention, modified by the revaluation of land, buildings and infrastructure which are measured at fair 
value.    

The accounting policies adopted in the preparation of the financial statements have been consistently 
applied throughout all periods presented unless otherwise stated.    

The financial statements are presented in Australian dollars and all values are rounded to the nearest 
thousand dollars ($000).    

The judgements that have been made in the process of applying the Department’s accounting policies 
that have the most significant effect on the amounts recognised in the financial statements are disclosed 
at note 3 ‘Judgements made by management in applying accounting policies’.

The key assumptions made concerning the future, and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at 
the reporting period that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts 
of assets and liabilities within the next financial year are disclosed at note 4 ‘Key sources of estimation 
uncertainty’.
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c. Reporting entity    

The reporting entity comprises the Department and no other related bodies.    

The Department of Corrective Services' mission is to reduce re-offending, assist victims, protect staff and 
the community and encourage offenders towards law abiding lifestyles.     

The Department is predominantly funded by Parliamentary appropriations.      

The Department's financial statements encompass all funds through which it controls resources to carry 
on its functions.    

The Department provides the following services:    

i. Juvenile Offender Services    

ii. Adult Offender Services    

d. Contributed equity    

AASB Interpretation 1038 Contributions by Owners Made to Wholly-Owned Public Sector Entities  
requires transfers in the nature of equity contributions, other than as a result of a restructure of adminis-
trative arrangements, to be designated by the Government (the owner) as contributions by owners (at the 
time of, or prior to transfer) before such transfers can be recognised as equity contributions. Capital ap-
propriations have been designated as contributions by owners by TI 955 Contributions by Owners made 
to Wholly Owned Public Sector Entities and have been credited directly to Contributed equity. 

The transfer of net assets to/from other agencies, other than as a result of a restructure of administrative 
arrangements, are designated as contributions by owners where the transfers are non-discretionary and 
non-reciprocal.  

e. Income    

Revenue recognition    

Revenue is measured at the fair value of consideration received or receivable. Revenue is recognised for 
the major business activities as follows:    

Sale of Goods    

Revenue is recognised from the sale of goods and disposal of other assets when the significant risks and 
rewards of ownership control transfer to the purchaser and can be reliably measured.  

Provision of services    

Revenue is recognised upon delivery of the service to the client or by reference to the stage of  
completion of the transaction.    

Service appropriations    

Service appropriations are recognised as revenues in the period in which the Department gains control of 
the appropriated funds.  The Department gains control of appropriated funds at the time those funds are 
deposited into the Department's bank account or credited to the holding account held at Treasury. Refer 
to note 18 for further commentary on service appropriations.    

Net appropriation determination    

The Department has entered into a net appropriation arrangement with the Treasurer, where the  
proceeds from services are retained by the Department.  Items covered by the agreement include sale 
of prison industry goods, commonwealth recoups, prison canteen sales recoups, workers compensation 
recoups, criminal injuries awards and other miscellaneous revenues.    
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In accordance with the determination, the Department retained $37.54 million in 2010 ($34.61m in 
2008/09). Retained revenues may only be applied to the services specified in the 2009-10 Budget  
Statements.    

Grants, donations, gifts and other non-reciprocal contributions.    

Revenue is recognised at fair value when the Department obtains control over the assets comprising the 
contributions, usually when cash is received.    

Gains    

Gains may be realised or unrealised and are usually recognised on a net basis. These include gains  
arising on the disposal of non-current assets and some revaluations of non-current assets. 

f. Property, plant and equipment and infrastructure    

Capitalisation/expensing of assets    

Items of property, plant and equipment and infrastructure costing $5,000 or more are recognised as  
assets and the cost of utilising assets is expensed (depreciated) over their useful lives. Items of property, 
plant and equipment and infrastructure costing less than $5,000 are immediately expensed direct to the 
Statement of Comprehensive Income other than where they form part of a group of similar items which 
are significant in total.    

Initial recognition and measurement    

All items of property, plant and equipment and infrastructure are initially recognised at cost. For items of 
property, plant and equipment and infrastructure acquired at no cost or for nominal cost, the cost is the 
fair value at the date of acquisition.    

Subsequent measurement    

Subsequent to initial recognition as an asset, the revaluation model is used for the measurement of land, 
buildings and infrastructure and the cost model for all other property, plant and equipment. Land, build-
ings and infrastructure are carried at fair value less accumulated depreciation (buildings and  
infrastructure only) and accumulated impairment losses. All other items of property, plant and equipment 
are stated at historical cost less accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment losses. 

Where market-based evidence is available, the fair value of land and buildings is determined on the ba-
sis of current market buying values determined by reference to recent market transactions. When build-
ings are revalued by reference to recent market transactions, the accumulated depreciation is eliminated 
against the gross carrying amount of the asset and the net amount restated to the revalued amount.

Where market-based evidence is not available, the fair value of land and buildings is determined on the 
basis of existing use. This normally applies where buildings are specialised or where land use is  
restricted. Fair value for existing use assets is determined by reference to the cost of replacing the 
remaining future economic benefits embodied in the asset, ie. the depreciated replacement cost. Where 
the fair value of buildings is determined on the depreciated replacement cost basis, the gross carrying 
amount and the accumulated depreciation are restated proportionately.    

"Independent valuations of land and buildings are provided annually by the Western Australian Land 
Information Authority (Valuation Services) and recognised annually to ensure that the carrying amount 
does not differ materially from the asset’s fair value at the end of the reporting 
period."    

The most significant assumptions in estimating fair value are made in assessing whether to apply the  
existing use basis to assets and in determining estimated useful life. Professional judgement by the 
valuer is required where the evidence does not provide a clear distinction between market type assets 
and existing use assets.    
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Derecognition    

Upon disposal or derecognition of an item of property, plant and equipment and infrastructure, any  
revaluation surplus relating to that asset is retained in the asset revaluation surplus.   

Asset revaluation surplus    

The asset revaluation surplus is used to record increments and decrements on the revaluation of  
non-current assets as described in note 22 "Property Plant and Equipment" and note 27 "Equity" . 

Depreciation    

All non-current assets having a limited useful life are systematically depreciated over their estimated  
useful lives in a manner that reflects the consumption of their future economic benefits.  

Land is not depreciated. Depreciation on other assets is calculated using the straight line method, using 
rates which are reviewed annually. Estimated useful lives for each class of depreciable asset are: 

Buildings      50 years    

Leasehold improvements   10 years    

Information technology systems   5 years    

Plant, equipment and vehicles   4 - 15 years     

Building and information technology projects are reported as Works In Progress until commissioned

g. Intangible assets    

Capitalisation/expensing of assets    

Acquisitions of intangible assets costing $5,000 or more and internally generated intangible assets  
costing $50,000 or more are capitalised. The cost of utilising the assets is expensed (amortised) over 
their useful life. Costs incurred below these thresholds are immediately expensed directly to the  
Statement of Comprehensive Income.       

All acquired and internally developed intangible assets are initially recognised at cost. For assets  
acquired at no cost or for nominal cost, the cost is their fair value at the date of acquisition. 

The cost model is applied for subsequent measurement requiring the asset to be carried at cost less any 
accumulated amortisation and accumulated impairment losses.      

Amortisation for intangible assets with finite useful lives is calculated for the period of the expected ben-
efit (estimated useful life) on the straight line basis using rates which are reviewed annually. All intangible 
assets controlled by the Department have a finite useful life and zero residual value.    

Computer software    

Software that is an integral part of the related hardware is treated as property, plant and equipment. 
Software that is not an integral part of the related hardware is treated as an intangible asset. Software 
costing less than $5,000 is expensed in the year of acquisition.     

Website costs    

Website costs are charged as expenses when they are incurred unless they relate to the acquisition or 
development of an asset when they may be capitalised and amortised. Generally, costs in relation to 
feasibility studies during the planning phase of a website, and ongoing costs of maintenance during the 
operating phase are expensed. Costs incurred in building or enhancing a website, to the extent that they 
represent probable future economic benefits that can be reliably measured, are capitalised.     
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h. Impairment of assets    

Property, plant and equipment, infrastructure and intangible assets are tested for any indication of im-
pairment at each reporting period. Where there is an indication of impairment, the recoverable amount 
is estimated. Where the recoverable amount is less than the carrying amount, the asset is considered 
impaired and is written down to the recoverable amount and an impairment loss is recognised. As the 
Department is a not-for-profit entity, unless an asset has been identified as a surplus asset, the recover-
able amount is the higher of an asset’s fair value less costs to sell and depreciated replacement cost.     

The risk of impairment is generally limited to circumstances where an asset’s depreciation is materially 
understated, where the replacement cost is falling or where there is a significant change in useful life. 
Each relevant class of assets is reviewed annually to verify that the accumulated depreciation/amortisa-
tion reflects the level of consumption or expiration of asset’s future economic benefits and to evaluate 
any impairment risk from falling replacement costs.      

Intangible assets with an indefinite useful life and intangible assets not yet available for use are tested for 
impairment at the end of each reporting period irrespective of whether there is any indication of  
impairment.    

The recoverable amount of assets identified as surplus assets is the higher of fair value less costs to sell 
and the present value of future cash flows expected to be derived from the asset. Surplus assets carried 
at fair value have no risk of material impairment where fair value is determined by reference to market-
based evidence. Where fair value is determined by reference to depreciated replacement cost, surplus 
assets are at risk of impairment and the recoverable amount is measured. Surplus assets at cost are 
tested for indications of impairment at the end of each reporting period.    

i. Leases    

Finance lease rights and obligations are initially recognised at the commencement of the lease term as 
assets and liabilities equal in amount to the fair value of the leased item or, if lower, the present value of 
the minimum lease payments determined at the inception of the lease. The assets are disclosed as plant, 
equipment and vehicles under lease, and are depreciated over the period during which the Department 
is expected to benefit from their use. Minimum lease payments are apportioned between the finance 
charge and the reduction of the outstanding lease liability, according to the interest rate implicit in the 
lease.    

The Department holds operating leases for head office and a number of branch office buildings. Lease 
payments are expensed on a straight line basis over the lease term as this represents the pattern of  
benefits derived from the leased properties.

j. Financial instruments    

In addition to cash and bank overdraft, the Department has two categories of financial instrument: 

Loans and receivables; and    

Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost.    

Financial instruments have been disaggregated into the following classes:    

Financial Assets        

Cash and cash equivalents    

Restricted cash and cash equivalents    

Receivables    

Amounts receivable for services    
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Financial Liabilities    

Payables    

Finance Lease Liabilities    

Accrued expenses    

Initial recognition and measurement of financial instruments is at fair value which normally equates to 
the transaction cost or the face value. Subsequent measurement is at amortised cost using the effective 
interest method.     

The fair value of short-term receivables and payables is the transaction cost or the face value because 
there is no interest rate applicable and subsequent measurement is not required as the effect of  
discounting is not material.      

k. Cash and cash equivalents    

For the purpose of the Statement of Cash Flows, cash and cash equivalents (and restricted cash and 
cash equivalent) assets comprise cash on hand and short-term deposits with original maturities of three 
months or less that are readily convertible to a known amount of cash and which are subject to  
insignificant risk of changes in value.    

l. Accrued salaries    

The accrued salaries suspense account (refer to note 19 Restricted cash and cash equivalents) consists 
of amounts paid annually into a suspense account over a period of 10 financial years to largely meet the 
additional cash outflow in each eleventh year when 27 pay days occur in that year instead of the normal 
26.  No interest is received on this account.     

Accrued salaries (refer to note 24 payables) represent the amount due to staff but unpaid at the end of 
the financial year, as the pay date for the last pay period for that financial year does not coincide with the 
end of the financial year.  Accrued salaries are settled within a fortnight of the financial year end.  The 
Department considers the carrying amount of accrued salaries to be equivalent to its net fair value.  

The last pay day in 2009/10 was 24 June. Therefore, an accrual of 4 days was necessary in this financial 
year.    

m. Receivables    

Receivables are recognised and carried at the original invoice amount less an allowance for any uncol-
lectible amounts (ie.impairment). The collectability of receivables is continually reviewed and any  
receivables identified as uncollectible are written off. The allowance for uncollectible amounts (doubt-
ful debts) is raised where there is objective evidence that the Department will not be able to collect the 
debts. The carrying amount is equivalent to fair value as it is due for settlement within 30 days. 

Refer to note 20 Receivables.     

n. Amounts receivable for services (holding account)    

The Department receives funding on an accrual basis that recognises the full annual cash and non-cash 
cost of services. The appropriations are paid partly in cash and partly as an asset (Holding Account 
receivable) that is accessible on the emergence of the cash funding requirement to cover items such as 
leave entitlements and asset replacement.     

o. Payables    

Payables are recognised at the amounts payable when the Department becomes obliged to make future 
payments as a result of a purchase of assets or services. The carrying amount is equivalent to fair value, 
as they are generally settled within 30 days. See also note 24 Payables.    
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p. Borrowings    

All loans payable are initially recognised at cost, being the fair value of the net proceeds received.  
Subsequent measurement is at amortised cost using the effective interest rate method.  

q. Provisions    

Provisions are liabilities of uncertain timing and amount and are recognised where there is a present 
legal, equitable or constructive obligation as a result of a past event and when the outflow of resources 
embodying economic benefits is probable and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obli-
gation. Provisions are reviewed at each reporting period. Refer to note 26 ‘Provisions’    

i. Provisions –��	>���

�&
�
���� � � �

Annual Leave and Long Service Leave    

The liability for annual leave and long service leave expected to be settled within 12 months after the 
balance sheet date is recognised and measured at the undiscounted amounts expected to be paid 
when the liabilities are settled. Annual and long service leave expected to be settled more than 12 
months after the balance sheet date is measured at the present value of amounts expected to be 
paid when the liabilities are settled. Leave liabilities are in respect of services provided by employees 
up to the end of the reporting period.    

When assessing expected future payments consideration is given to expected future wage and 
salary levels including non-salary components such as employer superannuation contributions. In 
addition, the long service leave liability also considers the experience of employee departures and 
periods of service.  

A liability for long service leave is recognised after an employee has completed four years of service. 
An actuarial assessment of long service leave undertaken by Price Waterhouse Coopers Actuaries in 
2010 determined that the liability measured using the short hand method was not materially different 
from the liability measured using the present value of expected future payments.      

All annual leave and unconditional long service leave provisions are classified as current liabilities as 
the Department does not have an unconditional right to defer settlement of the liability for at least 12 
months after the reporting period.    

Provisions – other    

Employment on-costs    

Employment on-costs, including workers’ compensation insurance, are not employee benefits and 
are recognised separately as liabilities and expenses when the employment to which they relate, has 
occurred. Employment on-costs are included as part of Other expenses and are not included as part 
of the Department's Employee benefits expense. The related liability is included in Employment  
on-cost provision. Refer to note 26 "Provisions".    

Superannuation    

The Government Employees Superannuation Board (GESB) in accordance with legislative  
requirements administers public sector superannuation arrangements in Western Australia. 

Employees may contribute to the Pension Scheme, a defined benefit pension scheme now closed to 
new members or the Gold State Superannuation Scheme (GSS), a defined benefit lump sum scheme 
also closed to new members. The Department has no liabilities for superannuation charges under the 
Pension or the GSS Schemes as the liability has been assumed by the Treasurer.

Employees commencing employment prior to 16 April 2007 who were not members of either the 
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Pension or the GSS Schemes became non-contributory members of the West State Superannuation 
Scheme (WSS). Employees commencing employment on or after 16 April 2007 became members of 
the GESB Super Scheme (GESBS). Both of these schemes are accumulation schemes. The  
Department makes concurrent contributions to GESB on behalf of employees in compliance with the 
Commonwealth Government’s Superannuation Guarantee (Administration) Act 1992. These contribu-
tions extinguish the liability for superannuation charges in respect of the WSS and GESBS Schemes.

The GESB makes all benefit payments in respect of the Pension and GSS Schemes, and is  
recouped by the Treasurer for the employer’s share.    

r. Superannuation expense    

The superannuation expense in the Statement of Comprehensive Income comprises of employer  
contributions paid to the GSS (concurrent contributions), the West State Superannuation Scheme (WSS), 
and the GESB Super Scheme (GESBS).    

The GSS Scheme is a defined benefit scheme for the purposes of employees and whole-of-government 
reporting. However, it is a defined contribution plan for agency purposes because the concurrent  
contributions (defined contributions) made by the agency to GESB extinguishes the agency’s obligations 
to the related superannuation liability.    

s. Resources received free of charge or for nominal cost    

Resources received free of charge or for nominal cost that can be reliably measured are recognised as 
income and as assets or expenses as appropriate, at fair value.    

Where assets or services are received from another State Government agency, these are separately 
disclosed under Income from State Government in the Statement of Comprehensive Income. 

t. ��	>�����
����
�� � � �

Comparative figures are, where appropriate, reclassified to be comparable with the figures presented in 
the current financial year.

3. Judgements made by management in applying accounting policies 
The preparation of financial statements requires management to make judgements about the application 
of accounting policies that have a significant effect on the amounts recognised in the financial  
statements. The Department evaluates these judgements regularly.    

Operating lease commitments    

The Department has entered into a number of commercial lease arrangements and has determined 
that the lessor retains all the significant risks and rewards of ownership of the property. Accordingly, the 
leases have been classified as operating leases.    

4. Key sources of estimation uncertainty     
The key estimates and assumptions made concerning the future, and other key sources of estimation 
uncertainty at the balance sheet date that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the 
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year include:  

Impairment of intangible assets    

The Department assesses impairment of intangible assets at each balance sheet date. Where there is 
an indication of impairment (such as falling replacement costs), the recoverable amount (depreciated 
replacement cost) of the intangible asset is estimated. Calculations performed in assessing recoverable 
amounts incorporate a number of key estimates.    
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5. Services of the Department     
Information about the Department's services is set out in the Schedule of Income and Expenses by  
Service. The services of the Department are:        

i. Adult Offender Services    

The custody, containment, care, well being and rehabilitation of adult offenders and their reintegration 
into, and reparation to, the community is managed through prisons and the supervision of offenders in 
the community. This includes the provision of remedial programs; further education and employment 
skills; sentencing reports; assessment reports outlining offenders' suitability for release or their progress 
in the community to releasing authorities such as the Prisoners' Review Board; providing policy advice; 
infrastructure management; and planning and collaborating with other agencies.   

ii. Juvenile Offender Services    

Juvenile offenders are managed in custody and in the community to fulfil the orders of the courts and 
through diversion from court programs.  Juveniles participate in remedial, educational and rehabilitation 
programs that address their offending behaviour.    

CORPORATE  SERVICES    

Corporate services costs have been allocated on a service level agreement basis to services.  

6. Disclosure of changes in accounting policy and estimates    

Initial application of an Australian Accounting Standard    

The Department has applied the following Australian Accounting Standards effective for annual reporting 
periods beginning on or after 1 July 2009 that impacted on the Department:    

Presentation of Financial Statements (September 2007). This Standard has been 
revised and introduces a number of terminology changes as well as changes to 
the structure of the Statement of Changes in Equity and the Statement of  
Comprehensive Income. It is now a requirement that owner changes in equity 
be presented separately from non-owner changes in equity. There is no financial 
impact resulting from the application of this revised Standard.

AASB 101

Further Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from AASB 101. 
This Standard changes the term ‘general purpose financial report’ to ‘general  
purpose financial statements’, where appropriate inAustralian Accounting  
Standards and the Framework to better align with IFRS terminology. There is no 
financial impact resulting from the application of this Standard.

AASB 
2007-10

Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from AASB Interpreta-
tion 17 – Distributions of Non-cash Assets to Owners [AASB 5 & AASB 110]. This 
Standard amends AASB 5 Non-current Assets Held for Sale and  
Discontinued Operations in respect of the classification, presentation and  
measurement of non-current assets held for distribution to owners in their  
capacity as owners. This may impact on the presentation and classification of 
Crown land held by the Department where the Crown land is to be sold by the  
Department of Regional Development and Lands (formerly Department for Plan-
ning and Infrastructure). The Department does not expect any financial impact 
when the Standard is first applied prospectively.

AASB 
2008-13
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Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Improving Disclosures about 
Financial Instruments AASB 4, AASB 7, AASB 1023 & AASB 1038. This Standard 
amends AASB 7 and will require enhanced disclosures about fair value  
measurements and liquidity risk with respect to financial instruments. There is no 
financial impact resulting from the application of this Standard.

AASB 
2009-2

      

Future impact of Australian Accounting Standards not yet operative    

The Department cannot early adopt an Australian Accounting Standard unless specifically permitted by 
TI 1101 'Application of Australian Accounting Standards and Other Pronouncements'. Consequently, the 
Department has not applied early the following Australian Accounting Standards that have been issued 
that may impact the Department. Where applicable, the Department plans to apply these Australian  
Accounting Standards from their application date:     

operative for reporting 
periods beginning on/
after

AASB 2009-11 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from 
AASB 9 [AASB 1, 3, 4, 5, 7, 101, 102, 108, 112, 118, 121, 
127, 128, 131, 132, 136, 139, 1023 & 1038 and Interpreta-
tions 10 & 12].
The amendment to AASB 7 requires modification to the  
disclosure of categories of financial assets. The Authority 
does not expect any financial impact when the Standard is 
first applied. The disclosure of categories of financial assets in 
the notes will change. 

1 Jan 2013

AASB 1053 Application of Tiers of Australian Accounting Standards
This Standard establishes a differential financial reporting 
framework consisting of two tiers of reporting requirements for 
preparing general purpose financial statements.
The Standard does not have any financial impact on the 
Department. However it may affect disclosures in the financial 
statements of the Department if the reduced disclosure  
requirements apply. DTF has not yet determined the applica-
tion or the potential impact of the new Standard for agencies.

1 July 2013

AASB 2010-2 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from 
Reduced Disclosure Requirements
This Standard makes amendments to many Australian  
Accounting Standards, including Interpretations, to introduce 
reduced disclosure requirements into these pronouncements 
for application by certain types of entities.
The Standard is not expected to have any financial impact on 
the Department. However this Standard may reduce some 
note disclosures in financial statements of the Department. 
DTF has not yet determined the application or the potential 
impact of the amendments to these Standards for agencies.

1 July 2013
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7. Employee benefits expenses     
2010 2009
$000 $000

Wages and salaries (a)  276,566  249,358 

Superannuation - defined contribution plans (b)  26,483  23,708 

Long service leave (c)  9,295  12,424 

Annual leave (c)  27,886  31,693 

 340,230  317,183 

(a) Includes the value of the fringe benefit to the employee plus the fringe  
benefits tax component.

(b) Defined contribution plans include West State, Gold State and GESB Super 
Scheme (contributions paid).

(c) Includes a superannuation contribution component.
        

8. Supplies and services         
Services and contracts  123,337 105,327

Resources free of charge (a)  15,010  14,158 

Goods and supplies purchased  41,849  32,697 

Electricity and water  6,252  4,998 

Communication expenses  7,166  6,397 

Plant, equipment and vehicle operating lease expenses  3,660  3,666 

197,274 167,243

(a) refer to note 18 for detailed breakdown.

9. Depreciation and amortisation         
Depreciation
Buildings  13,715  12,565 

Property, plant, equipment and vehicles  1,002  951 

Leased Vehicles  631  56 

Total depreciation  15,348  13,572 

Amortisation
Leasehold improvements  1,032  240 

IT systems  2,749  2,325 

Total amortisation  3,781  2,565 

 19,129  16,137 

     

10. Finance costs      
Finance lease finance charges  277  18 

 277  18

The Department entered into numerous finance leases during 2009/10 for the acquisition of replacement vehi-
cles for the Department's secure fleet. Leasing was the preferred option for the purchase of these vehicles. 
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11. Accommodation expenses    
2010 2009

$000 $000

Building rental operating lease expense  10,533  10,114 

 10,533  10,114 

     

12. Grants and subsidies     
Offenders gratuities  7,996 6,332

Other grants and subsidies  7  1,014 

 8,003  7,346 

      

13. Net gain / (loss) on disposal of non-current assets    
Proceeds from Disposal of Non-Current Assets

Property, plant and equipment  6  64 

Costs of Disposal of Non-Current Assets
Property, plant and equipment  (27)  (77)

Net (loss)  (21)  (13)

      

14. Other expenses 
Building repairs and maintenance  16,812 10,462

Plant, equipment and vehicle repairs and maintenance  5,062  3,139 

Vehicle hire, fuel, registration and management fees  3,920  4,795 

Insurance  12,786  11,227 

Other staff costs  22,542  21,381 

Other expenses  9,421  9,840 

Doubtful debts expense  190 

 70,733  60,844 

 

15. User charges and fees     
Miscellaneous fees and charges  61  50 

 61  50

      

16. Commonwealth grants and contributions     
Commonwealth recoupment other  606  1,018 

606  1,018
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17. Other revenues     
2010 2009
$000 $000

Sale of produce and goods  3,159  3,444 

Canteen sales  8,023  6,050 

Recoupment of salaries and workers compensation  6,889  7,329 

Recoupment of telephones, postage and other reimbursements  2,930  2,426 

Other miscellaneous revenue  2,231  2,504 

Recoupment of CS&CS contract costs from the Department of the Attorney General  13,638  11,730 

 36,870  33,483 

      

18. Income from State Government     
Appropriation revenue received during the year (1)

Service appropriations  586,026  522,868 

  586,026  522,868 

Resources received free of charge (2)

Determined on the basis of estimates provided by agencies as follows:

Department of Treasury and Finance (Building Management and Works)

     - provision of integrated procurement services  267  223 

     - government accommodation  233  204 

     - project management (3)  282  - 

Department of the Attorney General

     - provision of bureau and legal services  13,731  13,100 

Department of Land Information  

     - valuation services, land registration and information  3  2 

Health Department of Western Australia

     - provision of medical, health, dental services  

       and forensic services for post mortems 776  629 

 15,292  14,158 
(1) Service appropriations are accrual amounts reflecting the full price cost of services delivered.  The appropriation 
revenue comprises of a cash component and a receivable (asset).  The receivable (holding account) comprises of the 
depreciation expense for the year and any agreed increase in leave liability during the year.
(2) Where assets or services have been received free of charge or for nominal consideration, the Department 
recognises revenues equivalent to the fair value of the assets and/or the fair value of those services that can be reli-
ably determined and which would have been purchased if not donated, and those fair values shall be recognised as 
assets or expenses, as applicable.
(3) The project management fee from DTF (Building Management and Works) represents a capital resource received 
free of charge. 
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19. Restricted cash and cash equivalents     
2010 2009
$000 $000

Non-current

Accrued salaries suspense account  5,045  3,548 

 5,045  3,548 

Amounts held in the salaries suspense account are to be used only for the purpose of meeting the 27th pay in a  
financial year that occurs every 11 years. 

        

20. Receivables         
Current receivables  6,055 6,861

Allowance for impairment of receivables  (190)  - 

GST receivable  3,744  2,904 

Prepayments  301  473 

Accrued Revenue  1,812  1,287 

 11,722  11,525 

Reconciliation of changes in the allowance for impairment of receivables:

Balance at start of year  -  - 

Doubtful debts expense recognised in the statement of comprehensive income  (190)  - 

Amounts written off during the year  -  - 

Amount recovered during the year  -  - 

Balance at end of year  (190)  - 

The Department does not have any significant exposure to any individual customer or counterparty.

     

21. Amounts receivable for services     
Current  11,430 11,333

Non-current  27,130  19,825 

 38,560  31,158 

This asset represents the non-cash component of service appropriations.  It is restricted in that it can only be used for 
asset replacement or payments of leave liability.

       

22. Property, plant and equipment and vehicles     
Land
At fair value (1)  97,695  103,206 

 97,695  103,206 

Buildings
At fair value (1)  651,638  647,220 

 651,638  647,220 

Leasehold improvements
At cost  17,854  3,963 

Accumulated depreciation  (3,642)  (2,610)
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2010 2009
$000 $000

 14,212  1,353 

Property, plant and equipment and vehicles
At cost  17,319  15,545 

Accumulated depreciation  (10,279)  (9,482)

 7,040  6,063 

Leased Vehicles
At cost  9,719  1,056 

Accumulated depreciation  (687)  (56)

 9,032  1,000 

Work in progress
Buildings  51,216  61,986 

IT systems  245  1,424 

 51,461  63,410 

Total property, plant and equipment & vehicles  831,078  822,252 
(1)Land and buildings were revalued as at 1 July 2009 by Landgate. The valuations were performed during the year 
ended 30 June 2010 and recognised at 30 June 2010. In undertaking the revaluation, fair value was determined by 
reference to market values for land: $8,213,000. For the remaining balance, fair value of land and buildings was  
determined on the basis of depreciated replacement cost.  In accordance with AASB 116.35 (b), accumulated  
depreciation has been netted off against the gross carrying amount of the asset and the net amount restated to the 
revalued amount of the asset.

Reconciliations     

Reconciliation of the carrying amounts of property, plant and equipment and vehicles at the beginning and 
end of the reporting period are set out below. 
Land
Carrying amount at the beginning of the year  103,206  95,889 

Transfers from other agencies  890  - 

Revaluation  (6,401)  7,317 

Carrying amount at the end of the year  97,695  103,206 

Buildings
Carrying amount at the beginning of the year  647,220  607,668 

Additions  77,059  41,196 

Revaluation  (58,926)  10,921 

Depreciation  (13,715)  (12,565)

Carrying amount at the end of the year  651,638  647,220 

Leasehold improvements
Carrying amount at the beginning of the year  1,353  1,593 

Additions  13,891  - 

Depreciation  (1,032)  (240)

Carrying amount at the end of the year  14,212  1,353 

Property, plant and equipment & vehicles
Carrying amount at the beginning of the year  6,063  6,089 
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2010 2009
$000 $000

Additions  2,006  998 

Disposals  (27)  (73)

Depreciation  (1,002)  (951)

Carrying amount at the end of the year  7,040  6,063 

Leased Vehicles
Carrying amount at the beginning of the year  1,000  - 

Additions  8,663  1,056 

Depreciation  (631)  (56)

Carrying amount at the end of the year  9,032  1,000 

Work in progress
Carrying amount at the beginning of the year  63,410  62,226 

Additions  81,587  44,330 

Transfers to non-current assets  (93,536)  (43,146)

Carrying amount at the end of the year  51,461  63,410 

Total
Carrying amount at the beginning of the year  822,252  773,465 

Additions (a)  183,206  87,580 

Transfers from other agencies  890  - 

Revaluation  (65,327)  18,238 

Disposals  (27)  (73)

Depreciation  (16,380)  (13,812)

Transfer to non-current assets (a)  (93,536)  (43,146)

Carrying amount at the end of the year  831,078  822,252 
(a) Additions include transfers from work in progress

      

23. Intangible assets     
Computer software
At cost  25,963  23,376 

Accumulated amortisation  (18,331)  (15,581)

 7,632  7,795 

There were no indications of impairment to intangible assets as at 30 June 2010.

Reconciliations     

Reconciliation of the carrying amounts of Intangible assets at the beginning and end of the reporting period 
are set out below.    
IT systems
Carrying amount at the beginning of the year  7,795  8,170 

Additions  2,586  1,950 

Amortisation  (2,749)  (2,325)

Carrying amount at the end of the year  7,632  7,795 
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24. Payables     
2010 2009
$000 $000

Current
Trade and other creditors  17,132  9,205 

Accrued salaries and wages  5,012  3,340 

Accrued expenses  7,064  9,326 

 29,208  21,871 

The last pay period of the 2009/10 financial year was completed on 24 June 2010. A salary accrual of 4 working days 
was required to be taken up.

Accrued salaries and wages are settled within a few days after the financial year end.  The carrying amount is  
equivalent to the net fair value.

       

25. Borrowings     
Current

Finance lease liabilities - motor vehicles  1,065  159 

 1,065  159 

Non-current
Finance lease liabilities - motor vehicles  8,116  873 

 8,116  873 

Total finance lease liability  9,181  1,032 

The Department entered into numerous finance leases during 2009/10 for the purchase of replacement vehicles for the 
Department's secure fleet. Leasing was the preferred option for the purchase of these vehicles

      

26. Provisions     
Current
�	>���

��
�
����>��������
Annual leave (a)  27,347  22,498 

Long service leave (b)  25,658  24,498 

Superannuation  3,973  8,126 

 56,978  55,122 

Other provisions
Employment on-cost provisions (c) 
Carrying amount at the beginning of the year  1,326  1,180 

Additions  178  146 

Carrying amount at the end of the year  1,504  1,326 

 58,482  56,448 

Non-current
�	>���

��
�
����>��������
Long service leave (b)  20,993  19,962 
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2010 2009
$000 $000

Superannuation  1,595  1,255 

 22,588  21,217 

Other provisions
Employment on-cost provisions (c) 

Carrying amount at the beginning of the year  567  467 

Additions  36  100 

Carrying amount at the end of the year  603  567 

 23,191  21,784 
(a) Annual leave liabilities have been classified as current as there is no unconditional 
right to defer settlement for at least 12 months after balance sheet date. Assessments 
indicate that actual settlement of the liabilities will occur as follows:

Within 12 months of balance sheet date  27,347  22,498 

More than 12 months after balance sheet date  -  - 

 27,347  22,498 
(b) Long service leave liabilities have been classified as current where there is no 
unconditional right to defer settlement for at least 12 months after balance sheet date.  
Assessments indicate that actual settlement of the liabilities will occur as follows:

Within 12 months of balance sheet date  25,658  24,498 

More than 12 months after balance sheet date  20,993  19,962 

 46,651  44,460 
(c) The settlement of annual and long services leave liabilities gives rise to the payment 
of employment on-costs including workers compensation insurance. The provision is the 
present value of expected future payments. The associated expense is included in note 
14 'Other expenses'.

       

27. Equity         
Equity represents the residual interest in the net assets of the Department.  The Government holds the 
equity interest in the Department on behalf of the community.  The asset revaluation reserve represents that 
portion of equity from the revaluation of non-current assets.    

Contributed equity
Balance at start of year  611,193  601,953 

Capital contributions  77,396  9,240 

Contribution by Owner (a)  890  - 

Balance at the end of the period  689,479  611,193 
(a) Transfer of Crown land to be used as the site for the new Kimberley Prison. 

Reserves  

Asset revaluation reserve

Land

Balance at the start of the year  46,928  39,611 

Net revaluation (decrement) / increment  (6,401)  7,317 

Balance at the end of the year  40,527  46,928 
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2010 2009
$000 $000

Buildings
Balance at the start of the year  166,648  155,726 

Net revaluation (decrement) / increment  (58,925)  10,922 

Balance at the end of the year  107,723  166,648 

Total asset revaluation reserve  148,250  213,576 

The asset revaluation reserve is used to record increments and decrements on the  
revaluation of non-current assets, as described in accounting policy note 2 (f).

Accumulated deficit

Balance at the start of the year  (18,337)  (11,016)

Result for the year  (7,345)  (7,321)

Balance at the end of the year  (25,682)  (18,337)

Total equity  812,047  806,432 

      

28. Notes to the Cash Flow Statement     
(a) Reconciliation of cash

Cash at the end of the financial year as shown in the cash flow statement is  
reconciled to the related items in the balance sheet as follows:

Cash and cash equivalents - operating account  37,815  30,981 

Cash and cash equivalents - permanent and temporary advances  257  308 

 38,072  31,289 

Restricted cash and cash equivalents (note 19)  5,045  3,548 

 43,117  34,837 

(b) :��@���;�����������������
��������������
�
During the financial year there were no assets/liabilities transferred/assumed to/
from other government agencies not reflected in the cash flow statement.

(c) Z
�����������������
�����������
���
������
�����;�[�+����
������>
������
activities
Net cost of services (Income Statement)  (608,663)  (544,347)

Non-cash items:

Depreciation and amortisation  19,129  16,137 

Resources received free of charge  15,292  14,158 

Net loss on sale of assets  27  13 

(Increase)/decrease in assets:

Receivables and prepayments  (198)  (2,540)

Increase/(decrease) in liabilities:

Wages and salaries accrued  1,672  (1,514)

Provisions  3,441  15,949 

Other current liabilities  5,664  (571)

Net cash used in operating activities  (563,636)  (502,715)

(d) At the reporting date the Department had fully drawn on all financing facilities, 
details of which are disclosed in the financial statements.
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29. Resources provided free of charge     
2010 2009
$000 $000

During the year the following resources were provided to other agencies free of charge for 
functions outside the normal operations of the Department:

Department of the Attorney General for contract management and administrative costs in 
regard to the Court Security and Custodial Services contract.

839  1,921

      

30. Commitments for expenditure     
(a) Capital expenditure commitments

Capital expenditure commitments, being contracted capital expenditure additional to 
the amounts reported in the financial statements, are payable as follows:

Within one year  173,830  52,974 

Later than one year and not later than five years  40,318  5,000 

 214,148  57,974 

The capital commitments include amounts for:

Land and buildings  214,148  55,921 

Other  -  2,053 

 214,148  57,974 

(b) Operating lease commitments
The Department leases certain premises, motor vehicles and items of plant and  
office equipment. The lease expenditure is expensed as it is incurred. These are 
commitments in relation to leases contracted for at the reporting date but not r 
ecognised as liabilities payable. At reporting date the Department had the following 
obligations under operating leases:

Within one year  12,049  9,640 

Later than one year and not later than five years  26,561  23,703 

Later than five years  24,637  24,902 

 63,247  58,245 

(c) Finance lease commitments
Minimum lease payment commitments in relation to finance leases are 

payable as follows:

Within one year  1,606  215 

Later than 1 year and not later than 5 years  6,068  800 

Later than 5 years  4,180  249 

Minimum finance lease payments  11,854  1,264 

Less future finance charges  (2,673)  (232)

Present value of finance lease liabilities  9,181  1,032 

The present value of finance leases payable is as follows:

Within one year  1,065  159 

Later than 1 year and not later than 5 years  4,567  651 
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2010 2009
$000 $000

Later than 5 years  3,549  222 

Present value of finance lease liabilities  9,181  1,032 

Included in the financial statements as:

Current (refer note 25)  1,065  159 

Non-current (refer note 25)  8,116  873 

 9,181  1,032 

(d) Other expenditure commitments
Contracted for at the reporting date but not recognised as liabilities are as follows:

Within one year  81,078  66,355 

Later than one year and not later than five years  -  64,633 

Later than five years  -  - 

 81,078  130,988 

Other expenditure commitments include the CS&CS and Acacia Prison contracts.  

        

31. Contingent liabilities and contingent assets     
Contingent liabilities
In addition to the liabilities incorporated into the financial statements the Department has 
the following contingent liabilities.

Claims against the Department of Corrective Services from the general public and offend-
ers.

400 350

  

Contaminated sites
Site Investigation and Remediation - contaminated and suspected contaminated sites  1,576  3,191 

Under the Contaminated Sites Act 2003, The Department is required to report known and 
suspected contaminated sites to the Department of the Environment and Conservation 
(DEC). In accordance with the Act, DEC classifies these sites on the basis of the risk to 
human health, the environment and environmental values. Where sites are classified as 
contaminated, remediation is required. Where sites are possibly contaminated,  
investigation is required. The Department may have a liability in respect of investigation or 
remediation expenses.

Contingent assets
The Department has no contingent assets.

  

32. Remuneration and retirement benefits of senior officers   
The number of senior officers whose total of fees, salaries, superannuation and other ben-
efits received, or due and receivable, for the financial year, falls within the following bands:

$ 120,001 - $ 130,000  -  1 

$ 140,001 - $ 150,000  -  1 

$ 150,001 - $ 160,000  2  2 

$ 160,001 - $ 170,000  2  2 

$ 170,001 - $ 180,000  -  1 
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$ 180,001 - $ 190,000  2  1 

$ 190,001 - $ 200,000  1  - 

$ 200,001 - $ 210,000  -  1 

$ 220,001 - $ 230,000  3  - 

$ 230,001 - $ 240,000  -  1 

$ 340,001 - $ 350,000  -  1 

$ 380,001 - $ 390,000  1  - 

 11  11 

The total remuneration of senior officers is: 2,270 2,057 

Senior officers are those who take part in the management of the organisation and are 
members of the Commissioner's Executive Team. Deemed to be the Commissioner, 
Deputy Commissioners and Assistant Commissioners. 

No senior officers are members of the Superannuation and Family Benefits Act Scheme 
(Pension Scheme).

  

33. Remuneration of Auditor        
Remuneration to the Auditor General for the financial year is as follows:

2010 2009
$000 $000

Auditing the financial statements and performance indicators  75  80 

      

34. Affiliated bodies     
The Department had no related bodies during the financial year. 

 

35. Financial instruments        

a. Financial Risk Management Objectives and Policies     

Financial instruments held by the Department are cash and cash equivalents, restricted cash and cash 
equivalents, borrowings, finance leases, Treasurer’s advances, loans and receivables, and payables. 
The Department has limited exposure to financial risks. The Department’s overall risk management  
program focuses on managing the risks identified below.     

Credit risk exposure       

Credit risk arises when there is the possibility of the Department’s receivables defaulting on their  
contractual obligations resulting in financial loss to the Department.    

The maximum exposure to credit risk at end of the reporting period in relation to each class of  
recognised financial assets is the gross carrying amount of those assets inclusive of any provisions for 
impairment, as shown in the table at Note 36(c).        

Credit risk associated with the Department’s financial assets is minimal because the main receivable is 
the amounts receivable for services (holding account). For receivables other than government, the  
Department trades only with recognised, creditworthy third parties. The Department has policies in place 
to ensure that sales of products and services are made to customers with an appropriate credit history. 
At balance sheet date, there are no significant concentrations of credit risk.    
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Liquidity Risk       

Liquidity risk arises when the Department is unable to meet its financial obligations as they fall due. The 
Department is exposed to liquidity risk through its trading in the normal course of business. 

The Department has appropriate procedures to manage cash flows including drawdowns of  
appropriations by monitoring forecast cash flows to ensure that sufficient funds are available to meet its 
commitments.           

Market Risk       

Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices such as foreign exchange rates and interest rates 
will affect the Department’s income or the value of its holdings of financial instruments. The Department 
does not trade in foreign currency and is not materially exposed to other price risks. Other than finance 
leases at fixed interest rate, the Department is not exposed to interest rate risk as cash and cash equiva-
lents and restricted cash are non-interest bearing.        

b. Categories of Financial Instruments       

In addition to cash, the carrying amounts of each of the following categories of financial assets and  
financial liabilities at the balance sheet date are as follows:       
  

2010 2009
$000 $000

Financial Assets

Cash and cash equivalents  38,072 31,289

Restricted cash and cash equivalents  5,045 3,548

Receivables  7,677 8,621

Amounts receivable for services  38,560 31,158

Financial Liabilities

Payables  17,132 9,205

Accrued expenses  12,076 12,666

Finance Lease Liabilites  9,181 1,032

The amount of receivables excludes GST recoverable from the Australian Taxation Office 
(statutory receivable).

c. Financial Instrument Disclosures       

Credit Risk, Liquidity Risk and Interest Rate Risk Exposures     

The following tables disclose the Department’s maximum exposure to credit risk, interest rate exposures 
and the ageing analysis of financial assets and financial liabilities. The Department’s maximum exposure 
to credit risk at the reporting period is the carrying amount of financial assets as shown below. The table 
discloses the ageing of financial assets that are past due but not impaired and impaired financial assets. 
The table is based on information provided to senior management of the Department.  

The Department does not hold any collateral as security or other credit enhancements relating to the 
financial assets it holds.

The Department does not hold any financial assets that had to have their terms renegotiated that would 
have otherwise resulted in them being past due or impaired. 
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 INTEREST RATE EXPOSURES AND AGEING ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL ASSETS 

  Interest rate exposure  Past due but not impaired 

Weighted 
average 
interest 

rate

 Carrying 
amount 

Fixed 
interest 

rate

Variable 
interest

rate

 Non-
interest 
Bear-
ing

 Current  1 to 3 
months

 3-12 
months

 1-2 
months

 2-5 
months

 More 
than 5 
years

Impaired
���������
assets

Financial assets  %  $000  $000  $000  $000  $000  $000  $000  $000  $000  $000  $000 

2010

Cash and cash 
equivalent assets

-  38,072  -  -  38,072  -  -  -  -  -  -  - 

Restricted cash 
and cash equiva-

lent assets         

-  5,045  -  -  5,045  -  -  -  -  -  -  - 

Receivables (i) -  7,677  -  -  7,677  3,751  653  1,446  1,827  -  -  190 

Amounts receiv-
able for services

-  38,560  -  -  38,560  -  -  -  -  -  -  - 

Total financial 
assets

 89,354  -  -  89,354  3,751  653  1,446  1,827  -  -  190 

2009

Cash and cash 
equivalent assets

-  31,289  -  -  31,289  -  -  -  -  -  -  - 

Restricted cash 
and cash equiva-

lent assets   

-  3,548  -  -  3,548  -  -  -  -  -  -  - 

Receivables (i)  -  8,148  -  -  8,148  4,616  1,471  1,214  847  -  -  - 

Amounts receiv-
able for services

-  31,158  -  -  31,158  -  -  -  -  -  -  - 

Total financial 
assets

 74,143  -  -  74,143  4,616  1,471  1,214  847  -  -  - 

(i) The amount of receivables excludes GST recoverable from the Australian Taxation Office (statutory receivable).   

INTEREST RATE EXPOSURE AND MATURITY ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL LIABILITIES

 Interest rate exposure  Maturity dates 

Weighted 
average 
interest 

rate 

 Carrying 
Amount 

Fixed 
Interest 

Rate

Variable 
interest 

rate

 Non- 
Interest
Bearing

 Within   
1 year

1-2 
years

 2-3 
years

3-4 
years

 4- 5 
years

 Over 
5 years

Financial liabilities  %  $000  $000  $000  $000  $000  $000  $000  $000  $000  $000 

2010

Payables  29,208  -  -  29,208  -  -  -  -  -  - 

Finance lease liabilities 6.52  9,181  9,181  -  -  1,065  1,156  1,229  1,177  1,005  3,549 

Total financial liabilities  38,389  9,181  -  29,208  1,065  1,156  1,229  1,177  1,005  3,549 

2009

Payables  21,871  -  -  21,871  -  -  -  -  -  - 

Finance lease liabilities 5.96  1,032  1,032  -  -  159  145  174  148  133  273 

Total financial liabilities  22,903  1,032  -  21,871  159  145  174  148  133  273 
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Interest rate sensitivity analysis       

With the exception of finance lease liabilities, the Department does not account for any other fixed or 
variable rate financial assets or liabilities. The implicit interest rates of finance leases stay constant over 
the term of the lease. Therefore a change of 100 basis points in interest rates would have no effect on 
the Department's surplus or deficit, or on equity.      

Fair Values       

All financial assets and liabilities recognised in the statement of financial position, whether they are  
carried at cost or fair value, are recognised at amounts that represent a reasonable approximation of fair 
value unless otherwise stated in the applicable notes.

36. Explanatory statement     
Significant variatons between estimates and actual results for income and expense as presented in the  
financial statement titled ‘Summary of Consolidated Account Appropriations and Income Estimates’ are 
shown below:    

Significant variation between actual appropriation and budget estimate for 2009/10.  

A. Details of authorisation to expend in advance of appropriation    

To meet initiatives approved during the financial year and other unavoidable costs, supplementary  
appropriation requests were approved.      

2010
$000

Delivery of services 66,547

Capital contribution (41,124)

25,423

Delivery of services appropriation limits were increased for:

Funding for adjusted DAP (Daily Average Prisoner Numbers) (4,600) 37,700

Recruitment and Training - Reflow from Acacia Prison 3,250

Funding for Acacia wages parity 1,005

NGHSS Indexation 249

Riskcover Insurance costs 6,247

CS&CS Contract costs  7,927 

CS&CS Monitoring costs  354 

Funding for final DAP position  12,000 

Salaries & Allowances Act - SAT Determination  5 

Government severance packages  504 

These increases were offset by: 

Procurement Savings  (2,694)

Increase in net amount appropriated to deliver outputs  66,547 

These increases were offset by: 

Decrease in capital contribution  (41,124)

Decrease in net amount appropriated to deliver outputs  25,423 
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2010
 $000 

Recurrent
Service 1 - Adult Offender Services  Excess 77,674

Variance was mainly due to:

Funding for increased offender numbers

Increase in contract expenses

Increase in employee benefits expense

Increase in Riskcover insurance

Service 2 - Juvenile Offender Services  Excess 10,611

Increase in employee benefits expense

Additional costs of operating custodial services, including an increase in FTEs

Capital
The 2009/10 capital works program budget of $194.194 million was to be financed 
from:

Capital Appropriation  118,520 

Administered Equity Appropriation  53,000 

Drawdowns from the Holding Account  11,333 

Internal Funds and Balances  11,341 

194,194

Total payments in 2009/10 for the Department of Corrective Services were $83.595 
million (2008/09 $45.331 million). These were financed from:

Drawdowns from the holding account 6,199

Capital contribution 77,396

83,595

'
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Kimberley Prison 1/Work Camp 1
The Project has been delayed  due to issues with the timing of the site acquisition 
and the need for extensive consultation with the community prior to gaining posses-
sion of the site and the commencement of enabling works. Funds to be reflowed into 
2010/11.

 Saving 4,258

Warburton Custodial Infrastructure Program
Delays were caused by the need for extensive consultation and communication with 
the local community and issues regarding the granting of Native Title Resolution.

 Saving 3,103

Fast Tracked Prisoner Accommodation 640 Beds 
The project consists of 5 purpose built units to be constructed at Casuarina, Hakea 
and Albany Prisons which will provide a total of 640 secure prisoner beds. Alongside 
this will be a raft of infrastructure required for the increase in prisoner population as-
sociated with the new beds. Delays in awarding the tender were caused by late sign-
off by the Departent of Treasury and Finance. Funds to be reflowed into 2010/11.

 Saving 16,917
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Condition Upgrade Existing Broome Regional Prison
Overspend due to additional enhancements to security features in Maximum Section 
resulting from escapes in 2009. Security improvements included the upgrading of 
secure walls and the construction of a purpose built security fence. 

 Excess 1,119

New Young Men’s Prison
The Project was originally scheduled for commencement in the 20010/11 financial 
year, however an increase in priority for an early construction and favourable results 
with regards to documentation and tender approvals allowed the project commence-
ment date to be brought forward into 2009/10. The Project is fully funded. 

 Excess 1,142

Infrastructure & Upgrade & Replacement Programs
The overspend in this program was due to and increased need to provide additional 
infrastructure due to increased muster pressure across all prison facilities and the 
decision to refurbish and upgrade the Riverbank Community Program Centre which 
was previously unoccupied and in a dilapidated condition. 

 Excess 1,310

Double Bunking Custodial Infrastructure Program
State-wide double bunking program completed. Additional expenditure due to the re-
quirement to refurbish and upgrade Pardelup Prison to meet the need for additional 
prisoner accommodation. 

 Excess  2,228 
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Recurrent    

  
Service 1 - Adult Offender Services Excess (64,336)

Variance was mainly due to:

Funding for increased offender numbers

Increase in contract expenses

Increase in employee benefits expense

Increase in Riskcover Insurance

Service 2 - Juvenile Offender Services  Excess  (2,966)

Increase in employee benefits expense

Additional costs of operating custodial services, including an increase in FTEs
  

Capital    

Variations between actual expenditure for the current and previous financial years is due to the nature 
of the capital works program in that allocations and project scope vary from year to year. An explanation 
on variations does not provide information that is useful for decision making and has therefore not been 
provided.    
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37. Special purpose accounts
2010 2009

Opening   
Balance

Receipts Payments Closing 
Balance

Opening  
Balance

Receipts Payments Closing 
Balance

$000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000
1 Prisoners Private 

Cash Trust Account 
(1)

 186  5,475  5,333  328  91  4,765  4,670  186 

2 Juveniles' Private 
Cash Trust Account

 -  7  6  1  4  1  5  - 

(1) This does not include Acacia Prison which is managed under contract by Serco.

Purpose of trust accounts
1 Prisoners’ Private Cash Trust Account

To hold monies for and on behalf of prisoners.

2 Juveniles Private Cash Trust Account
To hold monies in trust for children under the care of the Juvenile Justice Program.

 

38. Commonwealth Grant - Christmas and Cocos Island
2010 2009

 $  $ 
Opening balance  (58,988)  61,848 

Income

Commonwealth reimbursements  110,665  - 

Total receipts  110,665  - 

Expenses

Operating costs  39,522  34,051 

Additional services for prisoner costs  -  86,785 

Total payments  39,522  120,836 

Closing balance  12,155  (58,988)

Operating costs are based on both actuals plus identified estimated services provided as 
agreed in the standard delivery service agreement signed by the Commonwealth and the 
State.

There were no prisoners in custody during 2009/10.
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